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Corporate Profile
ASiliiply

The Company has been listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange since 8 October 2009. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group was principally engaged in mining and ore
processing, sale of self-produced products, trading of steels, mining
facilities management and management of strategic investments. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group owned one ordinary iron ore mine
(namely the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine), one gypsum mine (namely
the Shigou Gypsum Mine) and one processing plant (namely the
Maoling Processing Plant). All mines and processing plant are located in
Sichuan Province, China.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of Shares of the Company
in issue was 2,249,015,410 Shares and the percentage holding of the
Company'’s subsidiaries was as follows:

c\\ China VTM Mining
o [ 88 8K

AATEH2009F 10888 UK —ENE BT
FrEMR Lo REE2024F 128318 LEFE >
AEBRNFEEBARBEREGLE -HES
EER NEES BEXMEEREREERLE
BEIEoR2024F12831H AEEES —EY
mEE BEE-FRWLERE - —EAaEE B
TBOEE h—ELER BIEERLER -2
SR HE IS R SRR AL R B P o

R2024F12831H A RAB BN EEITRDEH
#32,249,015,4100 > MAABRE FARMNE
HFEOHEWT :

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.
IR AR FAABRAE

Sure Prime Limited

100%

Simply Rise Holdings Limited
BEIERARAR

- Offshore B -

- Onshore £/ -

Sichuan Lingyu L0
)12

100% 1 100% 1

Powerside Holdings Limited
BAERBRAT

100% l

First China Limited
ZRERAF

51%1 100%1

Sichuan Haoyuan Aba Mining
m) 115 Gt ES
100% l 100% l
Xinjin Mining Akuang Trading
TR PR E 57

100% l

Sichuan Lingwei
)12

|
50% l 50% l

Sichuan Shengjiawei Sichuan Yufengwei
) || BR R o) FEE

Joint Venture
AR

. Subsidiary
FATE

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



REVENUE*
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Chairman’s Statement

EREWGEE

Teh Wing Kwan
LIPS

Chairman =&

Dear Shareholders,

We have read that whilst 2024 carried hopes for many to return to pre-
pandemic economic conditions and global economic growth seemed to
have stabilised, the average growth rate remained well below that prior
to 2020. Disinflation has set in, but inflationary pressures remained
elevated. Geopolitical tensions have intensified, and policy uncertainties
have heightened, thereby affecting investor and business confidence.
Weak consumer sentiment persisted, reinforcing the reality that a return
to what was once considered normal remained out of reach.

HMEMRR:

BAHE > BEZE AP E2024F LR R R E
EEBBAKT MEREERETUEER
B AT T E X MR 20204F 2 A1HY
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OVERVIEW

Against this backdrop, local consumers in China remained cautious
in their spending, as consumption was somewhat cooled by the
headwinds from the prolonged real estate crisis while domestic market
sentiment remained subdued. In response to this sluggish landscape,
there have been several wide-ranging plans unveiled to boost consumer
confidence, expand domestic consumptions and enhance such
consumption capacity but the results of which remain to be seen.

In the steel industry, the steel production output, local consumption,
and price in China continued to decline amidst overcapacity concerns
and weak market sentiments, which have exerted significant downward
pressure on iron ore prices with no clear sign of meaningful recovery.

Very sadly, there was an underground safety incident involving a main
subcontractor for the Group's operations at the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine. The management was concerned above all; and has since
implemented enhanced safety measures and emphasised that by no
means the workplace safety should be compromised. The incident
caused a temporary suspension of the Group's operations, which had
significantly affected the overall productivity and thus, revenues fell
substantially during the second half of the year under review.

The temporary suspension required a technical accounting reassessment
of the mine’s production capacity and operational plans in accordance
with relevant financial reporting standards. In this regard and having
considered the overall weak market sentiment in the industry, the
Group recorded non-cash impairment losses of some RMB13.8
million. Despite these challenges, the Group has expanded its facilities
management service scopes, the revenues and profit contribution of
which had helped to support the Group’s overall financial performance
in FY2024. Despite the Net Loss position for FY2024 (which included
mainly the non-cash accounting impairment losses and write-down),
the Group reported a net operating cash flows of RMB26.2 million.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
EN T e

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

We further noted that China has recently emphasised the importance
of stimulating the business dynamism and boosting the operating scales
of China’s private sector, and we are thus hopeful that more policies
could be rolled out to sustain such economic activities, boost local
consumption, navigate the economic risks ahead and in response to the
unpredictable US trade policies.

Whilst many have said that the lingering issues of spiralling real
estate crisis in China are far from over but as reiterated, we believe its
spillover effects are not ignored as the government pledges to preserve
economic stability in a bid to boost market confidence. Meanwhile, we
will have to monitor the global situation closely as it has since become
more complex than ever before. As we had previously guided, it is likely
that our business would experience a much slower recovery pace and
thus slower business growth ahead. In this light, we should adopt a
more measured and less aggressive business expansion strategy ahead.

We believe that facilities management will play an increasingly
significant role across various industries and sectors, providing new
growth opportunities while diversifying income streams for the Group.
As competition in the facilities management industry intensifies, we will
have to further enhance our capabilities by expanding service scopes,
extending our value chain, and forging strategic collaborations. These
initiatives may help to sustain our businesses and mitigate impacts on
our financials amid the broad-based contraction in steel demand.

THANK YOU

As always, | must thank our stakeholders, partners, bankers,
management, and staff for standing by us through these challenging
times.

Teh Wing Kwan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B PR s e o3 A

MARKET REVIEW 35 (o] B8
During the reporting period, the Group observed the following key RSB ZEBFRI 2K REATIZE
developments across global and domestic markets, identifying trends UTFEERE UREINESITERBNBE -

that shape the industry landscape.

o In 2024, the global economy continued its gradual recovery, .
supported by moderating inflation and a more accommodative
monetary policy stance in various economies. While global trade
rebounded, economic growth remained subject to external
uncertainties, including evolving geopolitical dynamics, trade
policy shifts, and fiscal pressures in certain economies. Global
gross domestic product (“GDP”) growth is projected to remain
at approximately 2.7% through 2025 and 2026.

° In China, the National Bureau of Statistics reported a 5.0% °
GDP growth rate for 2024, aligning with government targets.
4Q2024 GDP growth exceeded expectations at 5.4%, reflecting
improving momentum in certain sectors. While the overall
growth rate was 0.2 percentage points lower than in 2023,
China’s economy demonstrated resilience amid ongoing
structural adjustments, particularly in the real estate sector.

o According to the World Bank’s China Economic Update, °
China’s economic growth is projected to moderate to 4.5%
in 2025, reflecting evolving consumption patterns, financial
market adjustments, and demographic trends. Policies aimed
at bolstering domestic demand and maintaining economic
stability are expected to remain a priority, supporting long-term
economic resilience.
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The global steel market softened in 2024, particularly in the
2H2024. Global crude steel production stood at approximately
1,882.6 million tonnes, reflecting a 0.8% year-on-year
decline. China’s crude steel production totalled 1,005.1
million tonnes, down 1.7% year-on-year. According to the
2025 Chinese and Global Steel Demand Forecast by the China
Metallurgical Industry Planning Research Institute, China’s steel
consumption was approximately 863 million tonnes, declining
4.4% year-on-year. The contraction was primarily attributed
to adjustments in the real estate sector, though infrastructure
investment and manufacturing provided some offsetting
support. Consumption is expected to ease further to 850 million
tonnes in 2025, a 1.5% year-on-year decline.

The Chinese Steel Price Index (“CSPI”) declined from 112.67 in
January 2024 to 97.57 in November 2024, marking a 13.4%
decrease. The steel market transitioned into a lower-demand
period toward year-end, contributing to a supply-demand
imbalance and downward price trends. The annual average
CSPI for 2024 stood at 102.47, representing an 8.39%
year-on-year decline. Despite adjustments in the domestic
market, China’s steel exports remained robust in 2024, reaching
their highest levels since 2015. This was supported by evolving
trade dynamics and increased infrastructure investment in
Southeast and South Asia. While uncertainties remain due to
shifts in global trade policies and macroeconomic conditions,
infrastructure development in emerging markets is expected to
contribute to steady steel demand in the near term.

The iron ore market experienced price volatility in 2024,
following an overall downward trend with intermittent
rebounds. According to the Iron Ore Price Index compiled by
MySteel Group, the index peaked at 1,138.5 in January 2024,
driven by market optimism over a demand recovery. Prices later
declined to a yearly low of 765.9 in September 2024 before
rebounding to 845.7 by year-end.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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China’s Purchasing Managers’ Index (“PMI"”) for manufacturing
fluctuated throughout the year, reflecting evolving industry
conditions. The index reached a high of 52.7 in March,
indicating a strong post-holiday recovery, before moderating to
50.2 by July. A gradual rebound in 4Q2024 saw the PMI recover
to 52.2 in December, suggesting improved manufacturing
activity at year-end. Meanwhile, the steel sector PMI stood at
47.5 in December, reflecting a more subdued performance
compared to the broader manufacturing sector.

In 2024, efforts to enhance steel industry capacity management
remained a key focus. While the Dual Carbon targets and
capacity replacement policies introduced in 2020 aimed to
support long-term structural adjustments, production volumes
continued to expand in certain areas. In August 2024, the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (“MIT") issued
a Notice on Suspending Steel Capacity Replacement Work*,
temporarily halting new capacity replacement plans starting 23
August 2024. This measure was introduced to further refine
industry capacity management and enhance the effectiveness
of supply-side adjustments. As steel demand evolves, industries
such as automotive manufacturing, home appliances,
shipbuilding, and renewable energy (including wind and nuclear
power) are expected to play an increasing role in shaping
demand. Steel enterprises are anticipated to optimise production
strategies to align with shifting market trends and technological
advancements.

According to the China Property Management Industry
2024 Summary and 2025 Outlook* released by the China
Index Academy, China’s property management industry
maintained stable growth momentum in 2024. As market
conditions evolved, industry players prioritised service
quality enhancements, operational efficiency, and business
sustainability. During 1H2024, certain companies streamlined
their portfolios by exiting selected contracted and managed
projects to optimise operations, leading to short-term
adjustments in management scale while ensuring long-term
stability.
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o Looking ahead, competition within the property management
sector is expected to intensify, with companies focusing
on service differentiation and operational efficiency. Given
the limited availability of high-quality projects, competitive
strategies will likely centre on service quality, pricing models,
and operational scalability. The sector is also expected to deepen
its presence in local markets while enhancing expertise in core
service areas.

o In 1TH2024, basic property services accounted for 72.06%
of total industry revenue, serving as a key growth driver.
Meanwhile, non-owner value-added services saw a decline
due to adjustments in the real estate sector, resulting in
fewer projects from developers. Community-based value-
added services — particularly those addressing everyday lifestyle
needs, including community retail, housekeeping, elderly care,
education, and water supply — demonstrated strong growth
potential. The stable demand for these services highlights
positive long-term prospects, positioning community lifestyle
offerings as a key focus area for future industry expansion.

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW

Operation and Financial Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Group's overall profitability declined,
primarily attributable to the temporary suspension of operations at
the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine from July to November 2024 due to
an incident involving a subcontractor (the “Temporary Suspension”).
Despite these operational challenges, average selling price for high-
grade iron concentrates was higher. However, the trading business
declined amid an oversupply and softened domestic demand, reflecting
broader trends in PRC's economic environment.

In addition, while weaker market sentiment led to a decline in steel
trading volumes and average selling prices, the Group managed to
expand its facility management services business, which contributed
positively to revenue and partially offset the decline in profitability.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Specifically:

o the production and sales volume of high-grade iron concentrates
decreased by approximately 44.9% and 48.3%, respectively;

o the average selling price for high-grade iron concentrates
increased by approximately 12.6%; and

o the steels trading volume decreased by approximately 23.5% to
approximately 148.9Kt in FY2024, with a decrease in average
selling price by approximately 8.5%.

Despite the above challenges, revenue from facility management
increased to RMB20.5 million (FY2023: RMB19.5 million), supported
by the expansion of service scopes, while the Group also recorded its
maiden profits of RMB1.7 million from joint ventures in the industrial
facility management services.

Overall, the Group’s gross margin declined, resulting in a lower
gross profit of approximately RMB14.2 million for FY2024 (FY2023:
RMB36.5 million). Administrative expenses decreased to approximately
RMB19.1 million (FY2023: RMB21.8 million). Furthermore, following
a reassessment of the production capacity and operational plans of
the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine after the Temporary Suspension, the
Group recognized non-cash accounting impairment losses, including
write-down of inventories totaling RMB13.8 million in accordance with
applicable accounting standards.

As a result, the Group reported a Net Loss of approximately RMB20.7
million for FY2024 (FY2023: Net profit of approximately RMB9.7
million). Despite the Net Loss position (which included mainly the
non-cash accounting impairment losses and write-down), the Group
reported a net operating cash flows of RMB26.2 million.

Details of the financial performance of the Group are set out on page
18 of this annual report.
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Overview of Mines i 15 6% &5

Please refer to the table below for the status of the mine operations ERAEEEE MKENRENEER T

which are owned and operated by the Group. FE2RE TR

Mines Processing Plant Status as at 31 December 2024

&% R 7220245125318 KR

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Maoling Processing Plant Producing iron concentrates of high Fe contents (within the
range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe)

EHE-FRUEE FEEER Y EFeRESNEIBE T2 8 F65%%72%)

Shigou Gypsum Mine N/A Assessing and evaluating development and mining plans

AERERE B 1E 7 571 I 38 K B ER 51 81

The following table summarises the transacted volumes for (i) trading TR AEBRNEZHEE ; R(NVHEBEE®

sales; and (ii) sale of self-produced products of the Group: HNRZZE !
Purchase from Sale to
an independent third party independent third parties
M—2BIE=FBEE HEIE=FHED
FY2024 FY2023 Change FY2024 FY2023 Change
2024 2023 2024 2023
MBEE WBEE b= BREE WHEE B
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (K1) %
(FH)  (T®) %  (FW)  (T®) %
(i) Trading Sales (i) ESHE
Steels ik 148.9 194.7 (23.5) 148.9 194.7 (23.5)
Production volume (Dry basis) Sales volume ™ (Dry basis)
EE (EH) HE (EE)0
FY2024 FY2023 Change FY2024 FY2023 Change
2024 2023 2024 2023
MHEE WMBEE 28 MHEE WHEE =)
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (K1) %
(Fm8) (FmE) % (F-1) (FmE) %
(i) Sale of Self-produced (i) SHEBEE®
Products
High-grade iron concentrates = on 1 5845 TR 62.7 113.8 (44.9) 58.8 113.8 (48.3)

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF 15
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Note:

In general, the Group's customers for the above business segments have
been highly concentrated given its business strategy. Specifically, the
Group's supplies steels and iron-related products in bulk to customers
who have good credit records and require stable supply. The Group's
core strategy emphasises on staying competitive, maintaining optimal
business volumes with customers backed by good repayment records
while achieving profitability and generating operating cash flows without
overstretching its working capital. The Group has also adopted prudent
internal credit assessment policies to ensure that there will not be any
significant changes in the credit risk profiles of its potential customers.
The Group has also been mindful of not over-diversifying its customer
base amidst heightened credit risk environment in China.

The trading business is an extension of the Group’s core mining
operations within its supply chain management. Given the working
capital requirements and industry norms, the trading business generally
operates on an indent basis whereby goods are procured only after
customer orders are confirmed in order to minimise inventory risks and
reduce capital lock-in, which aligns with industry practices to mitigate
financial exposure, especially in markets with fluctuating demand. The
nature of the trading business has typically been high volumes, low
margins.

Business Risks and Uncertainties

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties that are of
significance, which may bring potential significant impacts to the
Group's businesses, results of operations and financial conditions.
However, this is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks and
uncertainties arising from changes in economic and other conditions
over time:

Dynamic macroeconomic environment — the macro business
environment in which the Group operates is highly dynamic
that any adverse change in market conditions for sale of iron
concentrates and trading of steels may materially affect the
businesses of the Group;

Price fluctuations and market sentiment — price fluctuations
of iron concentrates, variations in capacity utilisation rates, and
shifts in market sentiment influenced by geopolitical tensions
and demand changes may result in re-assessment of the
valuation of the intangible assets (in relation to exploration and/
or mining rights), potentially leading to impairment losses due to
decreased value-in-use and reduced economic returns as may be
derived from the related cash-generating units;

Regulatory changes — changes in government policies, laws
and regulations in the PRC may affect the Group's operational
practices and/or result in additional compliance costs;
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Credit risk exposure — weak market demand, challenging
business environment and real estate crisis may lead to more
stringent terms and restrictive financial covenants being
imposed by financiers on any corporate refinancing and debts
restructuring plans, as applicable. Such conditions could further
result in liquidity crunch and exacerbate credit risk conditions,
which could potentially lead to broader industry spillovers;

Strategy implementation and resource allocation — delays
or deviations in executing growth and transformation strategies,
or in reallocating resources, may affect the Group's operational
efficiency and financial results; and

Guarantee obligations — the outcomes of ongoing litigations
against the Company’s former subsidiaries for indebtedness
owing to certain financial institutions, on which the Company
has provided corporate guarantees, remain uncertain, which
may require the Company to take further legal actions and
vigorously pursue its rights against the former subsidiaries or
other parties, if it suffers any financial losses arising from such
guarantees.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gain

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Reversal of impairment losses on trade

and other receivables
Impairment losses and write-down

— Inventories

— Property, plant and equipment

— Intangible assets

Finance costs
Share of results of joint ventures

(Loss)/Profit before tax
Income tax credit/(expenses)

(Loss)/Profit for the year

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Revenue

Revenue decreased to approximately RMB542.5 million for FY2024
(FY2023: RMB785.0 million), mainly due to lower trading volume and
lower sales of high-grade iron concentrate, which fell substantially
due largely to the Temporary Suspension at the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine, as previously disclosed. Despite these challenges, revenue from
facility management segment remained relatively unchanged, as
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supported by an expanded scope of services.

Bt 75 ol E8
FY2024 FY2023
20240 IEE 20230 BERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T ABEFT
542,490 784,951
(528,287) (748,417)
14,203 36,534
12,402 17,244
(2,667) (2,254)
(19,064) (21,783)
(9,976) (9,980)
371 2,674
(13,790) -
(4,691) -
(4,947) -
(4,152) -
(7,750) (8,323)
1,680 -
(24,591) 14,112
4,502 (5,032)
(20,089) 9,080
(20,662) 9,697
573 (617)
(20,089) 9,080

N

Variance
'="1

%

%

(30.9)
(29.4)

(61.1)

(28.1)
18.3

(12.5)
(0.0)

(86.1)
N/M &

S B 2

N/M EEFH

N/M =&

N/M = 2

(6.9)

N/M = 2

(274.3)
(189.5)

(321.2)

(313.1)
(192.9)

(321.2)
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In recognizing revenue from the trading business, the Group applies the
accounting policy in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, as detailed in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements in the section headed "Judgement - Revenue Recognition".
The trading business is an extension of the Group's core mining
operations within its supply chain management. Given the working
capital requirements and industry norms, the trading business generally
operates on an indent basis. Under this model, goods are procured only
after customer orders are confirmed, minimising inventory risks and
reducing capital lock-in. This approach aligns with industry practices
to mitigate financial exposure, especially in markets with fluctuating
demand. The trading business model has typically been high volumes,
low margins due mainly to the inherent nature of industrial steel being
a low-margin commodity.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales mainly comprises direct materials, labour, utilities, repair
and maintenance, depreciation, amortisation, and environmental
compliance cost, contracting fees for mining and stripping, and trading
purchase.

For FY2024, cost of sales fell to approximately RMB528.3 million
(FY2023: RMB748.4 million) on the back of lower revenues.

Gross Profit and Margin

The Group recorded a lower gross profit of approximately RMB14.2
million for FY2024 (FY2023: RMB36.5 million), primarily due to
increased production costs for the High-Fe Mining Operations. The
Temporary Suspension led to a reduction in production volume,
resulting in higher unit production costs, non-recurring production
stoppage losses, and lower economies of scale. Consequently, the
Group’'s gross profit margin declined to approximately 2.6% for
FY2024 (FY2023: 4.7%). In addition, having considered those factors
as outlined in “Revenue” above, the prevailing macroeconomic
conditions and existing operating models, the Group believes that the
gross margins for the trading business have been within the industrial
average.

Other Income

Other income decreased to approximately RMB12.4 million for FY2024
(FY2023: RMB17.2 million) primarily due to lower proceeds from
the sale of mine tailings, which fell to approximately RMBO0.7 million
(FY2023: RMB7.2 million) as a result of lower mine tailings volume
following the Temporary Suspension, as well as the impact of reduced
production among downstream industries on the resale of mine tailings.
Other income also included (i) guarantee fee income of approximately
RMB8.6 million (FY2023: RMB8.6 million) under the 2022 Master
Guarantee Agreement; and (ii) one-off gain from the write-off of trade
and other payables of RMB1.9 million, arose from the extinguishment
of settlement obligations after the expiration of the statutory limitation
period.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses, which comprise mainly delivery,
logistics, storage and warehousing costs, increased to approximately
RMB2.7 million for FY2024 (FY2023: RMB2.3 million) mainly due to
warehousing cost, which was mainly fixed in nature despite a decline in
sales volume of high-grade iron concentrates during the year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses, which comprise mainly staff related expenses,
professional fees and other fixed operating overheads (including those
associated with production disruption and suspension), declined slightly
to approximately RMB19.1 million for FY2024 (FY2023: RMB21.8
million) due to cost control and improvement in operational efficiency.

Other Expenses

Other expenses, which comprise primarily cost of processing for mine
tailings, remain relatively stable at approximately RMB10.0 million for
FY2024 (FY2023: RMB10.0 million) due mainly to lower resale volume
of mine tailings as discussed in the section headed "“Other Income”
above. The associated cost of disposal of mine tailings declined
to approximately RMB3.0 million (FY2023: RMB7.5 million). Other
expenses also included (i) a write-off of non-operational property,
plant and equipment of RMB1.5 million as triggered by the Temporary
Suspension; and (ii) one-off stoppage loss of RMB3.9 million due to the
Temporary Suspension.

Reversal of impairment loss on trade and other
receivables

For FY2024, there was reversal on trade receivables of approximately
RMBO.4 million (FY2023: RMB2.7 million) due to recollections during
the year.

Impairment Losses and Write-down

As at 31 December 2024, the management of the Group recorded
non-cash impairment losses, including the write-down of inventories,
totaling RMB13.8 million in relation to the High-Fe Mining Operation's
CGU and inventories taking into consideration, among others, the
Temporary Suspension, business and production plans, and market
outlook of high-grade iron concentrates. Please refer to notes 2.4,
12, 13 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report for more details. The management of the Group will continue to
assess the underlying assumptions applicable to its business projections
(subject to regular reviews and revisions in relation to impairment tests)
if there are factors indicating that the business conditions relating to
the Group's CGU may deteriorate to a level which requires accounting

impairment as a result of the market forces.

HERDHBAZ

2024 EE  HERD RS (FEGEN
B\ R RBERERRED BINIENARK2.7
BEx Q023 BEFE : AR23HET) ' £
EEMPNENRESRAUEBEREE B #
ERHNEATEBEEMERR-

THRX

FR2024 BUEE TR (EE S E TAR
MY HEEHAUREMBEIEAERIZER (8
HHREEDHREEEAME)) ARAES K
N N EMEME L ENARKI9IBETT
(20230 HEE | ARIE218EHETT) ©

Hthk 2

2024 BFE > Bt (FEZ0EREERE
BERMA) R ENRE OB ARKI0.088
7T (2023 HEE : ARMB10.08ET) P ETBE
MR L TEHAMUTA ) —EiFrsm it - RIEZE
HESR V- HEREAENBRBM AT F
EYARBI0EET (20230WHEE : AR
75B 8T cHMHAXTaE)EREEMmEE
NAEEME - BERIREWHARK I SEE
7T RIS FEEMEEN —REFERERSK
ARH3IIHE T

%%E%&E@%W%EHEEE
20248 B E > R FE U Bl FE W R 71 > (AT
BOYAREAEET (2023 BEE | AR
2. 7B & IT) ©

i 1B &5 48 R i iRk

R2024FE 128310 &K£8 (Hh ) e
BEBREEFIURSRASBENTIS
s AERCTEEMERUBESERNIR
SEFBEMNAEFERFSIFRSHERE (81EEF
EifR) e ARKI38EB T - BESHERES
RAFERIFEVEIRRMEE2.412 13180
HWERERBTEAERERSELEUARNE
B A EEm S IEMBEESTEIRG st
HENKE AAEEESEEREETLER
REEXRBEINBEBRRR B RENAETTE
BRI 5T R B 5T) o

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



Finance Costs

Finance costs, comprise mainly the cost of funds for working capital
loans, interest on lease liabilities, and the accounting effects for
unwinding discount of reclamation obligations and long term payables,
decreased by approximately 6.9% to approximately RMB7.8 million for
FY2024 (FY2023: RMB8.3 million). The decline was largely attributable
to a lower China Loan Prime Rate.

Share of Results from Joint Ventures

The Group recorded approximately RMB1.7 million (FY2023: Nil) from
its share of maiden profits from joint ventures incorporated, which
provide industrial facilities management services.

Income Tax Credit/(Expenses)

The Group recorded income tax credit of approximately RMB4.5
million for FY2024 (FY2023: income tax expenses of approximately
RMB5.0 million). The decrease in tax expense was primarily due to the
recognition of deferred tax assets totaling RMB5.4 million, which largely
arose from impairment losses related to the Maoling-Yanglongshan
CGU. This contrasts with the tax position in FY2023, where no
significant deferred tax assets were recognized, resulting in a higher tax
expense for the prior year.

(Net Loss)/Net Profit

Given the above, the Group recorded a Net Loss of approximately
RMB20.7 million for FY2024 (FY2023: Net Profit of approximately
RMB9.7 million), which includes non-cash accounting impairment and
other write-down amounting to RMB13.8 million, as abovementioned.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2024 (FY2023: Nil).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES mAMRELRER
The following table sets out certain information regarding the Group's TR B RASE 20245 B4 E 20238 B
consolidated statement of cash flows for FY2024 and FY2023: FENGERERERNETER !
FY2024 FY2023
202481 B E 20230 B E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTFRT ARBETT ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents at FVNRERIBEEEY
beginning of the year 8,038 9,357
Net cash flows from operating RETEEEW
activities BE&neFE 26,158 95,147
Net cash flows used in investing B & EFHFEHRH
activities REREFEE (27,753) (79,770)
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEEBESE, (ER)
financing activities NIRE RS FEE 5,443 (16,712)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash BEKRIREEEY

and cash equivalents 1, Gesb) 5%"@5 3,848 (1,335)
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXREH SR
changes, net (5) 16

Cash and cash equivalents at end FXRMWIRERREEEY

of the year 11,881 8,038
Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities REEHEENREREFEE

The Group's net cash flows from operating activities were approximately Kt k(VEEETEHMRKEWMALNARESS
RMB26.2 million for FY2024 (FY2023: RMB95.1 million) after B8 (20230 BEE : ARME37.48E7T) ;i)

accounting for (i) operating income before working capital changes of FEEESEHNARE20388 7T (202387
approximately RMB8.5 million (FY2023: RMB37.4 million); (ii) positive HEE: ARB¥603EET) ; KiFTEHRA
working capital changes of approximately RMB20.3 million (FY2023: WAREE27HE T (20230 BEE : AREH2.6
RMBG60.3 million); and (iii) income tax payment of approximately BHETT) B 20240 REEAEEBLEEHEE
RMB2.7 million (FY2023: RMB2.6 million). NIREREFENAARBE26288 7t (2023

FHEE : ARIIS1THET °
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Net Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

The Group’s net cash flows used in investing activities were
approximately RMB27.8 million for FY2024 (FY2023: RMB79.8 million)
due mainly to (i) the capital expenditures of approximately RMB19.0
million (FY2023: RMB30.7 million) for engineering and preparatory
works on site for progressive upgrade and expansion of the High-
Fe Mining Operations; (ii) installment payments for the resource
integration process related to Maoling-Yanglongshan's mining right of
RMB6.3 million (FY2023: RMB48.3 million); and (iii) capital injection in
joint venture company of RMB2.5 million (FY2023: Nil).

Net Cash Flows From/(Used In) Financing Activities

The Group's net cash flows from financing activities were approximately
RMB5.4 million for FY2024 (FY2023: net cash flows used in financing
activities of RMB16.7 million), due primarily to (i) net proceeds from
bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB8.9 million (FY2023:
net repayments of RMB6.0 million); (ii) lease payments of approximately
RMB3.2 million (FY2023: RMB6.0 million) related to the right-of-use
assets; (iii) interest payments of approximately RMB3.9 million (FY2023:
RMB4.7 million) associated with the borrowings; and (iv) increase in
amount due to related parties RMB3.7 million.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Intangible Assets

The Group's intangible assets primarily comprise concession rights
for the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and the Shigou Gypsum Mine.
The carrying value of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine declined to
approximately RMB165.9 million (FY2023: RMB172.4 million), primarily
due to impairment losses as detailed in the section headed “Impairment
Losses and Write-down" above. While the carrying value of the Shigou
Gypsum Mine stood at approximately RMB649.7 million (FY2023:
RMB649.7 million).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Inventories

The Group's inventories, comprise raw materials, finished goods and
consumables in relation to the High-Fe Mining Operations, increased
to approximately RMB20.3 million as at 31 December 2024 (FY2023:
RMB18.7 million) mainly due to raw materials restocking in anticipation
of production.

Trade and Bills Receivables

The Group’s trade and bills receivables decreased to approximately
RMB75.5 million as at 31 December 2024 (FY2023: RMB119.9 million)
due to shorter collection cycles as part of credit management measures.
The overall debtor turnover days were 66 days (FY2023: 76 days). The
trade receivables have substantially been collected subsequent to the
Reporting Period, while the remaining balance, which falls within the
credit period, is expected to be collected before the second quarter of
2025.

Prepayments and Other Receivables

The Group's prepayments and other receivables increased to
approximately RMB108.6 million as at 31 December 2024 (FY2023:
RMB96.3 million) for deposits and advanced payments made to a
supplier for procurement of steel supply in relation to confirmed orders
which were fully delivered to customers as at the date of this annual
report.

Trade Payables

The Group's trade payables decreased to approximately RMB63.6
million as at 31 December 2024 (FY2023: RMB71.0 million) due
to lower purchase volume. The overall creditor turnover days were
approximately 46 days (FY2023: 26 days).

Borrowings

Total borrowings of the Group increased to approximately RMB91.4
million as at 31 December 2024 (FY2023: RMB82.6 million), due to
additional working capital facilities obtained during FY2024. As at 31
December 2024, all borrowings were denominated in RMB. Details of
the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

Lease Liabilities

The total lease liabilities of the Group of approximately RMB21.1
million as of 31 December 2024 (FY2023: RMB23.2 million) represents
payment obligations related to the right-of-use assets for (i) office
premises; (ii) mine tailings facilities; and (iii) storage facility for mine
tailings.
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Contingent Liabilities and Financial Guarantees
Financial guarantees for former subsidiaries prior to the 2019
Disposal

Reference is made to the circulars of the Company dated 10 June
2019 and 8 June 2022 (the “Circulars”), and the announcements of
the Company dated 30 July 2019, 16 May 2022, 28 March 2024,
19 June 2024, 19 August 2024, 21 August 2024, 15 November
2024, 23 December 2024, 11 February 2025 and 4 March 2025 (the
“Announcements”).

As disclosed in the Circulars and the Announcements, Huili Caitong,
the Company’s former wholly-owned subsidiary, and Xiushuihe Mining,
another former indirect subsidiary of the Company and a subsidiary
of Huili Caitong, previously secured loan facilities from the Financial
Institutions, in 2010, 2013 and 2014, and on which the Company
has provided the CVT Guarantees in favour to each of the Financial
Institutions with a maximum guaranteed amounts of RMB730.0 million.
The details of the CVT Guarantees had previously been disclosed in the
Circulars and the Company’s annual reports; and are consistent with the
terms and conditions for the completion of the 2019 Disposal.

Following the 2019 Disposal, the Company and Chengyu Vanadium
entered into the 2019 Counter Indemnity for the provision of counter-
indemnity by Chengyu Vanadium in favour of the Company in respect
of the Company’s contingent liabilities and potential claims under the
CVT Guarantees. The 2019 Counter Indemnity remains effective until
the date of actual release of the CVT Guarantees.

Given that the CVT Guarantees are continuing in nature and will only
be released upon the full and final settlement are made and officially
discharged by the respective Financial Institutions, the Company has,
on 16 May 2022, extended the CVT Guarantees by entering into the
2022 Master Guarantee Agreement and the 2022 Counter Indemnity
with Chengyu Vanadium Titano, Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining
to continue the provision of the CVT Guarantees on such terms and
conditions contained therein, including, among other things:

o the Company shall continue to provide the CVT Guarantees in
favour of the Financial Institutions for a term commencing from
29 June 2022 to 31 December 2024, subject to a maximum
aggregate guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million (the amount
guaranteed under the CVT Guarantees as at 31 December 2024
was RMB690.0 million). The CVT Guarantees shall cover the
indebtedness owed by Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining to
the Financial Institutions under the CVT Guarantees and any
related rolled-over loans approved by the Financial Institutions;
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o Chengyu Vanadium Titano shall provide counter-indemnity in
favour of the Company under the 2022 Counter Indemnity by
(i) pledging its assets as security, the market value of which shall
not be less than 1.25 times of the maximum guaranteed amount
under the 2022 Master Guarantee Agreement; and (ii) providing
a joint liability guarantee which allows the Company to claim
against Chengyu Vanadium Titano directly for any payments,
losses and expenses incurred as a result of the CVT Guarantees;
and

o Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining shall pay an annual
guarantee fee to the Company, which is calculated at 1.25% of
the maximum guaranteed amount.

The above arrangements were approved by the Independent
Shareholders at the 2022 EGM.

The maximum amount guaranteed under the CVT Guarantees as at 31
December 2024 was RMB690.0 million (FY2023: RMB690.0 million),
while the principal amount outstanding under the corresponding loan
facilities stood at approximately RMB506.6 million (FY2023: RMB506.6
million).

Further to the above, in the Announcements the Company disclosed
that, (i) CCB and ICBC had each taken legal actions against Huili
Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining, respectively, in relation to the CCB-
Caitong Indebtedness Amount, the ICBC-Caitong Indebtedness
Amount, the ICBC-Xiushuihe Indebtedness Amount; and (ii) Cinda
had issued a legal demand letter to Huili Caitong in relation to the
Cinda-Caitong Indebtedness Amount. Under the CVT Guarantees, the
Company shall fulfill its corporate guarantee obligations in relation to
the Total Indebtedness Amounts.
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A summary of the status of each Indebtedness Claims as at the date of HEAFRZ B SERBFRNRRBEENT !
this annual report is as follows:

Principal
amount
involved
Year of in the
Financial inception Indebtedness Status as at the date of this annual report
No. Borrowers Institutions of the loan Claims (the “Status Updates”)
B BEREERMRW
/IR ERA SRS FE RNAEE BEXFHRZEANNKR (RIHAKR)
(RMB’000)
NR#&FT)
1 Huili Caitong Cinda™ 2014 140,975 Huili Caitong had received a legal demand

letter from Cinda and has since initiated
discussions with Cinda to explore
potential settlement options and/or debt
restructuring arrangements, as previously
announced on 15 November 2024.

1 gIEME 51ED 20144 140,975 MUFTAIN2024F 11 B1SH A GIRE
BOEEEEZLUMNEERRRMG LB
LB EERBAER URANBENEER

ER /N EHBEELH -
Huili Caitong ICBC 2013 69,715 Separate litigations have commenced against
Xiushuihe Mining ICBC 2013 19,000 Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining and

the Huili Caitong Parties are in discussions
with ICBC to explore potential options for
settlement and/or debt restructuring, as
previously announced on 19 August 2024
and 21 August 2024.

BIREE TERTT 20134 69,715 LE1SEATI 2024585190 %2024F8821H

FS KA 2 TR 20134 19,000  PRAfR > & S IR K 5 A TEZE N E
AFAERER MEEBMES A EATH
RITE MR BER,/ REHEAN
BERE-

M As disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 8 June 2022, the a A AT BEA202256B8HMEX

Company was informed of the assignment by CMB of all its i A RBIESH > BEiRTEER
rights in the credit agreement and the guarantee in favour of REEBHRZRUEERAZ A ANERDN
Cinda. 2 EBRER o
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Principal
amount
involved
Year of in the
Financial inception Indebtedness Status as at the date of this annual report
No. Borrowers Institutions of the loan Claims (the “Status Updates”)

BERiELA ERBERMY

weR fERA RIS FE RHAEEE BEXFERZAMKRRT TERHKRD)
(RMB’000)
(AR¥EETF D)

4 Huili Caitong CCB 2010 276,929 Huili Caitong has received Judgments and the
Judgements also set out that the Company
is required to fulfil its corporate guarantee
obligations under the CVT Guarantees.
The Huili Caitong Parties are in discussion
with CCB to explore potential options for
settlement and/or debt restructuring, as
previously announced on 29 March 2024
and 19 June 2024.

4 FIEHB 217 20104 276,929 @UNFERITN2024% 38290 %2024F6 5198

Frafe EEMECEEXR MAIRIRE]
RAARBEBRBITERTEESRIERTHR
BERET TEMBE S EERITE
Mg BER, NEBEENEEH R

506,619

As at the date of this annual report, the Huili Caitong Parties are still in
discussions with the Financial Institutions, exploring potential options
for settlement and/or debt restructuring (the “Ongoing Discussions™).
As such, on 11 February 2025, notwithstanding the maximum
guaranteed amounts under the CVT Guarantees were RMB690.0
million as at 31 December 2024, the Company has entered into the
2025 Master Guarantee Agreement with the Borrowers and Chengyu
Vanadium, pursuant to which the Company will continue to provide
the CVT Guarantees based on the maximum guaranteed amounts
estimated to be not more than RMB930.0 million for the year ending
31 December 2027, while Chengyu Vanadium will continue to provide
the counter-indemnity in favour of the Company and the Borrowers will
continue to pay annual guarantee fees to the Company, for a term of
three years ending on 31 December 2027. The 2025 Master Guarantee
Agreement shall be conditional upon the approval of the independent
shareholders of the 2025 EGM. For further details, please refer to the
Company’'s announcement dated 11 February 2025 and 4 March 2025.
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Notwithstanding the above, the Company reasonably believes that
the indicative market value and the indicative forced sale value (as
estimated for an uncontrollable event) of the operating assets of the
Huili Caitong Parties remains higher than the principal amount of the
Total Indebtedness Amounts as at the date of this annual report.

Having considered (i) the total assets of both Huili Caitong and
Xiushuihe Mining (including the indicative market values of their
operating assets) as at 31 December 2024; (ii) the adequacy of the
transaction contemplated under the 2022 Master Guarantee Agreement
and the 2022 Counter Indemnity (which is to be renewed in the 2025
EGM upon the entry into the 2025 Master Guarantee Agreement
and 2025 Counter Indemnity); including the appraised value of assets
pledged in favour of the Company thereunder according to the latest
independent valuation reports, which remained substantially higher
than the maximum guaranteed amount under the CVT Guarantees as
at 31 December 2024; and (iii) other information currently available
to the Group, the Group does not expect the above matters to have
a material impact on its business operations and financial position as
at the date of this annual report save for the additional administrative
expenses (including legal and other professional fees) as may be
incurred by the Company.

Financial guarantees for a joint venture company

During FY2024, Sichuan Shengjiawei secured a two-year working
capital loan of RMB4.9 million at an interest rate of 7.5% per annum
from a financial institution in the PRC (the "JV Loan"). Sichuan Lingwei
and its joint venture partner, Neijiang Shengchuan, have in accordance
with their respective shareholding in Sichuan Shengjiawei, effectively
guaranteed the full repayment of the JV Loan (including interest and
related charges) when it falls due. The JV Loan is further supported
and secured by a guarantee from a state-backed financing guarantee
company.

The principal amount of the JV Loan, as effectively guaranteed by
Sichuan Lingwei based on its shareholding in Sichuan Shengjiawei,
represents approximately 0.27% of the Group's net assets as at 31
December 2024.

Having considered the financial and operating status of Sichuan
Shengjiawei as at 31 December 2024, the Group did not record any
contingent liabilities and financial guarantees as at 31 December 2024
in relation to the abovementioned guarantee provided by Sichuan
Lingwei.

Save for the above, as at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have
any other material contingent liabilities and financial guarantees.
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Going Concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in
light of the fact that whilst the Group had recorded a consolidated
loss before income tax of approximately RMB24.6 million for FY2024,
the Group had a surplus of approximately RMB8.5 million, excluding
non-cash adjustments as reported in the consolidated cash flows
statement for FY2024. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's current
liabilities of approximately RMB216.8 million include trade payables
of approximately RMB63.6 million, contract liabilities of approximately
RMB2.1 million, other payables of approximately RMB44.4 million,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB73.6
million and amount due to related parties of approximately RMB4.0
million, lease liabilities of approximately RMB3.2 million and tax payable
of approximately RMB8.9 million which are due for repayment within
the next twelve months after 31 December 2024. The Group’s current
assets, including cash and bank balances of approximately RMB11.9
million, was RMB219.0 million as at 31 December 2024. The net
current assets of a mere approximately RMB2.3 million requires the
Group to adopt a prudent working capital management ahead.

Having considered the above, the Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations for at least the next twelve months
from the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
after taking into consideration of the followings:

(i) the Group will continue to monitor and improve the collection
cycle of its outstanding trade receivables, noting that the debtor
turnaround period had improved to 66 days (FY2023:76 days)
for FY2024;

(i) the Group has not experienced any significant difficulties in
renewing its short-term bank loans upon their maturities and
as at the date of this report, and there is no indication that the
banks will not renew the existing bank loans, barring unforeseen
circumstances. The Group remains proactive in engaging
discussions and negotiations with the banks for renewal of its
facilities as and when they fall due such that to meet the Group
can continue to meet its working capital requirements for the
year ending 31 December 2025;

(iii) the Group will continue to explore and discuss with various
financial institutions and potential lenders to secure new
financing arrangement to meet the Group’s working capital and
financial requirements, as and when required; and
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(iv) the Group, with focusing on productivity improvement for
its existing mining and facilities management operations, will
continue to evaluate other potential strategic plans and options
to divest certain non-core assets, explore other asset-light
growth initiatives and extend its business segments.

Having considered the cash flow projection of the Group, which take
into account of the above measures, the Directors are of the opinion
that, the Group will have sufficient funding resources to meet its
working capital at least the next twelve months from the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements, barring unforeseen
circumstances.

Pledge of Assets

The Group’s pledge of assets as at 31 December 2024 was related
mainly to a bank loan of RMB69.6 million granted to Aba Mining,
which was secured by (i) the mining right of the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine; and (ii) 100% equity interest of Aba Mining held by Sichuan
Lingyu.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions

and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and

Joint Ventures, and Future Plan for Material
Investments of Capital Assets

Except as disclosed in this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for FY2024, there were no other significant
investments held and/or committed by the Company, nor were there
any other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during FY2024.

Except as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other material
investments or additions of capital assets that were not related to
normal operation authorised by the Board as at the date of this annual
report.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group's foreign currency exposures arose primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely, HKD, USD and
SGD, against the functional currencies of respective entities within the
Group.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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The RMB is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any
dividends it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted
into foreign currencies.

The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to manage
the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The management
monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the needs arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to bank
deposits, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (which are subject
to fair value interest rate risk).

The Group manages its interest rate exposure arising from all its
interest-bearing loans through the use of fixed rates. In addition, the
Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge against interest
rate risk. The Group will constantly monitor the economic situation
and its interest rate risk profile, and will consider appropriate hedging
measures when the needs arise.

Please refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report for more details of the interest rates and terms of
repayment of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Capital Expenditures

The Group's total capital expenditures decreased by approximately
RMB99.4 million to approximately RMB16.2 million for FY2024 (F2023:
RMB115.6 million) mainly due to the Group's recognition of costs
associated with the resource integration process of the Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine, including costs incurred for the engineering works
performed in preparation for the progressive upgrade and expansion of
the High-Fe Mining Operations in the corresponding period. During the
Reporting Period, no significant capital expenditures of a similar nature
were incurred.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is a measure of financial leverage, which is calculated by
“net debt” divided by “total equity plus net debt”. Net debt is defined
as interest-bearing bank and other loans and lease liabilities, net of
cash and cash equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working
capital purpose. Equity includes equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests. As of 31 December 2024, the
gearing ratio increased to approximately 9.9% (FY2023: 9.4%) mainly
due to additional working capital loans were obtained during the year.
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RESOURCE AND RESERVE OF MINES UNDER
THE JORC CODE (2012 EDITION) AS AT 1
JANUARY 2025

Resource Summary of the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine

JORC Mineral Resource Category

JORC Mineral Resource
Category HERAREEEETRER RE

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine EHE-FRELEE

Measured (M) 23

Indicated (1) =5

Inferred £

Total “ast

Note:

1. The last digit of the figures in the table may not add up correctly because

of rounding.
2. The mineral resources of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine as at 1 January

2025 were estimated by BAW Mineral Partners Limited by depleting
the mineral resources consumed throughout 2024 for the Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine.
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Contained
Tonnage Grade Metal
M 25 & il BEER
TFe TFe
TFe TFe
(Mt) (%) (Kt)
(B & ng) (%) (Fmg)
48.48 23.85% 11,562
33.44 24.32% 8,132
8.37 27.03% 2,264
90.30 24.32% 21,957
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Following the completion of the resource integration process for the
combined Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine, the Group has engaged an
independent technical advisor, BAW Mineral Partners Limited ("BAW"),
to update the mineral resource estimates in conformity with the
JORC Code 2012 in relation to the resources delineated within the
latest tenement under the current market dynamics in southwestern
region of China with pertinent assumptions, technical parameters and
methodologies as detailed below:

Area (square km) maE (FrAR)
Varying depth (meters) REZE K
Dimension (meters) #E CK)

o accounting for market dynamics, and considering that

substandard and smaller-sized resources might hold insignificant
or no economic value, BAW has adopted a cut-off grade of 15%
TFe with a minimum width of 2 meters; and

° the use of 3-dimensional resource modelling software using the
Inverse Distance Weighted method.

The pertinent considerations for the estimation of mineral resources
include:

. the estimate of mineral resources may be materially affected by
environmental, permitting, legal title, taxation, socio-political,
marketing, or other relevant issues and therefore, mineral
resources which are not defined as ore reserves may not have
demonstrated economic viability;

° the quantity and grade of Inferred Resources in this estimation
are uncertain in nature and there has been insufficient
exploration to define these Inferred Resources as Indicated or
Measured Resources and it is uncertain if further exploration will
result in upgrading them to an Indicated or Measured Resources
category;

REHEE-—FELUBENERESTHE
AERCEEBURMBEREERERRAT
(ME8) REPEAMMEEAN T HHE &
TR ERARER KM 28R EE
RESHREEZETRA (20128 /R) MEHN
BERNZEREMGAEYNERE

2.7366

2,981 to 1,860
2,981%1,860
North-South: 1,920
mZzEdb 1 1,920
East-West: 3,050
BZEF 3,050
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REDBAME TR ERRREER
T

. EREFTHRNBEH S REMNEME R ML
MEEERTE RARHBRIFERZ
EHEBRENERAEZEFXRBER
B TEIEEE—THRESEHEA
BB ESHRAEREER

34 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



o mineral resources are constrained to the mining license or
exploration license, as applicable;

. mineral resources are estimated on an in-situ basis (i.e. as an in-
situ tonnage and not adjusted for mining recovery);

o mineral resources are depleted by mined out tonnage; and

o mineral resources are estimated based on the survey data made
available as of 31 December 2024.

RESOURCE OF MINES UNDER THE
CLASSIFICATION FOR RESOURCES/RESERVES
OF SOLID FUELS AND MINERAL COMMODITIES
(GB/T 17766-1999) AS AT 1 JANUARY 2025

Resource Summary of the Shigou Gypsum Mine
The mineral resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine under the
Classification for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral
Commodities (GB/T 17766-1999) have not been changed since the
disclosure in the Group's 2014 annual report. The assumption of the
resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine is 82.51% “gypsum + anhydrite”
cut-off grade and 1 metre minimum in width.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 356 dedicated full
time employees (FY2023: 317 employees), including 5 management
staff members, 25 technical staff members, 32 administrative and
sales & marketing staff members, and 294 operational staff members.
For FY2024, the employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
remuneration in the form of fees, salaries and other allowances) were
approximately RMB32.3 million (FY2023: RMB34.5 million).

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group. The Group has also adopted a share option scheme for
its employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
with reference to their contributions. Proper training programmes were
implemented in order to promote employees’ career development and
progression within the Group.
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Litigations Involving Former Subsidiaries

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
28 March 2024, 19 June 2024, 19 August 2024, 21 August 2024,
15 November 2024 and 23 December 2024, (i) CCB and ICBC had
each taken legal actions against Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining,
respectively, in relation to the CCB-Caitong Indebtedness Amount, the
ICBC-Caitong Indebtedness Amount, the ICBC-Xiushuihe Indebtedness
Amount; and (ii) Cinda had issued a legal demand letter to Huili
Caitong in relation to the Cinda-Caitong Indebtedness Amount. Under
the CVT Guarantees, the Company shall fulfill its corporate guarantee
obligations in relation to the Total Indebtedness Amounts.

Please refer to the section titled "Contingent Liabilities and Financial
Guarantees — Financial guarantees for former subsidiaries prior to the
2019 Disposal" for further details.

Underground safety incident in the Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
22 July 2024, 8 November 2024 and 3 December 2024. A main
subcontractor for Aba Mining reported an incident that resulted in a
fatal casualty of an employee of the subcontractor, when it performed
an underground scaling operation at the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine.
For safety reasons and in order to facilitate a thorough investigation
of the incident, the Group has temporarily suspended the entire
operations at the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine from July 2024 to
November 2024. Aba Mining has since received the necessary approval
from the Wenchuan County Emergency Management Bureau for the
resumption of operations in early December 2024.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan
Mr. Teh, aged 52, was appointed as the non-executive Director on
26 July 2017 and subsequently appointed as the chairman of the Board
on 12 October 2017. Mr. Teh is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Teh, a sophisticated investor, specialises in corporate restructuring,
corporate finance, and merger & acquisition. He is the appointed
non-independent and non-executive chairman for Livingstone Health
Holdings Limited (“Sapphire”) (listed on the catalist of the SGX-ST,
formerly known as Citicode Ltd.), the appointed lead independent
director of Sapphire Corporation Limited (listed on the mainboard
of the SGX-ST), and an appointed advisor to Koda Ltd (listed on the
mainboard of the SGX-ST). Mr. Teh is also the lead investor in a public
company listed on the Catalist of the SGX-ST and other privately held
assets.

Mr. Teh was the controlling shareholder; and executive chairman
and chief executive officer ("CEQ") of Citicode Ltd (previously listed
on the mainboard of the SGX-ST) from July 2018 to February 2021
where he initiated and completed the reverse takeover exercise of a
multi-disciplinary healthcare services group, Livingstone Health Ltd.
Mr. Teh was also the group CEO and managing director of Sapphire
from October 2013 to December 2017. Under his leadership, Sapphire
underwent major corporate restructuring and business transformation
exercises. He led Sapphire to be the first company listed outside Hong
Kong to receive “The Listed Enterprise Excellence Awards 2016" from
the Hong Kong-based Capital Weekly. Mr. Teh also served as a non-
executive director for other public companies listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, SGX-ST and ASX.

3 R e B T

ERFRFERITES

BBk E

&L B+ 25k R2017FE7R26BESZEA
ERITEE HBN2017F10812BESTA
EESFRE -BAEENAELARBDRELEESE
}ﬁo

MEETHERREE BROXEA tEMRE
e 788 o 1 ALivingstone Health Holdings Limited
(BRI FRET  ABEXECERRA
8% NEFFBYRIFNTEE BRittER
Rasls (TetdZE)) MM ERLT B
ZEEEB I EEKKoda Ltd (RERFFER L&
™) NEERER - WL ETr 72— B FIR
ITHRABRRARAREMMAREEENEELE
Eo

BB E 2018 FE7 A E2021 2B A%
BREAB (ZAIRHRAERLET WEBR
BRATEBRTERES BRI TH—ES
BR B FEEELivingstone Health LtdfY x W EEIE
B o BB EF2013FE10B E2017F 12877 S E
BUHCENERGERNTERET BEbx
FEHEE TET - BEALESARERHL
EH WS ERM P ENAETHNERETEEL
SEMEE Fhh¥ARHE2016  WEBIEIINES
NE BTG BN E BT XA &
B EANEMARABNIERITES

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF

37



38

Profile of Directors and Senior Management

e e A PR A

Some of Mr. Teh's other investment and corporate portfolios include
but are not limited to — In 2002, he advised and completed the
restructuring and initial public offering (the “IPO") exercise of Koda Ltd
(which was named one of the best 200 companies under a billion by
Forbes Asia in 2006 and 2022) on the SGX-ST. In 2006, he evaluated
and advised on a spinoff plan for the proposed IPO application of a
foreign-controlled enterprise on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange.

In 2009, he advised and completed the restructuring and listing exercise
of one of Asia’s foremost liver centres, the Singapore-incorporated
Asian Centre for Liver Diseases and Transplantation Limited via a
reverse takeover of an ASX-listed fashion design house. Mr. Teh has
also previously been involved in and advised on other corporate actions
including business reorganisation, corporate restructuring, proposed
divestments, corporate debts restructuring and cash exit offer for other
publicly listed companies, family-owned enterprises and regional asset
owners.

Mr. Teh is a Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (United Kingdom), a Fellow Chartered Accountant of the
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants, an International Affiliate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a Chartered
Accountant with the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, a Senior Accredited
Director of the Singapore Institute of Directors, and a Fellow Member of
the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. He was nominated for
the 2015 and 2016 Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards (Singapore) in the
Industrial and Commercial Products category, as well as for the 2017 and
2018 Outstanding Leaders in Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
Awards in the Leadership category.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Hao, aged 43, has been an executive Director and was the
financial controller of the Company since 1 January 2018. He has been
re-designated as the chief executive officer of the Company since 1 July
2023. Mr. Hao is also a director/supervisor of certain key subsidiaries
of the Company and is responsible for the financial reporting and
management of these subsidiaries. He has more than 20 years of
experience in financial management and has also previously participated
in the IPO exercise of the Company, including pre-IPO reorganisation,
merger and acquisition, corporate finance matters and operational
reorganisation. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hao was the financial
supervisor of the Panxi Region of the mining branch of Chuan Wei
from March 2010 to January 2012, a financial supervisor in each of the
financial management department of Chuan Wei from May 2006 to
March 2010 and Sichuan Longwei Metal Products Co., Ltd.* from July
2004 to April 2006, respectively. Mr. Hao has a professional qualification
as an International Certified Management Accountant. Mr. Hao obtained
a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in June 2004.

Mr. Wang Hu

Mr. Wang, aged 45, has been an executive Director since 1 January
2018. He is also a member of the remuneration committee and an
authorized representative of the Company. Mr. Wang is the head
of legal and compliance department of the Company. Mr. Wang is
also a director of certain key subsidiaries of the Company and is
responsible for legal and compliance matters of these subsidiaries. On
17 March 2023, Mr. Wang has been appointed as a non-independent
non-executive director and a member of the strategic committee of
Atlantic China Welding Consumables, Inc., a company listed on the SSE.
Mr. Wang has 20 years of experience in legal and compliance matters.
Mr. Wang has previously participated in the pre-IPO reorganisation and
IPO exercise of the Company, including merger and acquisition. He is
responsible for the legal and compliance matters of the Group after
the listing of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang
was the supervisor of legal department of Chuan Wei from September
2003 to August 2008 and worked as a client relationship manager
in Agricultural Bank of China, Chongging Changshou branch* from
August 2002 to September 2003. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in law from Southwest University of Political Science & Law
in July 2002 and a master's degree in business administration from
Sichuan University in December 2020.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Yu, aged 60, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu was a chartered public accountant
in Sichuan Tongde Certified Accountants Firm* (formerly known as
Chengdu Xinda Certified Accountants Firm*) from 1994 to 2000, a
member of the expert panels of Land and Resources Department of
Sichuan Province and Science and Technology Department of Sichuan*.
Mr. Yu is a chartered public accountant (non-practicing) in the PRC, and
a professor, master and doctoral supervisor of the Accounting Faculty of
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan
Province. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of professor committee in school
of accounting at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in
Chengdu, Sichuan Province.

Currently, Mr. Yu is an independent non-executive director of Bank
of Chengdu Co., Ltd.* and an independent non-executive director of
HitGen Inc.,* both companies are listed on the SSE. Mr. Yu is currently
also an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the strategic committee of
Sichuan Expressway Company Limited, a company listed on the SSE and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yu also served as an independent director for several other public
companies listed on the SZSE and the SSE from 1998 to 2024, including
Chengdu Haoneng Technology Co., Ltd.* from May 2021 to May 2024.

Mr. Yu received a bachelor’s degree from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan Province in economics
(accounting) in July 1988, a master’s degree in economics (accounting)
in December 1992 and a doctoral degree in management (accounting)
in March 2002. Through his professional qualification as a chartered
public accountant, his education background in accounting and his
previous experience as an independent non-executive director of public
companies, he meets the criteria for accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the view that Mr. Yu's background and experience
in internal controls and reviewing and analysing audited financial
statements of a public company that he gained when he was serving
as a member or chairman of the audit committees of various public
companies enables him to meet the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Liu, aged 62, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Liu is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Liu has been working at Sichuan
Metallurgical Design and Research Institute since July 1987, engaging in
project consulting, beneficiation process and mining design, feasibility
study and relevant engineering design work and specialising in mineral
processing engineering. His past experiences in mining design projects
include constructing iron concentrate production lines of various
capacities and mining operations planning for vanadium-bearing titano
magnetite mines. He is the deputy chief engineer and the chief project
designer of the mining engineering institute of Sichuan Metallurgical
Design and Research Institute. He is also a Work Safety Expert in
Sichuan* appointed by the Department of Emergency Management of
Sichuan Province. Mr. Liu graduated from the faculty of mining resource
engineering of Xi'an Metallurgy and Architecture College*, now known
as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology, in Shaanxi and
received a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1987.

Mr. Wu Wen

Mr. Wu, aged 55, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 1 November 2014. Mr. Wu is also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is
a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. Wu graduated from Peking University
School of Law in 1990. Mr. Wu obtained a Juris Doctor degree from
Northwestern School of Law of Lewis and Clark College in 1998.
Mr. Wu worked as an associate of Sichuan Canway Law Firm from
August 1998 to May 2002 and later became a partner from February
2003 to December 2008. Mr. Wu also worked as legal counsel in Kodak
(China) Company Limited from May 2002 to December 2002. Mr. Wu
practiced law as a partner of Tahota Law Firm from February 2009 to
February 2014. Since March 2014, Mr. Wu has been a partner of Zhong
Lun Law Firm. Mr. Wu is a member of the Chinese Bar Association.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management
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Mdm. Tang Guogiong

Mdm. Tang, aged 61, has held various positions at the Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics (“SWUFE"”) since July 1988, and
she has been appointed a professor at SWUFE since November 2009.
She has received numerous recognition for her works from, among
others, the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China,
People's Government of Sichuan Province, China National MPAcc
Education Steering Committee, Sichuan Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and SWUFE for her contribution and/or publication of
academic papers and research articles in her fields of accounting and
finance expertise.

Currently, Mdm. Tang serves as an independent director for other
publicly listed companies. Specifically, Mdm. Tang has been appointed
independent director of SI-TECH Information Technology Co., Ltd (listed
on the SZSE); Tiangi Lithium Corporation (dual-listed on the SZSE and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; and Sichuan Mingxing Electric Power
Co., Ltd (listed on the SSE).

Mdm. Tang also served as an independent director for several other
public companies listed on the SZSE and the SSE from 2008 to 2024,
including Cheng Du Sheng Nuo Biotec Co., Ltd. (listed on the SSE) from
December 2018 to January 2024.

Mdm. Tang obtained her bachelor's, master’s and Ph.D. degrees in
accounting from SWUFE in July 1985, July 1988, and June 2009,
respectively.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Hao is the chief executive officer of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.

Mr. Wang Hu
Mr. Wang is the head of legal and compliance of the Company. Details
of his biography are set out above in this section.
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Directors’ Report

HEGHGE

The Directors hereby present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are mining and ore processing, sale of
self-produced products, trading of steels, mining facilities management
and management of strategic investments. Details of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during FY2024 as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group's business, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report — Risk Management and
Internal Control” of this annual report. These discussions form part of
this Directors’ Report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance,
which gives appropriate cover for any legal action brought against its
Directors and officers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for FY2024 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 108 to 245 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

On 27 December 2018, the Board adopted a dividend policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company will maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its shareholder value. When considering
the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will consider a
number of factors, including but not limited to: (i) the Group'’s financial
results and cash flow position; (ii) the Group’s future operations and
earnings; (iii) the Group's expected capital requirements and expansion
plans; (iv) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level; (v) any
restrictions on payment of dividends under any financial covenant
undertaken by the Group; (vi) the retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;
(vii) the Shareholders’ expectations and industry norms; and (viii) the
general market conditions.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend to the
Shareholders for FY2024 (FY2023: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 21 May 2025 to Monday, 26 May 2025 (both days
inclusive) during which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order
to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM,
all share transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-
1716, 17% Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 May
2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during FY2024 in the Group’s property, plant
and equipment are set out in note 12 to the financial statements of this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company during FY2024. Details of the movements during the year in
the issued share capital of the Company are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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HPEGHREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements during FY2024 in the reserves of the Group
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
112 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles were
RMB1,877.5 million.

Under the Companies Act, subject to the provision of the Articles, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company in paying
distributions or dividends to its members or in paying up unissued
shares to be issued to its members as fully paid bonus shares provided
that no distribution or dividend may be paid to members out of the
share premium account unless, immediately following the date on
which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The reserves of the Company available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purposes, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by reference
to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the PRC. These distributable profits differ from
those that are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with the IFRSs.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 246 to
248 of this annual report.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Details of the loans and borrowings of the Group for FY2024 are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For FY2024 and FY2023, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 94.2% and 96.9% of the total revenue of the Group,
respectively, and sales to the largest customer accounted for 27.9%
and 51.5%, respectively.
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During the year, the Group’s customers were highly concentrated
primarily given its business strategy. Specifically, the Group's only
supplies steels and iron-related products in bulk to customers who have
good credit records and require stable supply. The Group’s core strategy
emphasises on staying competitive, maintaining optimal business
volumes with customers backed by good repayment records while
achieving profitability and generating operating cash flows without
overstretching its working capital. The Group has also adopted prudent
internal credit assessment policies to ensure that there will not be any
significant changes in the credit risk profiles of its potential customers.
Specifically, The Group has also been mindful of not over-diversifying
its customer base amidst heightened credit risk environment in China.
The Group was aware of the risk of a concentrated customer base and
has entered into non-exclusive sales agreements with several potential
customers. Pursuant to the agreements, the Group is able to sell any of
our products to the potential customers without any restrictions.

For FY2024 and FY2023, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 93.5% and 94.4% of the total purchases of the
Group, respectively, and purchases from the largest supplier accounted
for 74.5% and 83.8%, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5.0%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
are as follows:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Executive Directors
Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Wang Hu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

Mdm. Tang Guogiong

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 37 to
42 of this annual report.
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In accordance with Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles, Messrs. Hao
Xiemin and Wang Hu will retire at the 2025 AGM and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the 2025 AGM. In accordance
with Article 83(3) of the Articles, Mdm. Tang Guogiong, who was
appointed as a Director on 31 December 2024, shall hold office only
until the 2025 AGM and being eligible, offer herself for re-election at
the 2025 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mdm. Tang Guogiong, an independent non-executive Director newly
appointed with effect from 31 December 2024, entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 31 December 2024.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has
entered into any service agreement with the Company which is not
terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the
Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICIES

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group.

When compared to other employees of the Group, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management place a heavier
weight on their time commitment, responsibilities and contributions
to the Group and the prevailing market conditions. The emolument
policies of the Directors and senior management are overseen by the
remuneration committee of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes are set out in the section headed
“Share Options” of this report and note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

B RAB]FE84(1) R84 E T B E R T E
TERNR2025FRRBFAE LEHFRERSE
NEBERTEEA20SERFBEFAT LES
B IRAMAIZHE83(3)1& » 722024%F12831H
BEZIAZEENERELZ LT 2 EHERE2025
FRRBFAGEAI ERTEERLBER
2025FREBEFAEG LIHETEE-

EENRBEL

H2024F 12831 HEMEZBIFFERITES
EEBZTEABARATTLESERGE  EHEE
2024512831 HiEst A=

BRI2025FRRBEFAELEREEINES
MEARQATFTILERNTER —ERNTFRE
CEEBBERRIN MAR LERIARTS H5% o

£
EEFHREERE BE RERAEEEE
BE-

EEFNOFBRNEFRECHBREAME
8o

B <& B SR

AEENMEERIEERIR KR ENRTEH
LERRAAEE -FHMETBE—REEHFT -BEE
BB EIMARR B EREEHHIE
TBIEAL

HEAEREMES EFRsREEBNH
MEBRBIEREHAERANFHRI EE
REMURER TR EF koK EERED
THERARADNHFMNEEGEE -

ZERNIPESBINFBEHENERS TR
B - R EREEMBRERME28

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of their independence in respect of
the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.

At the end of FY2024, Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu Wen
have served on the Board for more than nine (9) years since their
appointments. In view of this, both the Nomination Committee and
the Board are of the view that Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu
Wen have individually demonstrated strong independence character,
sound judgement and professional opinions over the years in discharging
their duties and responsibilities as independent non-executive Directors
of the Company. The Board believes that continued contribution will
provide stability and benefits to the Board and the Company as a whole.
Their invaluable knowledge of the Group's operations and the industry,
accumulated over the years, enables them to offer critical insights and
balanced perspectives, which are instrumental in driving the Company’s
long-term success. Notwithstanding the above, pursuant to code
provision B.2.4(b) of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed Mdm. Tang
Guogiong as an additional independent non-executive Director during
FY2024. The Board is of the view that the appointment of Mdm. Tang
Guogiong will strengthen the Board’s independence and diversity.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, are as follows:
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Long positions in share options granted by the
Company

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to all the Directors and
chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code to
be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

At the 2020 AGM, an ordinary resolution to adopt a new share option
scheme (the "2020 Option Scheme”) was approved to ensure the
continuity of the Company's share option scheme after the expiration
of a prior share option scheme on 14 April 2020 (the “2010 Option
Scheme”). The 2020 Option Scheme has become effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on 16 June 2020. Outstanding share options
granted during the life of the 2010 Option Scheme prior to its expiry
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the 2010 Option Scheme. During the Reporting Period, all 9,600,000
outstanding share options granted under the 2010 Option Scheme
lapsed on 14 April 2024.
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Details of the share options movement during the Reporting Period 2010FHAREST 8 T RSP EARE N SRS HA N &

under the 2010 Option Scheme are as follows: BT -
No. of No. of
share options  share options No. of
Exercise outstanding  lapsed during  share options
price per asat the Reporting held as at
Name or category of participant Date of grant  Exercise period™ share option 01.01.2024 Period® 31.12.2024
120245 120245

1818 RIREHA 128318

ERiHE B RITER BAKN FENER

S2HEATHRHER R BB fTfERo ﬁﬁ% RGEEHE ROBEHEQ HEHE
HKD
(B7)

1. Directors/chief executives of the Company

KARER/RETHAR

Mr. Wang Hu (Exgcutive Director) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to0 14.04.2024 1.00 400,000 (400,000) -
EREE BTES) 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000 (200,000) -
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000 (200,000) -
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr; Hao Xiemin (_Executive Director) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000 (50,000) -
MHBELE RTES) 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 (25,000) -
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 (25,000) -
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Yu Haizong 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to0 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000 (50,000) -
(Independent Non-executive Director) 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
FEREE BIUFRTES) 15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 (25,000) -
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 (25,000) -
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Liu Yi (Indgpendent$Non-executive Director)  15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000 (50,000) -
AREE BUFRTES) 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 (25,000) -
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 (25,000) -
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
2. Eméloyees of the Group 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 4,250,000 (4,250,000) -
*EEESR 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000 (2,125,000) -
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000 (2,125,000) -
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Total: 9,600,000 (9,600,000) -
fazt
Notes: Mt -
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the respective dates of 1. ROHENEBHAREEEL BHERET
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. fEHRRR IR 2% Lk o
2. During the Reporting Period, all 9,600,000 outstanding share options 28 REIREEAR  BEB2010FEHHEFZEREH
granted under the 2010 Share Option Scheme lapsed on 14 April 9,600,00014 M KITHER (K A2 I E 502024
2024 and there were no share options granted, exercised or cancelled. FAR14E R UERDEARERH BT
Following the lapse of these share options, there are no longer FEREFHHE - RZERGOERRINE  BE
outstanding share options under the 2010 Option Scheme. 2010FHAME TR B M RITEN D EARE -
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Summary of the 2020 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2020 Option Scheme are: (i) to provide
incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Company; and (ii)
to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The
eligible persons include any director(s), chief executive(s) (as defined
under the Listing Rules), employee(s) (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group, and any substantial Shareholder(s) (as
defined under the Listing Rules), suppliers, customers, contractors,
service providers, agents, advisers, consultants, joint venture partners
and business partners, of any member of the Group, who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2020 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under all schemes
adopted by the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 224,901,541
Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares then in issue as
at the date of adoption of the 2020 Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed under the 2020 Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The maximum number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible person under the 2020 Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
number of share options available for grant under the scheme mandate
of the 2020 Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December
2024, respectively, is 224,901,541. The Company had 224,901,541
Shares available for issue under the 2020 Option Scheme, which
represented 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this annual
report.

2020F HATEST IR
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Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (i) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options is
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.

Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2020 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing to
the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the number
of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years
from the date of grant. The 2020 Option Scheme is valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from the date of approval of the
2020 Option Scheme. The 2020 Option Scheme will expire on 15 June
2030 and no option may be granted thereafter.
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The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of: (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day).
In the event of a grantee ceasing to be an eligible person for any
reason other than: (i) by reason of summary dismissal for misconduct
or other breach of the terms of his employment or other contract
constituting him an eligible person, or appears either to be unable to
pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his debts
or has become insolvent or has made any arrangement or composition
with his creditors generally or on which he has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty; or (ii) by death,
the option may be exercised within one month after the date of such
cessation, which date shall be: (i) if he is an employee of any member
of the Group, his last actual working day with such member of the
Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not; or (ii) if he is
not an employee of any member of the Group, the date on which the
relationship constituting him as an eligible person ceases.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme at the 2020 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its parent companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2024, persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short

positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Long positions in Shares:

Directly Through

beneficially parties acting

Name Notes owned in concert
BB

L g Mzt BHEBEZER TBHALESR

Trisonic International

1,4 &5 1,006,754,000

B E R 134525

Kingston Grand 1,2&4 - 1,006,754,000
1 2K4

Mr. Wang Jin 1,4&5 - 1,006,754,000

FHkE 14525

Mr. Yang Xianlu 4 - 1,006,754,000

BTt 4

Mr. Wu Wendong 4 - 1,006,754,000

BXEELE 4

Mr. Li Hesheng 1&4 - 1,006,754,000

FMBITE 154

Mr. Shi Yinjun 1&4 - 1,006,754,000

AiREIE 154

Mr. Zhang Yuangui 1&4 - 1,006,754,000

RIEE L 1524

Long Sino International Limited 2,3 & 4 - 1,006,754,000
2 3Kk4

Mr. Zou Hua 3&4 - 1,006,754,000

aRESRE 34

Dujiangyan branch of

Directors’ Report
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FERRKRHEMA LR KR
FARR (7 B R &5

MAERBDEFHARSTHAERRM > 122024
F128318 RIRHDIABRARMD T HEAREE
FREERABXVEE2RE3ID BRI EAM
ERBRBHINERBDRBESTRPEFEHE
336MRAFENE LM EmIKANAL
(FRABEFHAESTHRASRN WOTF

RRBEEFE :

Bank of China Limited -
FEIERTTRRID B IR A E)
EIES 1T

Erie Investments Limited

202,892,000 =

Held in the

capacity of
a person Percentage
having of the
a security Company'’s
interest issued
in Shares Total share capital
UEEBRG, AT
IRIREE AL BEITRE
NEHEE “gm BOL
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
614,080,000 614,080,000 27.30%
- 202,892,000 9.02%
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Notes:

1. The issued share capital of Trisonic International is held in the following
manner: 3.0% by Mr. Li Hesheng, 42.6% by Mr. Wang Jin, 7.2% by Mr. Shi
Yinjun, 7.2% by Mr. Zhang Yuangui and 40.0% by Kingston Grand.

2. The issued share capital of Kingston Grand is 100% held by Long Sino
International Limited.

3. The issued share capital of Long Sino International Limited is 100% held
by Mr. Zou Hua.

4. As at 31 December 2024, 1,006,754,000 Shares were held by Trisonic
International. Since Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang
Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited and Mr. Zou Hua are parties
acting in concert with each other, each of Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang
Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited and Mr. Zou Hua was deemed
to be interested in 1,006,754,000 Shares held by Trisonic International.

5. Mr. Wang Jin is a director of Trisonic International.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to restrict competition activities between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company, the Controlling Shareholders entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated
23 September 2009 (the “Non-Competition Deed”).

The undertakings and covenants stipulated under the Non-Competition
Deed cover any business which involves ore processing and sale of
iron concentrates, iron pellets, titanium concentrates and titanium
related downstream products or any other business from time to time
conducted by any member of the Group (the “Competing Business”) in
Hong Kong, the PRC or such other part of the world where any member
of the Group carries on its business from time to time other than the
mines owned or operated by Weixi Guangfa and Yanyuan Xiwei.

BfH5E -

1. SREBENEETRABENBLERE
3.0% HEHMEERFFEL2.6% BHAEIEBEL
SRET2% BRESERERFET 2% KH
Kingston Grand#§7540.0% °

2. Kingston GrandfYE #4724 HLong Sino
International Limited#5%A&100%

3. Long Sino International Limitedy B 217 R4
S EESTERA100% °

4. 720245128318 1,006,754,0000% i& 1%
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Grand~ E¥SCE BB E RXERE

THBEE-RREBERE RESSLE Long

Sino International Limited &% S3EEdE A —
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Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Controlling Shareholders
having an opportunity to invest in, participate in, engage in, operate
or manage any Competing Business (the “Business Opportunity”) shall
notify the Company about such Business Opportunity in writing. The
Company shall have the first right of refusal under the same investment
terms to such Controlling Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders
shall implement the project only if the Company has confirmed that
it has no intention to invest, participate in, engage in or operate such
Business Opportunity as approved by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors and employment
contracts of full-time employees, the Company has not entered into
any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to manage
or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for the service contracts and share option schemes as disclosed
in this annual report, there were no transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group, to
which the Company, its parent companies, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” on pages 58 to 61 of this annual report and note
34 to the consolidated financial statements headed “Related Party
Transactions” on pages 230 to 233 of this annual report, no contracts
of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Company.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Provision of the CVT Guarantees by the Company
under the 2022 Master Guarantee Agreement and
2025 Master Guarantee Agreement

With reference to details as disclosed in section headed “Management
Discussion & Analysis — Contingent Liabilities and Financial Guarantees”
the Company has, on 16 May 2022, extended the CVT Guarantees by
entering into the 2022 Master Guarantee Agreement and the 2022
Counter Indemnity with Chengyu Vanadium Titano, Huili Caitong and
Xiushuihe Mining to continue the provision of the CVT Guarantees on
such terms and conditions contained therein. Given the Status Updates
and Ongoing Discussions, on 11 February 2025, notwithstanding
the maximum guaranteed amounts under the CVT Guarantees were
RMB690.0 million as at 31 December 2024, the Company has entered
into the 2025 Master Guarantee Agreement with the Borrowers and
Chengyu Vanadium, pursuant to which the Company will continue
to provide the CVT Guarantees based on the maximum guaranteed
amounts estimated to be not more than RMB930.0 million for the year
ending 31 December 2027, while Chengyu Vanadium will continue
to provide the counter-indemnity in favour of the Company and the
Borrowers will continue to pay annual guarantee fees to the Company,
for a term of three years ending on 31 December 2027. The 2025
Master Guarantee Agreement shall be condition upon the approval of
the independent shareholders of the 2025 EGM.

For further details of the 2022 Master Guarantee Agreement, the
2025 Master Guarantee and Status Updates, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 16 May 2022, 28 March 2024,
19 June 2024, 19 August 2024, 21 August 2024, 15 November 2024,
23 December 2024, 11 February 2025 and 4 March 2025; the circulars
of the Company dated 10 June 2019, and 8 June 2022; and the section
of this annual report titled “Management Discussion & Analysis —
Contingent Liabilities and Financial Guarantees — Financial guarantees
for former subsidiaries prior to the 2019 Disposal”.
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2023 Framework Agreements

As a continuity of the 2022 Framework Agreements which expired on
31 December 2022, on 13 December 2022, Sichuan Lingwei (as service
provider) entered into the 2023 Framework Agreements. Pursuant to
the 2023 Framework Agreements, Sichuan Lingwei shall provide facility
management services, comprising operational site routine services,
mining engineering support services and consultancy services (the "FM
Services”), to the mining camps of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and
Yanyuan Xigang for the period from 31 January 2023 to 31 December
2025. The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
2023 Framework Agreements for the years ending 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 are RMB26,000,000, RMB34,000,000 and
RMB34,000,000, respectively. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders
collectively hold more than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium
Titano, which in turn wholly owns Huili Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining
is in turn a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Huili Caitong. Further,
Yanyuan Xigang is ultimately held indirectly as to more than 30%
by the Relevant Substantial Shareholders. Accordingly, each of Huili
Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Yanyuan Xigang is an associate of the
Relevant Substantial Shareholders and therefore is a connected person
of the Company, and the transactions contemplated under the 2023
Framework Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 13 December 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 10 January 2023 for further details.
The 2023 Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereafter were approved by independent Shareholders in the 2023
EGM.

Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract
of significance has been entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the substantial Shareholders during FY2024.
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Annual review conducted by the independent
non-executive Directors on the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions
were entered into:

o in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
. on normal commercial terms or better; and
o in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the

relevant transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Annual review conducted by the auditor of

the Company on the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (revised)
“Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The Company’'s auditor has issued his
unmodified limited assurance report containing his findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this annual report in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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The auditor of the Company has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above and confirmed to the Board that:

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;

o for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group;

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

J nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the amount of each of the transactions has exceeded its
specific amount mentioned above.

The Company confirms that the execution and performance of the
specific agreements in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions during FY2024 were in compliance with the pricing
principles of such continuing connected transactions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures.

The audit committee currently comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Wu Wen
and Mdm. Tang Guogiong (newly appointed on 31 December 2024).

During FY2024, the audit committee has reviewed: (i) the audited
consolidated financial statements and annual results announcement of
the Group for FY2023; (ii) the consolidated financial statements and
interim results announcement of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2024; and (iii) the risk management and internal control system
of the Group. Details of the risk management and internal control of
the Group are set out on pages 90 to 96 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman), Mr. Yu Haizong
and Mdm. Tang Guogiong (newly appointed on 31 December 2024);
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Hu.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee currently comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman) and four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Wu
Wen, and Mdm. Tang Guogiong (newly appointed on 31 December
2024).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions relating to pre-emptive rights over the Shares
under the Articles or exist in the Cayman Islands.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the Model Code throughout FY2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to pages
68 to 100 of this annual report.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES' INFORMATION

Save for the following:

(i) the appointment of Mr. Teh Wing Kwan as a lead independent
non-executive director of Sapphire Corporation Limited on
25 July 2024;

(i) the appointment of Mr. Yu as an independent non-executive
director of Chengdu Bank Co., Ltd. on 13 November 2024; and

(i) the appointment of Mdm. Tang Guogiong as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect from
31 December 2024.

there has been no change in directors’ and chief executives’ information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During FY2024, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in the
ordinary course of business are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. The Company has complied
with the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules for those
related party transactions which constituted connected transaction/
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, as disclosed
in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” on
pages 58 to 61 of this annual report. Save for the abovementioned,
other related party transactions as set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements either did not constitute connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions or constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief and as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

(i) Employees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 356
dedicated full time employees, representing an increase of
approximately 12% as compared to the previous year. Almost all
of the Group's employees are based in the PRC. The employee
turnover rate for the year was approximately 16.6%. The total
full-time employees included 117 female employees and 239
male employees, of which 32 employees were aged 30 or
below, 148 employees were aged between 31 and 40, 116
employees were aged between 41 and 50, and 60 employees
were aged 51 or above. Management maintained good
communications with the employees and encouraged feedback
from them. The proper training programmes were implemented
in order to promote employees’ career development and
progression within the Group. The Group evaluated the
employees' performance regularly, and promotions and further
training were provided when necessary.
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(i)

(iii)

Suppliers

During the year, the Group's suppliers mainly consisted of
mining contractors, transportation contractors, suppliers of
production-related materials and trading companies. The Group
selected the suppliers based on various criteria, including
but not limited to qualifications and reputation. The Group
has established a long-term relationship with the major
mining contractor for more than 12 years, the transportation
contractors for more than 10 years, and both the suppliers of
production-related materials and trading companies for more
than 10 years. The Group has continued to maintain sound
business relationships with major suppliers, and no incidents
that will adversely affect the Group’s product supply have
occurred during the year.

Customers

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 94.2% of the total revenue. These customers,
primarily distributors and trading companies, rely on the Group
for a stable supply of raw materials in bulk. The Group has
maintained strong, long-term relationships with these customers
for 9 years. While the Group expects that its customer base for
the business will remain highly concentrated, the Group is also
mindful of not over-diversifying its customer base amidst the
heightened credit risk environment in China.

Please refer to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report for more details of the Group’s trading terms with
its customers as set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
The Company has always been closely communicating with its
stakeholders, actively responding to their needs, and taking those
into consideration during the corporate strategy formulation and
decision-making process. The Company sees sustainable development as

the key for a corporation to succeed and therefore, it aims to seek a win-

win situation for the Group, society and the environment by balancing
the creation of economic value and the impact on the environment.
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The Group strictly complies with various national environmental
protection laws and regulations. It has implemented a series of
measures to alleviate environmental impacts of ore mining, processing
and transporting. The Group has established rules for pollutant control
and waste disposal, including the proper way of handling airborne
dust, waste oil, noise, mine rocks and tailings generated during ore
mining and the promotion of waste recycling. The Group has also
brought in new equipment to improve resource use efficiency and built
tailings pond to control ecological impact and improve water resources
recycling; electricity consumption has been reduced by improving the
Group's facilities and technologies and increasing the proportion of new
energy purchases such as hydropower, thereby controlling greenhouse
gas emission. The Group supports green operations and encourages its
employees to adopt environmentally friendly working habits. For further
information about the Company’s environmental performance during
the year, please refer to the Company’s separate Environmental, Social
and Governance Report which is available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in China, while the Company listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group accordingly shall comply
with the Listing Rules, SFO and the relevant laws and regulations in
China and the respective places of incorporation of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

The Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements
through various measures such as internal controls, trainings and
oversight of various business units at different levels of the Group.
The Group highly values the importance of ensuring compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Forvis
Mazars CPA Limited, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the 2025 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Forvis Mazars CPA Limited as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Teh Wing Kwan
Chairman

27 March 2025
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The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. The Directors consider that during FY2024, the Company
has complied with the applicable code provisions under the CG Code.

The Directors are not aware of any other information that reasonably
reveals that there is any non-compliance with or deviation from
applicable code provisions on corporate governance practices set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules by the Company anytime during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the Model Code throughout FY2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS EFg

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive Directors, EERRNHATES FRTESTRELIF
a non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors. HITESENR - EV—LBUFNTEEESR

At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses EHRAERNBEEE XS (R sTHAERR
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related HEEREMNHM) BN EETZHERERE
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. This BRI EAERE£B RN ERRETMEENEE

provides a healthy professional relationship between the Board and G- BEGNBIEMEIBRESLRH BU%
senior management in the process of formulating business strategies EEEERE %STFTELZEGABTREZEG H

for the Group. The Board is also supported by other key committees to MEEERRELAEES TEHBEIIIENTE
provide independent oversight of management. These key committees BHEB R AFRAR ESeNERKEZES
are the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination wr

committee and are made up of a majority of independent non-executive

Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the composition and

committees of the Board are as follows:

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board members committee committee committee

EXEgmE B%EEY HINEES R2ZEEE

Non-executive Director

EHMITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan - - C
BBk ST

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Hao Xiemin - _ _
it G

Mr. Wang Hu - M -
FrREE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIUFERITES

Mr. Yu Haizong C M M
REBREE

Mr. Liu Vi M C M
2T E

Mr. Wu Wen M = M
BXEE

Mdm. Tang Guogiong M M M
EEEL

Notes: M -

C: Chairman C xE
M: Member M: B
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Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 37 to
42 of this annual report.

Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu, each being an executive Director,
entered into a new service contract with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2023. The appointment of
each of the executive Directors may be terminated in accordance with
the terms and conditions of their respective service contracts and/or by
either party to the service contract giving to the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, each an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a new letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2023. Mr. Wu
Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2023. Mdm. Tang Guogiong, an
independent non-executive Director, entered into a new letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 31 December 2024. The appointment of each of the independent
non-executive Directors is subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the chairman and non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 26 July 2017
pursuant to which his appointment is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The appointment of Mr. Teh is terminable
by either party to the letter of appointment by giving the other party
not less than two months' prior notice in writing.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of their independent pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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In accordance with the CG Code under the Listing Rules, where
code provision B.2.4 of the CG states that where all the independent
non-executive directors of an issuer have served more than nine years on
the Board, the issuer should appoint a new independent non-executive
director. At the end of FY2024, Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu
Wen have served on the Board for more than nine (9) years since their
appointments. In view of this, both the NC and the Board are of the
view that Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu Wen have individually
demonstrated strong independence character and judgement over the
years in discharging their duties and responsibilities as independent non-
executive Directors of the Company. The Board believes that continued
contribution will provide stability and benefits to the Board and the
Company as a whole, especially their invaluable knowledge of the Group
and its operations gained through the years.The Company has also
appointed a new independent non-executive director as announced by
the Company on 31 December 2024 in compliance with code provision
B.2.4 of the CG Code.

The key roles of the Board are:

o to guide the overall development, corporate strategies and
directions of the Group, approve the Board policies, strategies
and financial objectives of the Group and monitor the
performance of management;

o to ensure effective management leadership of the highest
quality and integrity;

o to approve major funding proposals and investments; and
o to provide overall insight in the proper conduct of the Group'’s
business.

The Board has delegated certain functions to the relevant Board
committees, details of which are disclosed below. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management
of the Company under the supervision of the executive Directors. The
functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

BB EDHRTHEEERTR > HRFRIME
XB.2 AP BE T ANEFTERNMAERIL
FRTEFHEEBBNTF  BETABREE—
LRBBILIFITES - N2024 BEE M
B BIREE - REBRAERREEBESE
EEREFEEEBENOF It - BLEE
EREFEXRIARAEE - RBFEERREX
EENBEZFERERTDNEBILIFANTES
BTRHERBERICENRBIERRE T
KA -EFERE BENFBERKERE
FERARDEESRRBEL kL LHZE
HARREHAERREEFEFERZENE
BEM# - ARBTR _B_MF+_A=+—
BREE—%MNEIIFATES UTE
EFEEBTRBTAMRXB.2.4°

EFENIBRERD

. EEAEERNERLERE REDRBES
Mo MEEFEETHR AEERE R
BER UKEREEBNKIE;

. ERrreEBERREBEHNENEES
5,

. HETZEDHEIRKRE K

. MEBETAEREBHERRES

EFCgCEEBNDIETHEHREFEZE S 5
BRIXEE - AEREBNASEEEER
FARBDEER URATEFEE -HILER
NIEERBOEEZ ERBRS UERERITE

L A2
2o He°

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



During FY2024, the Company held four regular Board meetings for
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance,
considering the overall strategies and policies of the Group. In
accordance with code provision C.5.3, a notice convening the Board
meeting was dispatched to the Directors at least 14 days before the
date of such Board meeting and sets out the matters to be discussed.
All the Directors were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for the Board meeting and had access to the company secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to ensure that all board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations were followed.
The Board also enabled the Directors to seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense in appropriate circumstances.

The management provides the Board with information on the financial
performance, operational performance, business developments and
other important and relevant information so that it may effectively
discharge its duties. On an on-going basis, all Directors have separate
and independent access to the management should they have any
queries or require additional information on the affairs of the Group.
In addition, the management keeps the Board apprised of the Group's
operations and performance through monthly updates, informal
discussions and meetings.

At the meetings of the Board or Board Committees, the Directors were
provided with the relevant documents to be discussed and approved.
The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping minutes for the
Board and Board Committee meetings and such minutes are open for
inspection by the Directors. Minutes of the Board and Board Committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient detail as to the matters considered
and decisions made. Draft and final version of the minutes of the
Board and Board Committee meetings are sent to the Directors/Board
Committee members for their comment within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held.

All Directors are required to disclose their business interests and any
potential or actual conflicts of interest that they are aware of, or as
soon as such conflicts become apparent. During FY2024, on matters
that might have given rise to a conflict of interest, the interested
Directors had in all cases disclosed such conflict at the relevant Board
and Board Committee meetings and had abstained from voting in
respect of the matters/transactions in which such Director(s) is/are
interested.
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During FY2024, the Company held one annual general meeting. The
following is the attendance record of the meetings of the Board, audit
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and the
Shareholders during FY2024:

R2024H BMEFE > A RBBRT—RRRBEF
RE-UTRQUMBFERNEFTG EZEES
T HFMEEE RREETRRRARGHHE
AoER

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

HEEERY BTEERY

Audit
Board committee
Name of Directors meeting meeting
BEZEZEE
EEls EFEgER g3
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan 4/4 -
KSR E
Mr. Hao Xiemin 4/4 -
T 8 B S
Mr. Wang Hu 4/4 -
ER&E
Mr. Yu Haizong 4/4 3/3
RBREE
Mr. Liu Yi 4/4 3/3
2L
Mr. Wu Wen 4/4 3/3
Bkt
Mdm. Tang Guogiong"” - -
EEE O
Note:

(1

Mdm. Tang Guogiong was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 31 December 2024.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that board independence is a key component
of good corporate governance. To ensure that independent views
and input are readily available to the Board, we have established
mechanisms and conduct regular reviews at least on an annual basis to
guarantee their continued relevance and effectiveness.

Remuneration Nomination
committee committee General
meeting meeting meeting

FNEEE REEEY
& i REREAE
- 2/2 1171
- - 11
2/2 - 11
2/2 2/2 1171
2/2 2/2 11
- 2/2 11

B sE -

EEBLZLIRN _ZE_NE+_/F=+—H%#
REARABNBILIENTES-

(1

EFgHRIM
AATRBESEHIM RECEERNM
RED  AREEFEEREEEIRLERE
5 BMEHT#E LR ELEE—
R LUR BRSBTS B R B -
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These mechanisms include: (a) actively encouraging independent
non-executive Directors to participate in Board and Board committee
meetings, (b) ensuring that independent non-executive Directors have
adequate time to fulfill their duties as a Director of the Company,
(c) setting clear terms of reference for the nomination committee to
identify suitable candidates for appointment as Directors, including
assessing independence of independent non-executive Directors, and
(d) providing access to external independent professional advice as
required at the Company’s expense.

Additionally, we have a rigorous selection, nomination, and appointment/
re-appointment process for Directors, including independent non-
executive Directors, as set out in the section headed “Nomination
Policy” on pages 85 to 88 of this annual report. The remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors is also subject to regular review
mechanisms to ensure that their compensation remains competitive and
commensurate with their responsibilities and workloads.

During FY2024, the independent non-executive Directors met with the
Chairman at least once without the presence of any other Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contributions to
the Board remain informed and relevant.

All the Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates the
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All the Directors had provided the Company with their respective
training records pursuant to the CG Code. During the year, all the
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development by way of reading materials relevant to the Group's
business or to Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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The individual training record of each Director during FY2024 is set out
below:

Non-executive Director
EHITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

BBk ST

Executive Directors
BITES

Mr. Hao Xiemin
e

Mr. Wang Hu
FrREE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIUFERITES

Mr. Yu Haizong

RBREE

Mr. Liu Yi

& sE

Mr. Wu Wen

BXEE

Mdm. Tang Guogiong®

I £+

Notes:

(1) Reading relevant materials and updates relating to the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties;

(2) Reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

(3) Mdm. Tang Guogiong was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 31 December 2024.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Company's chairman and the chief executive are
segregated. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan is the chairman of the Board who is
primarily responsible for managing the Board and acting in the best
interests of the Group and the Shareholders, while Mr. Hao Xiemin is
the chief executive officer of the Company who takes charge of the
supervision of the execution of the policies determined by the Board.

The chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Board meeting, taking into account matters proposed by the
other Directors for inclusion in the agenda. The chairman chairs the
Board meetings and seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues to be discussed at the Board meetings and receive
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The chairman
also ensures that the Board members work together with the
management with the capability and authority to engage management
in constructing views on various matters, including strategic issues and
business planning processes.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Directors will receive a formal letter of appointment
outlining their duties and responsibilities. They will also be provided
with the codes of corporate governance, the model code for securities
transactions by directors, terms of reference for the Board committee(s)
to which they are appointed, and other relevant materials to help
them fulfill their roles as Directors. For her role as a newly appointed
Director, Mdm. Tang confirmed that she has obtained legal advice
referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules and she understood
her obligations as a director of a listed issuer and the possible
consequences of making false declarations or giving false declarations
to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or, if the number is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third shall retire from the office and shall be eligible for re-election.
The Directors to retire by rotation shall be those who have been longest
in office since their last appointment or re-election. Every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. Any other appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Directors will be timely disclosed to the Shareholders by
announcement and such announcement shall include, the reasons given
by the Director for his resignation.
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The Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship with
regard to the balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
Group's business.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The audit committee
currently comprises four independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yu
Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Wu Wen and Mdm. Tang Guogiong.
The audit committee’s main functions are:

. to be responsible for the relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, including making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and to develop and
implement policy on the engaging of an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

o to monitor the integrity of the consolidated financial statements
and annual/interim reports and quarterly reports (if prepared
for publication) and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and

o to oversee the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems.
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During the year, the audit committee held three meetings and
performed the following major tasks:

o reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements and
annual results announcement of the Group for FY2023, and
reviewed the consolidated financial statements and interim
results announcement of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2024;

o reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impact on the consolidated financial statements;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s qualifications,
independence and performance;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s statutory audit plan,
audit scopes and engagement letters; and

J assisted the Board to evaluate on the adequacy and
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
as well as the internal audit function of the Group and financial
reporting procedures.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
which directly reports to the audit committee. The internal audit
personnel will attend the audit committee meetings and report on
internal audit matters annually. If there is any material internal control
defect, the internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit
committee without limitation. The audit committee assists the Board
in monitoring the risk exposure, design and operating effectiveness
of the relevant risk management and internal control systems. The
audit committee will report to the Board after properly reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems as well as the internal audit function.
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During FY2024, the audit committee has reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function. Details of the risk management and internal
control of the Group are set out on pages 90 to 96 of this annual
report. Additionally, the audit committee has reviewed and was satisfied
with the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The remuneration
committee currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman), Mr. Yu Haizong and Mdm. Tang
Guogiong and one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Hu.

The remuneration committee’s main functions are:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management's
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

. to review and approve performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

o to determine, with delegated responsibilities, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors or senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;
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o to consider the granting of share options to Directors, chief
executives or employees of any member of the Group and any
eligible person who has contributed or will contribute to the
development and growth of the Group pursuant to the share
option schemes adopted by the Company;

o to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

. to review and approve the interim reports, annual reports,
announcements and circulars or any publication of the Company
regarding information on the remuneration and service contracts
of the Directors prior to approval by the Board.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two meetings, at
which the members of the remuneration committee:

o determined the policy for the remuneration of the Directors and
reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors;

. assessed the performance of the Directors; and
o considered and approved the terms of the Directors' service
agreements.

The Company considers various factors, such as performance,
experience, and competence, as well as comparable market
remuneration packages, when determining the compensation packages
for Directors and senior management. For further information on the
Company’'s emolument policies, please refer to page 48 of this annual
report.
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The remuneration paid/payable to senior management (comprising

Directors) for FY2024 by band is set out below:

Remuneration Director’s
Name of Director band fee
BEpy LMEE B3Hg

%

Non-executive Director
FHTES
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan HKD1,000,000 - 1,500,000 100
LY Sk 1,000,000-1,500,000%7%
Executive Directors
HiEER
Mr. Hao Xiemin RMB200,000 - 500,000 49
e A %200,000-500,0007T
Mr. Wang Hu RMB200,000 - 500,000 50
TREE A %200,000-500,0007T
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHGTES
Mr. Yu Haizong RMBnil - 200,000 100
RERELE ARHEZ-200,0007
Mr. Liu Yi RMBnil - 200,000 100
s ARHEZ-200,0007
Mr. Wu Wen RMBnil - 200,000 100
SNEE ARHZ-200,0007
Mdm. Tang Guogiong” RMBnil - 200,000 100
BEBR LY ARHEZ-200,0007
Note:
(1) Mdm. Tang Guogiong was appointed as an independent non-executive

director of the Company on 31 December 2024.

P04 BEE ) B ENBHREEAE (8
RES) WEHMEEHOT :

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Share scheme
in kind options  contributions Total
e Rk
BNER RpHE BAREHEIER EH
% % % %
- - - 100
45 - 6 100
44 - 6 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
BsE -

(1 EREZLHR _Z-_MOF+-/A=1+—H8%
ZERERBNBIUFRTES-

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The nomination
committee currently comprises the non-executive Director, Mr. Teh
Wing Kwan (Chairman), and four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Wu Wen and Mdm. Tang
Guogiong.

The nomination committee’s main functions are:

o to review the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with due
regard to the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) and
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) of the
Company and other factors which are relevant to the Company;

o to develop and formulate the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy for the Board’s consideration and approval;

o to discuss any revisions to the Nomination Policy and the
Board Diversity Policy that may be required, and recommend
such revisions to the Board for the Board’s consideration and
approval;

o to review, implement and monitor, as appropriate, the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

o to review measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing any of the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, and monitor the progress on achieving such
objectives;

o to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors with reference to, inter alia, the factors set out in the
Listing Rules and any other factors deemed appropriate by the
nomination committee or the Board and assess their ability to
devote sufficient time to the Board and Board committees;
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o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or

re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive;

o to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship; and

° to keep under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in
the market place.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy is concerned with achieving sustainable and
balanced development and increasing diversity in the Company as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development.

Board level

In this regard, the nomination committee has considered the
measurable objectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy, which are to
ensure that candidates of the Board are considered based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on merit and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
Board Diversity Policy is reviewed annually by nomination committee,
as appropriate, nomination committee will ensure the effectiveness
of such policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Currently, the Board consists of seven members, including two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and four independent
non-executive Directors who are of different ethnicities and with
professional experience and qualifications in various aspects, such as
financial management, law, compliance, accounting and mining. Having
regard to the composition of the Board and the measurable objectives,
the Company considers that the Board composition is sufficiently
diversified in terms of balance of skills and experience, which are
desirable for the effective management and sustainable development
of the Company. Moreover, with the appointment of Mdm. Tang to the
Board on 31 December 2024, Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules has been
complied with.
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Workforce level

The Group's primary business activities include mining, ore processing,
sales of mined and processed minerals, and trading of coal and steel.
Due to the unique nature of the industry, the majority of workers at
mine sites are men, with women comprising a minority. As disclosed on
page 64 of this annual report, the Company's workforce composition
is slightly skewed towards men. Given the characteristics of the mining
industry, setting measurable objectives for gender diversity at the
workforce level is not deemed appropriate.

The Company welcomes all genders to apply for positions. Our
recruitment strategy focuses on selecting the most suitable candidate
for each position, regardless of gender. We remain committed to
providing equal opportunities to all employees with regards to
recruitment, training and development, job advancement, remuneration
and benefits.

During the year, the nomination committee held one meeting, at which
the members of the nomination committee:

o reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Directors;
o evaluated the performance and contribution of the retiring

Directors; and

o assessed the independence of the retiring independent non-
executive Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and where applicable,
senior management prepared for Board positions under the succession
planning of the Company. The Nomination Policy sets out the following
key nomination criteria and procedures, among others, as follows:

(1) Nomination criteria
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity aspects
under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy;
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(2)

(iii) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

(iv) requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

(vi) willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company;

(vii)  such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the nomination committee from time
to time for nomination of directors and succession
planning; and

(viii)  such other factors set out in terms of reference of the
nomination committee.

Nomination procedures (2)

(a) Appointment of new Directors

(i) The nomination committee identifies individual(s)
suitably qualified to become Board members
based on its assessment on the character,
biographical information and other relevant
details of such individual(s), having due regard
to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of the
proposed independent non-executive Director(s)
as appropriate;

(i) If the nomination committee has identified more
than one individual who are suitably qualified
for directorship based on the above assessment,
the nomination committee should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each individual
(where applicable);
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

The Board considers the individual(s) recommended
by the nomination committee, having due regard
to the assessment of the nomination committee,
the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy;

The Board confirms the appointment of the
individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends the
individual(s) to stand for election at a general
meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board will be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders in accordance with the Articles; and

The Shareholders approve the election of
individual(s), who stand(s) for election at general
meeting, as Director(s).

b) Re-appointment of retiring Directors

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The nomination committee considers each retiring
Director based on its review of each retiring
Director's overall contribution, services to the
Company, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board, having due regard
to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of each
retiring independent non-executive Director;

The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

The Board considers each retiring Director
recommended by the nomination committee, having
due regard to the nomination committee's review
of each retiring Director, the Nomination Policy
and the Board Diversity Policy;

The Board recommends the retiring Directors
to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles; and
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(3)

4)

(v) The Shareholders approve the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting.

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all matters
relating to the selection and appointment of Directors. Where
the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as Director at a general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or
other applicable laws and regulations.

Principles considered by the nomination committee
In carrying out its responsibilities, the nomination committee
should give adequate consideration to the following principles:

(a) in relation to Board composition — the Board should have
a balance of skills, experience, diversity of gender and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business. It should ensure that changes to its composition
can be managed without undue disruption. It should
include a balanced composition of executive and non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) so that there is a strong independent element
on the Board, which can effectively enhance decision
making capability of the Board. Non-executive Directors
should be of sufficient calibre and number for their views
to carry weight; and

(b) in relation to appointments, re-election and removal —
there should be a formal, considered and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new Directors. There
should be plans in place for orderly succession for
appointments. All Directors should be subject to re-
election at regular intervals. The Company must explain
the reasons for the resignation or removal of any
Director.

Regular review

The nomination committee will conduct regular reviews on the
structure, size and composition of the Board, the Board Diversity
Policy, and the Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy and business needs.

(3)

4)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance functions as set out below:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

J to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance and legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

o to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board held four meetings, at which the Board
considered and discussed, among other things, the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors, as well as the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR

Forvis Mazars has been appointed with effect from 7 November 2023
to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Ernst & Young.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
7 November 2023.

Save as discussed above, there has been no change of auditor of the
Company in the past 3 years.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For FY2024, the remuneration paid/payable in relation to assurance and
non-assurance services (excluding out-of-pocket expenses and taxes) by
the Group to the Company’s current external auditor, Forvis Mazars CPA
Limited, is approximately RMB1,400,000 and RMB400,000, respectively.
The non-assurance services represented agreed-upon procedures on the
Company's interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND GOING CONCERN
STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for each financial period, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare audited accounts. Senior management
is required to present and explain the financial reporting and matters
that materially affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Group to the audit committee
and the Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the
audit committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the consolidated financial
statements of the Company on a going-concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.
The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the risk exposure,
design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The audit committee will report to the
Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
which directly reports to the audit committee. The internal audit
personnel will attend the audit committee meetings and report
on internal audit matters annually. If there is any material internal
control defect, the internal audit personnel directly reports to the
audit committee without limitation. Further, the Group appointed an
international advisory firm as an external advisor to provide internal
control services under a three-year rotation plan based on a risk-based
methodology.
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Under the supervision of the Board, the management of the Group
is responsible for designing and implementing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Group has set up three
lines of defense for risk management. As the first line of defense, the
business units (e.g., sales department and production department) are
responsible for identifying and assessing business risks and developing
risk mitigation measures. As the second line of defense, the functional
departments (e.g., compliance department and finance department)
are responsible for assisting the business units in improving risk
management and monitoring the effectiveness of risk management. As
the third line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Board
and the audit committee to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

As and when required during the year, the management convened
meetings which were chaired by the senior management with
attendants including managers from subsidiaries and department
heads from the headquarters. The Group’s decisions on operations,
implementation of investment projects, financial issues, and the
updates on risk management and internal control were considered and
determined at these meetings. The management convened annual and
interim work meetings in order to assign and review works on a yearly
basis and half yearly basis, respectively. The meetings have facilitated
the organisation, co-ordination, communication and supervision on the
commencement and implementation of the Group’s various operations,
as well as risk management and internal control systems.

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information include:

o the Company has established a sensitive information disclosure
policy, which specified the information disclosure process,
the confidentiality requirements of the undisclosed sensitive
information, and the confidentiality obligations of the
employees of the Group;

o the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

o confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations;
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o the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on

behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors;

. the service contracts of the Directors, senior management and
the employees of the Group specify the confidentiality clauses;
and

o the legal advisors of the Company regularly provide relevant

updates to the Board and senior management.

Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk management mechanism
guided by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework. The Board has
established risk management policies and measures on the procedures
of risk identification, evaluation, reporting and mitigation. The risk
management mechanism covers the whole Group’s various risks in the
business operations and management. The functional department of
risk management is the compliance department of the Group, which
reports to the audit committee and is responsible for the establishment
and operations of the risk management system and coordination of risk
management, supervision and evaluation of risk management, as well
as providing advice for material risk decisions.

The compliance department of the Group periodically collected risk
information and conducted risk evaluation through questionnaires,
workshops, management meetings, which were reported to senior
management in a timely manner. In FY2024, based on the Group's
production and business conditions, the compliance department
of the Group summarised a total of 77 risk factors, categorised as
strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk and financial risk. The
management scored the risk factors based on their understanding,
production and operational experience and determined the risk
mitigation and internal control measures to address the risks. The
identified top five risks for FY2024 are as below:
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S/N
R

2

Risk title
RE%EE

Remuneration, welfare
and talent retention risk

N BRI R AT 188 R

Industry scale risk

TTERRER

Mining management risk

i EERE R

Corporate Governance Report
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Description
Fi att

The Group relies on three (3) core groups of employees to run its operations, comprising:
(i) senior management and key managers; (ii) skilled engineers, safety officers and
mining geologist; and (iii) sales and marketing team. Talent retention is important to the
sustainable development of the Group. The continual success of the business depends
on the ability to retain these personnel as they possess the necessary skill sets and
experience to run the operations.

FEEFB=Q)ZZOMEERRKE X GiF (ISR EBERETELIE ;()ENT
B Z2FERRBEMESR ; R(iNHEHESHERKR B AT HAEBFELR
FEBE-ANZEAEHALSEGMENSERERER  WEBETRFERIIE

RINETIRBRE -

The market for talent in the PRC is highly competitive and the Group is exposed to the
risk of efforts by competitors or other corporates to entice its core employees to leave the
Group to join them. in addition, failure to maintain an attractive remuneration and staff
welfare structure internally may lead to the resignation of core employees and inability to
attract new talents. Should there be insufficient talented employees to run the Group’s
business, the Group may lose its competitive edge and the Group’s operations may be
adversely affected in the long term.

REAAMSHRFTIHI AEERHGFHFREMRAEBBERERZLES
BEBMBEATNER LI REBAIBRELERFERS| NDOVHMKEE TEAEE
FIEERZONVEEBREEREZRSIFASL AEBNMRZ RHNESFEELEER I
AR ERFEY REMEAEENEERNERITHEZE-

The Group's business activities are located mainly in the PRC and operate in a highly
competitive market. Sales of products and services are dependent, amongst other
external events, on the changes in economic conditions, industry structure, commodity
price volatility, government policies and environmental regulations.
REENEBEHIBMNFPE ERFIIINDIHEE FREMIMPBEAHII ERK
RFZAVEE EBURNER T ITELER AR ERRE  BUNBERRIRRERNEC-

The inability to achieve economies of scale poses a significant risk to the Group’s ability
to maintain competitive margins and a strong market position. Continuous monitoring
and strategic adjustments are essential to mitigate the risks.

BEZEBRAEKCE HAERRFARF NN BERRBEMIZMANENEREKRER
Mo BRI RETRBE U AERARERREREEZ -

Mining and processing operations are highly dependent on the use of heavy machinery
and equipment such as crushers, grinder machines and conveyor belts.

RERTEFESEGRERER MM RE > DI T R mE o

As the machines are subject to heavy usage, the level of wear and tear is high. Improper
use, repair and/or inadequate maintenance may lead to accidents that result in casualties,
fatalities, damage to machinery, environment, economic losses and prolonged operational
disruptions. In addition, insufficient and improper mine management and maintenance
may lead to soil erosion and mine accidents with similar adverse impacts.
HRERCEER EEEES WAEEA BER HERERBAIEERBELEEIN
BERABBU HEBBEE - RISRE - KBEBRRRRAEMERE LI BILEIEREE
FRERAEHEEHN T IERRMIELSEH SRBMUNTRZE-
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S/N  Risk title
weE REIRE
4 Investment strategy

5

and investment
implementation risk

Supplier risk

HEERR

Description
i pan

New investments, both locally and overseas, can be made in the form of a new setup,
the acquisition of an existing business or a joint venture. Such investments carry a risk of
failure. Overseas investments and investments in joint ventures inherently carry a higher
risk of failure due to: (i) a lack of visibility and knowledge of the business nature and
market; and (ii) high dependency on the other party which may or may not deliver on its
responsibilities respectively.

REBPINREAMARIT AT RWERE ARG RENTERETHRE MEF
FERBLRFMNEAR BIRERBENGECEATEERSNRELRT AR RE
ER(VRZHEBMERTISNERKDH ; R(VEEFBS—FH > METETHT 5k
TERBRITHE R

On top of the initial capital, the Group may need to continuously support the new
investments by extending financial resources such as loans or corporate guarantees.
BFRAOFTEERIN KEBETOUAETEFEEBENERIRTDEREUBERIIEME
ié\o

Post investment, investment may fail due to poor execution of the original investment
plan by local partners or inadequate monitoring. Failed investments may have an adverse
impact on the financial performance of the Group.

ETRER RENSGABMSEBRHHARKRESEANTAOHEETHMEF B
EHAEENMBRREM AT E-

The Group sources consumables, machinery and spare parts from different suppliers to
run its operations. As such, it is exposed to the risks of non-value for money purchases,
purchases of sub-standard goods or non-performing machinery, over-reliance on a single
supplier, insufficient production capacity and late deliveries.
REFERATEMHERREHED HERERIEUEEER AL REBAEHRE
BFRMEME- RBETOREGRATREM BEGBE —HER  EETERIER
REMER -

Key contributary factors to the above risks include the lack of adequate and effective
operating procedures on selection and continuation of suppliers, quality control on
receiving deliveries, procurement and production planning.
ERLAEENETIERZQEENRERAHER - REREBEE - RERLEERIAS
HIRZ EHEBMNIEERTF -
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Internal Control

The audit committee supervises and inspects the comprehensiveness
and implementation of the internal control system of the Group,
and regularly discusses with the management on the system in order
to ensure that the management performs its duties to establish an
adequate and effective internal control system.

The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the assets
of the Group and maintain proper accounting records, execution with
appropriate authority and compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations. The Board has established and evaluated the relevant
internal control system across three spectrums covering corporate
governance and system, business and accounting procedures and
information system control. The management, with oversight from the
Board, has established internal control and risk management systems
guided by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission’s Internal Control Integrated Framework. The main features
of the framework are as follows:

o control environment: including code of conduct and other
practices regarding acceptable business practice or expected
standards of ethical and moral behaviours, management of
conflict of interest, authority and responsibility, and legal and
regulatory compliance;

o risk assessment: including objective management, risk assessment
and management, and compliance management;

. control activities: including sales, trade receivables and collection,
procurement, trade payables and payment, production and
costing, human resources and payroll, assets management,
treasury, financial reporting, and information technology general
controls;

o information and communication: including forecasting and
budgeting, internal and external communication, confidentiality
and data protection; and

o monitoring activities: including internal audit function, and
reporting of internal control defects.

Corporate Governance Report
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During FY2024, the internal audit function of the Group, with the
assistance of an international advisory firm, performed an annual review
and self-assessment on the above internal control system in order to
monitor its operations in a timely manner. The main work procedures
included policy review, interview with key process owners, and sample
testing. As a result of the review, the Group updated the relevant
policies and procedures in accordance with the business operations and
practice of the Group. To address the 16 issues identified in the annual
review, the Group requested the relevant departments to take remedial
actions in a timely manner. The internal audit function together with
the international advisory firm reported the self-assessment and annual
review results to the audit committee. The Board, through the audit
committee, reviewed the work of the internal audit function as well.
After a follow-up review on the remedial actions taken to address
the identified issues, the Board was of the view that a proper internal
control system of the Group was established and executed, and no
significant area of concern which might affect the Shareholders was
found.

The Board conducts a review of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems at least once a year. The Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. During FY2024, the Board, through the
audit committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the systems of risk
management and internal control (including financial, operational and
compliance controls), and was of the view that the Group complied
with the CG Code on risk management and internal control and
concluded that the risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate, and such controls effectively mitigated the
risks that might have an impact on the Group in achieving its strategic
objectives.
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Whistleblowing

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted a whistleblowing policy to provide employees and relevant
third parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers,
creditors and debtors) with guidance and reporting channels to
raise concerns and/or report any suspected improprieties in any
matters related to the Group in confidence and anonymity. An email
account has been set up for this purpose. All reported matters will
be investigated independently, and, in the meantime, all information
received from a whistleblower and its identity will be kept confidential.
The Board and the audit committee will regularly review the
whistleblowing policy and mechanism to improve its effectiveness.

Anti-corruption

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the Board
has adopted an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy which outlines
guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all applicable laws
and regulations in relation to the anti-corruption and antibribery, the
responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to help the Group defend
against corrupt practices and to report any reasonably suspected case
of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof, to the management
or through an appropriate reporting channel. The Group would not
tolerate all forms of fraud and corruption among all employees and
those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group,
and in its business dealing with third parties. The Board and the audit
committee will review the anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy and
mechanism periodically to ensure its effectiveness and enforce the
commitment of the Group to the prevention, deterrence, detection and
investigation of all forms of fraud and corruption. Further details of
such policy can be found in the Company’s environmental, social and
governance report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Eng Wee has resigned as the Company Secretary on 10
March 2025. Following the resignation of Mr. Chong Eng Wee, Mr.
Leung Ming Shan, John Bosco has been appointed as the Company
Secretary on 10 March 2025, who will continue to report to the
chairman and the chief executive officer from time to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, Shareholder(s) holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, on a one vote per Share basis (the “Requisitionist(s)”)
may, by written requisition (the “Requisition”) to the Board or the
Company Secretary, require an extraordinary general meeting (the
"EGM") to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
or resolution specified in the Requisition. The Requisition shall be
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong. The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of
the Requisition. In the event that the Board fails to proceed to convene
the EGM within twenty-one days of the deposit of the Requisition, the
Requisitionist(s) may convene a physical meeting at only one location
which will be the principal meeting place (as defined in the Articles),
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In respect of other
enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong which will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Board has adopted a shareholders communication policy (the
“SCP") and the Board shall review it on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness. The Board is of the view that with the measures set
out below in place, the SCP is considered to have been effectively
implemented.
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Purpose

The SCP aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring
that Shareholders, both individual and institutional, in appropriate
circumstances, is provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material
developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to
allow Shareholders and to engage actively with the Company.

Communication Strategies
The main communication channels with the Shareholders include:

Constitutional documents

A copy of the latest memorandum and articles of association of the
Company is available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website. There has been no
change in the Company’s constitutional documents during FY2024.

Annual general meetings

The annual general meeting is an important discussion platform
for the Shareholders to participate, facilitating the communications
between the management of the Company and the Shareholders. The
annual general meeting is held once a year and is accessible to all the
Shareholders. The Directors answer any questions the Shareholders have
at the annual general meeting which is also attended by the external
auditor and the Company Secretary. All matters proposed to the
Shareholders for approval shall be submitted in separate resolutions and
resolved by way of poll at the annual general meeting. The procedures
of conducting a poll will be explained in detail to the Shareholders
and the voting results will be available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website
(www.chinavtmmining.com).
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Annual reports, interim reports, announcements and circulars
The Company issues its annual reports and interim reports after
publishing the annual results and the interim results in March and
August every year, respectively, so as to periodically review the
development of the Group as well as to update its Shareholders
with its latest business information and market trends. In addition,
the Company will inform the Shareholders through announcements
regarding any major event or inside information in a timely manner. For
any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders, the Company
will hold an EGM according to the requirements of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and issue a circular prior to the specific date of the
meeting, allowing the Shareholders to have sufficient time to learn
more about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars will be uploaded to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company'’s website (www.chinavtmmining.com).

The chairman of the Board also encourages Shareholders and investors
to write to the Company via ir@chinavtmmining.com, if they wish to.

The Company’s website

The Company's website offers timely access to the Group's press
releases and other business information. Through its website, the
Company provides the Shareholders with electronic versions of the
financial reports, the latest slide presentations, as well as up-to-date
news about the Group’s business, announcements,
information, whichever is applicable from time to time. To make
contributions to environmental protection and maintain effective
communication with the Shareholders, the Group encourages all

Shareholders to browse the Company's corporate communication files

and general

on the Company’s website.

Investor contacts and enquiries

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle Shareholders’ enquiries. Should investors have any enquiries,
please contact the Company via email at ir@chinavtmmining.com.

The Company will ensure that the information of the work on investor
relations is disclosed in a timely and accurate manner, and will react to
the capital market effectively and smoothly. This can help the capital
market to better understand its development strategies and operating
conditions.
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To the members of
China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 108 to
245, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance.

Independent Auditor’s Report

B 37 A% SR

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
EEREGHMERAARAR
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
EARBFEEB18HETIREZI2E
Tel B35E © (+852) 2909 5555

Faxf@E : (+852) 2810 0032

Email&B L : info.hk@forvismazars.com
Website #8uk © forvismazars.com/hk
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

MBESAEE

Impairment of non-current assets

IEREEERE

At 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount of the
Group’'s non-current assets relating to the Maoling-
Yanglongshan mining facilities (the “High-Fe Mining CGU") e
and Shigou Gypsum Mine (the “Shigou Gypsum Mine
CGU") amounted to approximately RMB385,105,000 and
RMB649,708,000 respectively.
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LEEEARMEBABRRGOMBREARLA
ERFETEEN RMAFEHELEFEHREM
EBNER-

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHRBEAFEFRETRMANBSF P2 UNAEHED

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:
BB ESEFEHPEE

testing the impairment model selected for each CGUs
based on our understanding of the methodology and
checking the mathematical accuracy;
EREAHENER ARMSERSEEEUREN
BERE WREEHE CAVERY ;
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Key audit matter

B EE

In accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there are any indications of impairment for its non-current
assets. If such indicator of impairment exists, an estimate
of the recoverable amount is performed. The Group has a
significant amount of non-current assets, including property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets. Based on the existing market conditions in the iron
ore industry and gypsum ore industry, impairment indicators
were identified for the Group’s non-current assets.
ZR(ERMBREEIDNEFER BSEERSRES
FTEEHIFRBEEE SR MBETR W ESREFT
AlgETo Wb Gt SEBRERABIFRBEE
BENE - -BRERZBE BREEREBAESE -ERBA
BEATERGEBEATENTSBE R BSEEMNIER
BEEFTRERR

Accordingly, management performed the impairment
assessment based on the discounted cash flows expected
to be derived from the cash-generating units (“CGUs").
The assessment of the recoverable amounts involved
significant estimation uncertainty, subjective assumptions
and application of significant judgement, in relation to
commodity prices, the discount rate, budgeted gross margin
and production volumes. We have identified the impairment
assessment as a key audit matter due to involvement of
significant estimates and judgement in determining the
recoverable amount of each CGUs.

At EEEEANERREEHAREELBUNKERES
TR EETTRUE ST (E o FT U Bl & FR RV AT (S e E R BIfE 5T R
BEM BERIGRIMEARALG S RERER BIR
E-EHEEANRNES -HMEHMABENT G AMEEESS
B RARNECSEAREELBUMNTTRLE SRR T &
B E A & o

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment assessment
for these non-current assets are included in notes 12 and
13 to the consolidated financial statements.
EEEANZEFRHEERENENEESRI N IGEEH
BIMRMI 125130

Independent Auditor’s Report

Je 37 A% BT

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHAREFERERMNEIA P MAEE N

comparing key market-derived estimates, including
commodity prices, against external data and
performing sensitivity analyses on the forecasts
prepared by management;
HHEETHEMNERMG AFEmERS FHA
SMERBRBRIEITELL > WAL B IR E R R TR RIEITHR
B

comparing key operational estimates in the models
to source data and publicly available information,
including the forward market price of iron ore and
gypsum;

Eb B 5 Bl oh B 4K AR A RO RA 8 A 5T B BB SRR e BT A
MESHNER SiEEEAaNaEERMHIBER

involving our valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the key valuation parameters such as the
discount rate calculation applied and the valuation
model used;
BAGEERBHEMTGELEFRBGEHESE N
FrEER ARt H R PR E ARG ERE ;

evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence
of the external specialists engaged by the Group and
us; and

B SEEMEMOINZEMNIIMIERNZTE L
REBIBEN ) &

assessing the appropriateness of the related disclosures
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

RN BRRNETNEAKERSBE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B 37 A% R

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Company’s 2024 annual report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and
the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Lfthfs 8
EAREERYEMEEAE - HMER BT
TIER BEAS024EFERANES BRE
ERAMBRERRMANZUARE

il

—

AP GEEHBERRNBRE T REAME
B HMATTHZEEMERERETTZAN

i

BRMAVGEMBRENES  HANEE
EHBHAMEE TUHBEREP TEEMEER
BREGMBRRABRMAESSBEDHR T H#
NERGFEEABBERAEUFFEEANERR
HEYER - AR HFIDATH I WREAIR
REMERSFEEA#ERRL RMUFTERS
ZEB-EEHE KARAEARS-

EFRAEBMGEMBHRRAK
EHEE

BAREFRAAEREER G EREEEE
HH (R HFREEN) NS A ER(QTE
FRODMRBERERFEEMT SHES M ER
KOUHERAREGREHMBERROBEETF
RN MNP ERME A ERERRA PR
RS-

TREGEVHRRET BR9E=88T
it BEEEFELENE TEBRBERT
KRELAFELEEARNEE UREHRFEL
ERGHER IRF BEAREFAER BE
BEEBRNFLEE N EAMBEROERT

.
E

REEREERE SEENMBEREBRE-
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Je 37 A% BT
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B 37 A% R

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Tsoi Wa Shan

Practising Certificate number: P07514

Independent Auditor’s Report

Je 37 A% BT

PREMEEN RMAAERBRETSHENE
StEE KE 2 EXEFEES FHMA
BT TR A BEIENERNERRE

BRMPERLAEEBRTER RBARMEFESAH
FRBIMHEREXRERER TRMMEE
ERECEMRESGRERMABILENMRE
BHEMEMEE URAEFREBIIENEE
PRERENBITTENENRL S84 T (R A) -

MEREEBENEET  RMETEWESE
HAHREMBRRNEARAES AMB
PRBIRES FE - RMERHMBR ST HAE
LEEE BRIFEAREIRETATFARKESELES
B REBKEFERAERLT  MRGERAER
PRETEEEFRENNEEERBBES
MARMN G HAREFTEERSETEEZS
I o

EEGERHMEEMERATE

HET AT

&> 2025%F3H27H
HEABIZHMBSHWETBEESRE .

gE
HEBEMRM (P07514

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF

107



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Ao o TE 2k B LA 4 oo W %

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEEE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gain

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables

Reversal of impairment losses on
other receivables

Write-down of inventories

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment

Impairment losses on intangible assets

Finance costs

Share of results of joint ventures

(Loss)/Profit before tax
Income tax credit/(expenses)

(Loss)/Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that
may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

WA
HEME

EF

H AW R W ik
HERDHEAX
THHAX

HAthFisz

FE U BR R (B 5 1R 1 ]

HLAth 8 Wk TR R A 8 1 [

FE MR
ME B R R ERERE

BICEERERE
LR DS
DIEGELEREE

Al (B518) /#HE
PRIGIIE R (ZH)

FM (B1R) /FHE

Hittz2m (F48) W
R ERIEEMRDEE
BHENEMEE (B8
W
HEBINEBELEN
bR E 2R

FrzmE (B WEEE

Notes

Py 5E

19

16
18

12
13

15
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2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
542,490 784,951
(528,287) (748,417)
14,203 36,534
12,402 17,244
(2,667) (2,254)
(19,064) (21,783)
(9,976) (9,980)
= 2,674
371 -
(4,691) -
(4,947) -
(4,152) -
(7,750) (8,323)
1,680 -
(24,591) 14,112
4,502 (5,032)
(20,089) 9,080
(5) 16
(20,094) 9,096




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

(Loss)/Profit attributable to: (B548) /FIEEE
Owners of the Company KRBHEA A
Non-controlling interests FEER =

Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2@ (518 WEBERE
attributable to: i
Owners of the Company i NNETEZ T =N
Non-controlling interests FEVER S

(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable BREBRAEATERT AN
to owners of the Company: sk (&8 B

Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EAREE (ARED)

Notes

By 5E

"

o o HE A B LA 4 T i A 3R
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AR®FT
(20,662) 9,697
573 (617)
(20,089) 9,080
(20,667) 9,713
573 (617)
(20,094) 9,096

RMBA K #(0.92) RMBA E150.43
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

wr o MBS IR LR

At 31 December 2024
2024128318

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Interests in joint ventures

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Due from related parties

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Due to related parties

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

FREBEE

L E =Y E

ERREE

BLEE

REgtENED

FAMT IR EAth R URR IR R
Hih&E

EIERIBE E

ERBEELE

RBEE

=8

FEU R AR R4

TR RIA  Ef WG IR R
Hith&E

& WS e Bt 75 SR 1B

SERER

RERREEEY

RBEEMEE

mEaE

FEAS BRAX

anaR

H AP RUIB K fE 5t RUIE
StRBRITRHEMEE

P& BRI Bt 75 "R IB
BE&E&
FEAT IR R
REREEE
mBEEFE

BEERERRBAER

Notes

Py 5E

12
14
13
15

16
17

18
19

16
20
21
21

22
23
24

25
20
14

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥TF T
209,756 209,696
20,760 23,008
815,567 822,135
4,180 -
373 423
12,631 7,219
1,063,267 1,062,481
20,326 18,695
75,494 119,856
108,179 95,893
3,137 2,346

25 25

11,881 8,038
219,042 244,853
63,585 71,029
2,097 8,883
63,581 76,706
72,400 69,600
3,958 2,603
2,226 2,124
8,932 10,687
216,779 241,632
2,263 3,221
1,065,530 1,065,702




NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to related parties

Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Provision for rehabilitation

Other payables

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Hao Xiemin 7B 5 8%
Director %

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes

iz
ERBEE
FE{T R B 75 7R 1B 20
BHNEE 23
HEAaE 14
FERITKREMBEE

25
BIREBE 26
HMENHIE 24
ERENEFEELE
BEEEE
b
HBEBRERTHE ANER
BETRA 27
B 29
JEIERR S 30

T A8 B

Wang Hu £ &
Director £%

i IR TR
At 31 December 2024
12024128315

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AR®FT
8,472 2,286
20,000 20,000
18,857 21,089
19,044 12,994
15,843 15,303
63,106 53,728
145,322 125,400
920,208 940,302
197,889 197,889
427,732 448,399
625,621 646,288
294,587 294,014
920,208 940,302

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF

111



112

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A 1 AT

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BERSATEEA
Difference
arising from
Safety acquisition
Share fund Share of non- Exchange Non-
Issued premium Statutory surplus  Contributed option  controlling Capital ~ fluctuation ~Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserves reserve reserve  interests reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
[ El3E40
%28& BEE HEEEN EREH
BETRE RMEEER ETAHE  WEHEG (11 3 U YN ] Hh RBHR At FEREE  RRRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBFR  ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETT ARKTR ARETT ARBTR ARMTR ARRTR ARETR
(note 28/
(note 27)  (note 29(a)) (note 29(b)) (note 29(d)) note 29(e)) (note 29(f))
(k28
(M&2r)  (M&29(@)  (H&29(b)  (WEE29(d) Hfi29(e)) (at29()
At 1 January 2024 #202451818 197,889 1877488 221501 194,584 9121  (852820) 186,200 586 (1,275589) 646288 294014 940,302
(Loss)Profit for the year £/ (58 /58 - - - - = - - - (20,662) (20,662) 573 (20,089)
Other comprehensive income FRAMZEKE
for the year
Exchange differences related to BESIMEEENERER
foreign operations - - - - - = = (5) = (5 = (5
Total comprehensive loss FREAGEEE
for the year - - - = = = = (5) (20,662) (20,667) 573 (20,094)
Utilisation of safety fund BEEES S
surplus reserve - - - (4,659) - - - - 4,659 - - -
Provision for safety fund R2ELHBRERRE
surplus reserve - - - 2,048 - - - - (2,048) - - -
Appropriation of statutory reserve  BlB AT ARS - - 595 - - - - - (595) - - -
Transfer of share option reserve RIVERERRERRN
upon the expiry of share options iR - - - - (9,121) - - - 9,121 - - -
- - 595 (2,611) (9,121) - - - 11,137 - - -
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 197,889 1,877,488* 222,186* 191,973* 87,238* = (852,820)*  186,200* 581*  (1,285,114) 625,621 294,587 920,208
At 1 January 2023 202351818 197,889 1,877,488 221,318 194,39 9121 (852,820) 186,200 570 (1,284,825) 636,575 294,631 931,206
Profit/(Loss) for the year ERFE/ (BB - - - - - - - - 9,697 9,697 (617) 9,080
Other comprehensive income FRAMZEKE
for the year
Exchange differences related to BESIMIEEENERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - 16 - 16 - 16
Total comprehensive incomef(loss) ~ E£R2EMNE/ (§518) 88
for the year - - - - - - - 16 9,697 9,713 (617) 9,096
Utilisation of safety fund BEEES LT
surplus reserve - - - (7,812) - - - - 7812 - - -
Provision for safety fund R2ELHBERERRE
surplus reserve - - - 8,000 - - - - (8,000) - - -
Appropriation of statutory reserve  BIBAEARS - - 273 - - - - - 273) - - -
- - 273 188 - - - - (461) - - -
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 197,889 1,877,488* 221,591* 194,584* 87,238* 9,121* (852,820)* 186,200* 586*  (1,275,589) 646,288 294,014 940,302
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBREBEFREVBRARANE

RMB427,732,000 (2023: RMB448,399,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/Profit before tax

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets

Bank interest income

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Finance costs

Reversal of impairment losses on
other receivables

Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables

Impairment losses on intangible assets

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment

Share of results of joint ventures

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Write-down of inventories

Write-off of other receivables

Write-off of property, plant and
equipment

Write-off of trade and other payables

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SABREHER

Year ended 31 December 2024

Notes

By 5E

REEFHNHRERE

Al (B18) /8
NS EEHRIRE
BICEEEH
RITH B UA
ME- -BERRBITE

EREEERE

BRI RIS

A WRRIR R E B 1R
t24E]

FEUR BR FURL B RS 1R 1 ]

BREEEREEE

ME - -BERZERE

518

MMEGEDERE

HEWE BMERIEN

518 7
FEMR

HEH B Ath g W sk B 7
WEE Y RS R SR

i 4 P A BR AR R EL At
P& {70 IR 7

HE2024F 128310 LEFEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AR¥ETF T
(24,591) 14,112
2,492 2,756
(4) (10)
9,063 9,948
2,240 3,527
7,750 8,323
(371) -
= (2,674)
4,152 -
4,947 -
(1,680) -
197 -
4,691 -
= 1,150
1,494 314
(1,882) -
8,498 37,446
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

22 /N ANl =N
e leRaER
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

Changes in working capital:
Trade and bills receivables
Inventories
Prepayments, other receivables

and other assets
Amount due to related parties
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from
operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Addition of intangible assets

Investments in joint ventures

Utilisation of rehabilitation

Net cash flows used in
investing activities

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
I AREF T AR#F T
EEESEH
[ U BR 71 R ZE 4 44,362 85,413
=75 (6.322) (5,069)
FETFRIE ~ HfhFE W RIS
REMEE (11,865) (91,244)
PE{ RA B 75 7018 3,081 (2,292)
&S BR =R (7,139) 35,972
HAMERIB & R RIE 4,990 16,885
SHEE (6,786) 20,667
REELENRE 28,819 97,778
BUHE 4 10
[SENPFIECE (2,665) (2,641)
RETHEENRERS
FER 26,158 95,147
RETHNRERE
EEME -BEREE
(19,022) (30,674)
HEME -BERREMS
;I8 333 -
REBEE (6,326) (48,272)
REEPENRE (2,500) -
FRER 26 (238) (824)
KREZHFERANRERE
P (27,753) (79,770)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEBHESRER

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
iz AR%F T AR®EFT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEFBNIRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank and RITREMBEEMEMR
other borrowings 94,590 82,594
Repayment of bank and BIRIR HMEE
other borrowings (85,740) (88,612)
Decrease in pledged deposits EEW?‘*’XTR"\ - 1
Principal portion of lease payments HERAEID (2,122) (4,965)
Increase in amount due to related parties &1t BB 75 FRIBLE A0 3,669 -
Interest portion of lease payments HEZRFEED (1,091) (1,071)
Interest paid BHFE (3.863) (4,659)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEBESL S (ER) W
financing activities RERSFE 5,443 (16,712)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH R RIESZEEWHMM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (GRL) B8 3,848 (1,335)
Cash and cash equivalents at FVNRERIBEEHEY
beginning of year 8,038 9,357
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEE BT
changes, net (5) 16
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FENRERREEEY
END OF YEAR 11,881 8,038
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERFEEBYERIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & RIRITHEER 11,906 8,063
Less: pledged deposits o BERER (25) (25)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated RiFEREREBRAIEERN
in the consolidated statement of RERIREEEY
cash flows 21 11,881 8,038
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEEE

116

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(the "Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008
under the Companies Act. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at Suite
3201, 32/F, Alexandra House, 18 Chater Road, Central, Hong
Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were principally engaged in
the following principal activities:

1.

REIREBER
FRENKEBEBRERRAR (TR )
B:ZOOSEEM?ZSEITF#?%E?%*H%
Sﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁ%—%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ()ﬁ
N B B9 5 % S5 R 3k 2 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islandso 7
RENBEBFESEMBMUNSTBFRIR
IWFTE 18R E LR E32183201= ©

REZE2024F12831BLEEER > &A
BAREFRAR HGBIAER) FENSE
UTEEER

. sale of self-produced products . HEBEE®D
0 trading of steels . 8 5
. facility management . S IR

In the opinion of the board (the “"Board”) of directors of the
Company (the “Director(s)”), Trisonic International Limited
("Trisonic International”), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong, is the parent and the ultimate holding company of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ABRKREEEN &
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries BRAFARNER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: KRABEEEFRABANFBAOT !
Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ Issued share/ interests

Company name

NETE

Directly held:

HEGA -

Powerside Holdings Limited
B ERERAF

First China Limited
=REBRRE

Sure Prime Limited

Sure Prime Limited

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.

Indirectly held:
BEFE -

Simply Rise Holdings Limited

SRIERBRAT

registration
and business
Rk,

S R 2 M B

British Virgin
Islands (“BVI")
HBEUYREES

Hong Kong
BE

BVI
HERLES

Singapore

H

Hong Kong

£

registered
share capital
BEITRG,
A

United States
dollars (“USD") 1
17T

Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD") 2
257

UsD1

17T
Singapore dollars

("SGD") 10,000
10,0003 N 7T

HKD1

187

attributable to
the Company
FEBRAEATR
RAEEZH DL
%

100

100

100

100

100

Principal
activities

FEER

Investment
holding

R EER

Investment
holding

BEER

Investment
holding
BEZR

Investment
holding

R EER

Investment
holding
REZER
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

NEIRTE

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Group
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Lingyu")®

Ml EmEcEERAERAT (MM

JIZEE)) @

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.
("Aba Mining”)®

MiBEERRAT (THHEFE)©

Huili Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.
(“Akuang Trading”)®

CEMAEEZARAE

(Mg 51)©

Sichuan Haoyuan New Material
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Haoyuan")®

m)EEEM MR A RAR
(TEg)115EE)) ©

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
i

SE R it B

The People’s
Republic of
China

(the "PRC")
REARENE
(M)

PRC

FE

PRC

e

PRC

HRE

Issued share/
registered
share capital
BEITRG
o it % 4=

HKD850,000,000

850,000,000/ 7T

Renminbi (“RMB™)

22,000,000

AR

22,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR
20,000,0007%

RMB20,000,000

AR
20,000,0007T
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attributable to
the Company
FBRAATN
RAEZ TS
cyO

100

100

100

51

REREBEN @)

ERFREINER @
Percentage
of equity
interests

Principal
activities

FEEH

Product trading
and investment
holding

EmBERERE
=R

I[ron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sales of
self-produced
products

T A S B
BHEE®

Iron ore
beneficiation
and sales of iron
concentrates
EEATE R
EHiEE

Gypsum ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AEEARER
HE B EEmM



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1.

Place of
incorporation/ Issued share/
registration registered
Company name and business share capital
Rk, BEITRG,
YNSIEZY S R FE B A
Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining PRC RMB1,150,000
Co., Ltd.®
FERBRESEERRATO FHE AR
1,150,0007T
Sichuan Lingwei Property Service PRC RMB 10,000,000
Co., Ltd.("Sichuan Lingwei")®
B ERYZERGBRAS FHE AR
(TR © 10,000,0007%
(a) Sichuan Lingyu is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise under PRC law.
(b) These subsidiaries are registered as domestic enterprises under

PRC law.

(b)

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

ARREEERN @&
BRFARNEN @)

Percentage
of equity
interests

attributable to Principal

the Company activities
FERAEAT

BAEZET DL FEED
%

51 Gypsum ore

mining, gypsum

ore beneficiation

and sale of

self-produced

products

aEEARE.

AEEARER

HEBEEmM

100 Estate

management,

sale of

equipment and
materials, lease
of real estate
EMEEE IH
ERE Rk
EiEREE

mIDEERE R E R R MR EE
R

EEFRABRBETEERIMBER
i
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all IFRS Accounting Standards, IAS Standards and
IFRIC Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that whilst the
Group had recorded a consolidated loss before income tax
of approximately RMB24,591,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 (“FY2024"), the Group had a surplus of
approximately RMB8,498,000, excluding non-cash adjustments
as reported in the consolidated cash flows statement for
FY2024. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
of approximately RMB216,779,000 include trade payables
of approximately RMB63,585,000, contract liabilities of
approximately RMB2,097,000, other payables of approximately
RMB44,395,000, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of approximately RMB73,625,000 and due to related parties of
approximately RMB3,958,000, lease liabilities of approximately
RMB3,190,000 and tax payable of approximately RMB8,932,000
which are due for repayment within the next twelve months
after 31 December 2024. The Group’s current assets, including
cash and bank balances of approximately RMB11,881,000,
was approximately RMB219,042,000 as at 31 December 2024.
The net current assets of a mere approximately RMB2,263,000
requires the Group to adopt a prudent working capital
management ahead.

2.1
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#63,585,000c - B EH AR
2,097,000 EMEMRIBOARE
44,395,000t st BT REMEED
ANE#873,625,0007T K FE {3 BA B 75 3008
#HAR¥3,958,000c - FAEEGFEHN A
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2.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern (Continued)

Having considered the above, the Directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations for at
least the next twelve months from the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements, after taking into
consideration of the followings:

(i) the Group will continue to monitor and improve the
collection cycle of its outstanding trade receivables;

(ii) the Group remains proactive in engaging discussions and
negotiations with the banks for renewal of its facilities as
and when they fall due such that to meet the Group can
continue to meet its working capital requirements for the
year ending 31 December 2025;

(iii) the Group will continue to explore and discuss with
various financial institutions and potential lenders to
secure new financing arrangement to meet the Group's
working capital and financial requirements, as and when
required; and

(iv) the Group, with focusing on productivity improvement
for its existing mining and facilities management
operations, will continue to evaluate other potential
strategic plans and options to divest certain non-core
assets, explore other asset-light growth initiatives and
extend its business segments.

Having considered the cash flow projection of the Group,
which takes into account of the above measures, the Directors
are of the opinion that, the Group will have sufficient funding
resources to meet its working capital at least the next twelve
months from the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, barring unforeseen circumstances.

2.1

A 1 S 05 R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

REEE @

FERE @B

EZEE RS ERTHSE BEDL
AEER LSS M H RS B HREst
ELKRRNRESBEERHNEESS
BB RS R AT B TR BT

(i) AEBBEBER RIS REE
FEU R RRBIURREHA

(if) AEEHRAZERITMNEEE
HARu @ Lﬁﬁmﬂzﬁérﬂ@ﬁﬁﬁ
RE FAREBRENEEREGTH
E&i%zozsfﬂzﬁmatﬁrﬁ@%

BASHE ;
(i) AEEBRANESTEASREMN
ROEERRALRRE % 2

RESHISHREZ
rEENEEETAUBT
R

F%fﬁ

(iv) K%@iﬁﬁiﬁéﬂﬁlﬁfﬁﬁﬁ?%&éﬂ
MEREBNEE  BEET
HMEMEBEREFE RTE W
EETIIROEE YEBEME
EEBRBE UKEREBD
#B o

EZRIAEENFETRERR (Bt K
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders

of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue

to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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2.1

2.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests; and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received;
(ii) the fair value of any investments retained; and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting

Standards for the first time for the current year’s consolidated

financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7

and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback

2.1

2.2

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.2

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting
Standards that are applicable to the Group are described below:

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the
requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the
statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with
an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current
(due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-
current. The amendments include clarifying the classification
requirements for debt a company might settle by converting it
into equity.

The amendments have no effect on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the consolidated
financial statements. Management has reviewed the disclosure
of accounting policy information and considered it is consistent
with the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be complied with
after the reporting date do not affect the classification of debt
as current or non-current at the reporting date. Instead, the
amendments require a company to disclose information about
these covenants in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to
enhance the transparency of supplier finance arrangements and
their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.2
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2.2

2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

Amendments to IAS 16: Lease Liability in a
Sale and Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently
determine lease payments arising from a sale and leaseback in
a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The new requirements
do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising in profit or loss
any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a
lease.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
IFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability™

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®@

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Annual Improvements Volume 11@

to IFRS Accounting

Standards
Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and IFRS 7 dependent Electricity®
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28
Associate or Joint Venture®

m Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

&) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

@ The effective date to be determined

2.2

2.3
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of
Exchangeability

The amendments require an entity to apply a consistent
approach to assessing whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and, when it is not, to determining the

exchange rate to use and the disclosures to provide.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7:
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments:

o clarify the classification of financial assets with
environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG)

and other similar features;

. clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial

liability is derecognised;

° introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise
financial liabilities that are settled through an electronic
payment system before settlement date if specified

criteria are met;

o clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets
with non-recourse features and contractually linked

instruments; and

. introduce additional disclosure requirements regarding
investments in equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features, for example,

features tied to ESG-linked targets.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11

The amendments include clarifications, simplifications,
corrections and changes aimed at improving the consistency of
several IFRS Accounting Standards:

o IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS Accounting Standards;

o IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and its
accompanying Guidance on Implementing IFRS 7;

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
. IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; and
. IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 . Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

The amendments include:

o clarifying the application of the “own-use”
requirements;

o permitting hedge accounting if these contracts are used
as hedging instruments; and

o adding new disclosure requirements to enable investors
to understand the effect of these contracts on a
company’s financial performance and cash flows.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS
18 retains numbers of requirements of IAS 1 and introduces the

following new key requirements:

presentation of new defined subtotals in the statement
of profit or loss, i.e. operating profit and profit before
financing and income taxes, and classifications of income
and expenses into operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations in the
statement of profit or loss, with some modifications for
companies with specific business activities, e.g. banks,
insurers and investment property companies;

identification of management-defined performance
measures (MPMs) which are defined as subtotals of
income and expenses used in public communications
outside financial statements to communicate
management’s view of an aspect of the financial
performance for the company as a whole and are not
listed or required by IFRS Accounting Standards and
disclosures about MPMs in a single note to the financial
statements; and

enhanced requirements for grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) of information in the primary financial
statements and information disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures

IFRS 19 permits eligible subsidiaries to use IFRS Accounting
Standards with reduced disclosures in their financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28,
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The Standards
are amended such that a full gain or loss is recognised when
a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a
subsidiary or not); and a partial gain or loss is recognised when
a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business,
even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the
adoption of the above new/revised IFRS Accounting Standards in
future periods will have any material impact on the consolidated
financial position and performance.

2.3

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

B M8 1B 5] 5k 4 R4 BY B PR B
FREGEHEN @

B PR BA PSR 5 #E ) F 1955 T
ATREEMNFAE  HE)
BRI TR S 2R E 190 EE B R T
AR EHEEM SRS G e g
IR ERNIRBEEZER TR

[ 5% Pt 355 ¥R = 2 R 58 1057 R ]
PRE s ERE28RIEETAE : &
BEERHEBEATNRGERE
ZERBEELENLE
ZEETERBERMBREEAE0
SRERERGH B 2ERREL
MEEREERAREATRAE L%
ZHEEHEREERNE AT 2B
ReomERABTET BEERSHR
—IRER (RHBR T AR RET) B
2WPHRAE ; MERR I RTBER
EBNEER NERSEERRTA
=) TN ERRERE S U A 18 o

FEENEEER  RARABKRA
EtiRreT SEETRRM B RSG5 E
ANEEMBRARRRBIEETMNELX

B2 488
FEo

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF

129



130

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement. A joint arrangement is an
arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control.
Joint control is a contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control. The Group reassesses whether it has
joint control of an arrangement and whether the type of joint
arrangement in which it is involved has changed, if facts and
circumstances change.

The Group's investment in joint venture is accounted for under
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter
for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
investee's net assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment. Except to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses when the Group's share of losses of the
investee equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest
in the investee, which includes any long term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
investee.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wr o B S R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's
value in use (“VIU") and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

)
(ii)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the

Group.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment, other
than mining infrastructure, is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as

follows:

Buildings 5-20 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Office equipment 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
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e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation of mining infrastructure is calculated using the
units-of-production (“UOP"”) method to depreciate the cost of
the assets in proportion to the extraction of the proved and
probable mineral reserves.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant
and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowing funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Mining rights include the cost
of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation
costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of
commercial production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the
mining reserves of existing mining properties. The mining rights
are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in
accordance with the production plans of the entities concerned
and the proved and probable reserves of the mines using the
UOP method. Mining rights are written off to profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Software

Software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 3 years.

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, and exploration assets
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. Exploration rights
and assets include the cost of acquiring exploration rights,
topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling,
sampling and trenching and activities in relation to commercial
and technical feasibility studies, and deferred amortisation and
depreciation charges in respect of assets consumed during the
exploration activities.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Intangible assets (Continued)
Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

Exploration rights are amortised over the term of rights.
Equipment used in exploration is depreciated over its useful life,
or, if dedicated to a particular exploration project, over the life
of the project on the straight-line basis, whichever is shorter.
Amortisation and depreciation are included, in the first instance,
in exploration rights and assets and are transferred to mining
rights when it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration

property is capable of commercial production.

Exploration and evaluation costs include expenditure incurred
to secure further mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred prior to acquiring

legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

Exploration rights and assets shall be assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may exceed its recoverable amount. An impairment test is

performed if any of the following indicators are present:

(a) the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be

renewed;

(b) substantial expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is

neither budgeted nor planned;

() exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the entity has decided to discontinue such activities in

the specific area; or

(d) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful

development or by sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
exploration rights and assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the exploration rights and assets’ fair value less costs of disposal
and their VIU. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
exploration rights and assets subject to testing are grouped
with existing cash-generating units of production fields that are
located in the same geographical region.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are transferred to either mining
infrastructure or mining rights and depreciated/amortised using
the UOP. Exploration rights and assets are written off to profit or
loss if the exploration property is abandoned.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease
at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Office premises 3 years
Plant and machinery 1 to 20 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE
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(b)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") at
the lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying

amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a

modification, a change in the lease term, a change in

lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments

resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change

in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying

asset.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (c)
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and

do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the

recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to

leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are

considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-

value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through

profit or loss.

With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. In order for a financial asset to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value

through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified

and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

2.4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primary
derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

(i) significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

(i) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

(iii) likelihood that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganization emerges.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial asset is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default; ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an

Stage 1 -

amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

Stage 2 -

equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 -

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that without a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans

and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing

bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings and

payables is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate

amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer of the contract to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder of the contract for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the
higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with
the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable
overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation incurred
in converting materials into finished goods, based on the
normal production capacity. Net realisable value represents on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it
is probable that a future outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Provisions (Continued)

Provisions for the Group’s obligations for rehabilitation are
based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the
ground environment is disturbed at the production location.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final rehabilitation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform the
required work. Spending estimates are escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. When the liability is initially recognised, the
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing
the carrying amount of the related mining infrastructure.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is depreciated using the UOP
method over its expected life and the liability is accreted to the
projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or changes
in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated
costs, or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation
activities) will be recognised as additions or charges to the
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liabilities when they
occur at the appropriate discount rate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying

amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liabilities arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the facility management services and guarantee
services is recognised over time, using an input method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.
The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs
for satisfaction of the specialised mining services. Revenue from
the rendering of consultancy management service is recognised
over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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wr o B S R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e. transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.
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2.4
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland China are
required to participate in a defined central pension scheme
managed by the local municipal government of the areas in
Mainland China in which they operate. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part
of the payroll of these employees to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The subsidiary that was incorporated and operates in Singapore
is obligated to contribute to an independently administered fund
(such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore, a government
managed defined contribution retirement benefit plan).

Save as disclosed, the Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay contributions in addition to its fixed
contributions, which are recognised as an expense in the period
that related employee services are received.

Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre in Mainland China are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group's net investment of a foreign operation.
These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the
net investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. Tax
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on
those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

2.4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgement

Revenue recognition

The Group applies judgements in determining whether it is
principally involved in the trading of steels. The Group concludes
that it acts as a principal and recognises revenue in the gross
amount as the Group demonstrates control over the goods
prior to their transfer to customers, considering the following
factors, among others: (i) it exercises control by directing the
use of the goods and deriving benefits from them prior to
delivery, including managing the delivery process and assuming
risks related to goods returns; (ii) it has discretion over pricing
decisions; (iii) it assumes primary responsibility for meeting
customer specifications; and (iv) it assumes financial and
inventory risk by committing to purchase goods from suppliers
before transferring control of the goods to customers.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

(a) Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by customer type and
rating).

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (Continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e. gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer's actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT")

The Group's operating subsidiaries in Mainland China are
subject to PRC CIT. As a result of the fact that certain
matters relating to PRC CIT have not been confirmed
by the relevant local tax authorities, objective estimates
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and
other related policies are required in determining the
provision for PRC CIT to be made. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax expense and tax provision in the period
in which the differences realise. The carrying amount
of PRC CIT payable as at 31 December 2024 was
RMB8,932,000 (2023: RMB10,687,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (cContinued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its items of property, plant and equipment,
other than mining infrastructure for which the depreciation
is calculated on the UOP method. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
items of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and actions of its competitors.
Management will increase the depreciation charge where
useful lives are less than previously estimated, or it will
record an impairment provision for technically obsolete
assets that have been abandoned.

Mineral reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group's mine reserves are
inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the significant judgements involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have
to be met before estimated mineral reserves can be
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and
probable mine reserve estimates are updated at regular
intervals taking into account recent production and
technical information about each mine. In addition,
as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proved and probable mineral reserves also
changes. This change is considered a change in estimates
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in both depreciation and amortisation rates
calculated on the UOP method and the time period for
discounting the rehabilitation provision. Changes in the
estimate of mineral reserves are also taken into account
in impairment assessments of non-current assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e)

(f)

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Exploration rights and assets

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for
exploration rights and assets requires estimation in
determining whether it is likely that future economic
benefits will result either from future exploitation
or sale or whether activities have not reached a
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the
existence of reserves. The determination of mineral
reserves is itself an estimation process with varying
degrees of uncertainty depending on sub-classification.
Estimates and assumptions made may change if new
information becomes available. If, after expenditure is
capitalised, information becomes available suggesting
that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount
capitalised is written off in profit or loss in the period
when the new information becomes available. Further
details are given in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
cost to be incurred to completion and disposal. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of a
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in downstream industries that consume
the Group's products. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2024
was RMB20,326,000 (2023: RMB18,695,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(9)

Provision for rehabilitation

Provision for rehabilitation is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to
undertake rehabilitation and restoration work which
were discounted to reflect the term and nature of the
obligations to their present values. Significant estimates
and assumptions are made in determining the provision
for rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that
will affect the ultimate liability payable. These factors
include estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation
activities, technological changes, regulatory changes,
cost increases and changes in the discount rate. Those
uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure
differing from the amounts currently provided. The
provision at the end of the reporting period represents
management’s best estimate of the present value of the
future rehabilitation costs required. Changes to estimated
future costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position by adjusting the rehabilitation asset and
liability. The carrying amount of provision for rehabilitation
as at 31 December 2024 was RMB15,843,000 (2023:
RMB15,303,000). Further details are contained in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(h)

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the tax losses can be utilised. Estimates
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash
flows from operations and the application of existing
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future
cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the deferred
tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period
could be impacted. The gross amount of deferred
tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2024 was
RMB12,631,000 (2023: RMB7,219,000). Further details
are contained in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Additionally, future changes in tax laws and regulations
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could
limit the ability of the Group to obtain tax deductions on
taxable income in future periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (cContinued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

a)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets and intangible assets) at the end of
each reporting period. Definite life non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Based on
the existing market conditions, impairment indicators
were identified for the Group’s main mining cash-
generating units, other pre-development stage mining
rights, and exploration rights and assets. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
its VIU. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When VIU calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Further details
are contained in notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Leases - Estimating the IBR

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products and has four (2023:

four) reportable segments as follows:

(a) the high-Fe mining operation segment comprises the
operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe;

(b) the trading segment comprises the operation of sale of

traded products;

(c) the facility management segment comprises the provision
of facilities management services for mining related

industry; and

(d) the corporate and others segment comprises the non-
operating activities that support the Group, including
central functions such as the functional costs that have

not been allocated to the other segments.

The executive directors of the Company monitor the results of
the Group’s reporting segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted
profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group's profit/loss before
tax except that other income and gain, other expenses and
non-lease-related finance costs are excluded from such

measurement.

Segment assets exclude interest in joint ventures, deferred tax
assets, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents as these

assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and tax payable as these liabilities are managed on a

group basis.

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

D ERE R

BEREE AEEEREREUNR
BRERIDASMEEL LA W TUE
(2023 : MOE) AT 2D E6 -

(a) SRIEBIEES DS IEHE
TFeE BN F65%E72%ME E
M EETEE ;

by EZoNEEHEEZTERE
%

(0 RMEEDMEBEAKEBRT
EIREREEERS S &

d) ©ERHEMOHBEOEZESTER
B EEE) > EREIEMEERTNAE
(MK BPEEHMDERITNEE
MR o

ERBRATEFIHERTERZER
DEBIER > UM ERD B RIFFT 4
EHRER - DEPRIREN A 28, 2 HA
B BRI M 2K EHE &
Bt EKAERAFEHENE
2[RI FTER IR EMBA R WG B
fthFE S U SRR E AR RA B pl A5 9 > 4K
BERAAEBENGEFNEEAE
ERAFE BENGER R —Re

B RS E R R BRI
E BEAGRURRERESZEN
HEEREER RHNEETOER
sHE-

MR e BIRTRAMMEEUREARR
REREEEE HOHEBEIEEZ
Fake



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 1 S 05 R B

Year ended 31 December 2024

HE20245F12A31HIEFE
4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. DEER @
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024512A31ALFE
High-Fe
mining Facility Corporate

operation Trading management and others Total
= mfil

HRAER g5 Rt E R TEREM A%

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

NS AREFRT ARETFR AREFRT AREBTFR

Segment revenue WA

Sales to external customers RSN A EHEIHE 67,121 454,879 20,490 - 542,490
Intersegment sales DEEHE - - 1,247 - 1,247
Revenue A 67,121 454,879 21,737 - 543,737
Segment results AEEE (17,716) 3,129 717 (8,946) (22,816)
Reconciliation: o) 3

Other income and gain Ht A K ez 12,402
Other expenses Hitpis (9,976)

Finance costs (other than ~ BI#mA (FBEFHEEE
interest on lease liabilities  BYF) B K 15 R B 45)
and provision for

rehabilitation) (5,881)
Share of results of joint NMERELEES

ventures 1,680
Profit before tax HRETH (24,591)
Segment assets PHBEE 486,297 184,436 11,406 751,093 1,433,232
Reconciliation: Ei 3
Elimination of intersegment #8443 28 F& FE UL R 1B

receivables (179,640)
Interest in joint ventures ~ RAEELENER 4,180
Deferred tax assets RIEREBEEE 12,631
Cash and cash equivalents BRE&RBELEEY) 11,881
Pledged deposits BERER 25
Total assets BERE 1,282,309
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e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

High-Fe
mining
operation
Bl
RMB'000
ARBFRT
Segment liabilities AEER 218,998
Reconciliation: E2) 3
Elimination of intersegment 18443 28 & FE 4 518
payables
Interest-bearing bank and 3t BRI REMEE
other borrowings
Tax payable FERRE
Total liabilities BREE
Other segment Hith &R
information
Reversal of impairment HttE W IB R E BB ED
losses on other
receivables -
Impairment losses on ME BELEERESE
property, plant and
equipment 4,947
Impairment losses on BEREEAERE
intangible assets 4,152
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE B E KRt
plant and equipment B 197
Depreciation and EREH
amortisation 13,090
Capital expenditure* BARREL* 16,170
Write-down of inventories 77 & i 4,691
Write-off of trade and M EM RN A MRS
other payables R =
Write-off of property, WEE- -BEKRRE
plant and equipment 1,494
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

Trading

B7
RMB'000
ARBTT

140,104

DEER &

HZE2024F12831HLEE
Facility Corporate
management and others
REEE TERHAM
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTTT ARBTTT
5,220 77,043
- (371)
- 704
= (1,882)

(&)

Total

At
aa

RMB'000
ARBTR

441,365

(179,640)

91,444
8,932

362,101

(371)

4,947
4,152
197
13,795
16,170
4,691

(1,882)

equipment and intangible assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

Segment revenue WA
Sales to external customers FISMBZE B {EHBYEHE

Intersegment sales DEEHE
Segment results LEES
Reconciliation: o7/ 3N

Other income and gain H A Rz
Other expenses Hitpis

Finance costs (other than

interest on lease liabilities ~ F| B K& 15 B &)
and provision for
rehabilitation)
Profit before tax Al
Segment assets DEHEE
Reconciliation: 3
Elimination of D B R IB

intersegment receivables

Deferred tax assets ELEREEE
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY)
Pledged deposits BEREN

Total assets BEME

A 1 S 05 R B

Year ended 31 December 2024

MERE(FaREEEaEN

HWE2024F 12831 HLEEE
4. SDEEE @
BHE2023F12B831HIEFE
High-Fe
mining Facility Corporate
operation Trading management and others Total
Bl
HEGEY g5 RIMEE TERHEM CE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AR#ETT ARETT ARBTT
115,280 650,175 19,496 - 784,951
- - 930 - 930
115,280 650,175 20,426 - 785,881
13,677 7,060 1,723 (9,113) 13,347
17,244
(9,980)
(6,499)
14,112
510,643 198,148 8,200 753,290 1,470,281
(178,229)
7,219
8,038
25
1,307,334
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wr o B S R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

Trading
B5
RMB'000
ARETT

154,226

(2,674)

DEEF @

BE2023F12831BLEE (&

Facility Corporate

management and others

REEE  EERHM
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETE

2,061 72,875
- 68
3 2,769
20 11
- 1,150

Total

=
RMB'000
ARETT

451,980

(178,229)

82,594
10,687

367,032

(2,674)

16,231
115,566

High-Fe
mining
operation
Bl
BERER
RMB'000
AREFT
Segment liabilities PEHER 222,818
Reconciliation: E2) 3
Elimination of intersegment 18443 28 & FE {4 518
payables
Interest-bearing bank and 3t BRI REMBEE
other borrowings
Tax payable FERRE
Total liabilities BEME
Other segment Hitt &k
information
Reversal of impairment FEWER TR B R B
losses on trade
receivables -
Depreciation and ME R
amortisation 16,162
Capital expenditure* BREE 112,790
Write-off of property, WENE- - BERRE
plant and equipment 283
Write-off of other s E e W
receivables -
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment (excluding the additions to mining infrastructure
which was the addition of rehabilitation assets) and intangible
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Entity-wide disclosures
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers
The following table sets out information about the
geographical locations of the Group's revenue from

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

DEER @

EREREKE

I

(a)  FEEESEMA
T 2 851) 37 25 58 Py 7 42 5 5 61
WS WA KM R S B

external customers during the reporting period. The
geographical locations of customers are determined
based on the locations designated by the customers
at which the goods were delivered or services were
rendered.

Mainland China B A 3t
(b) Non-current assets

Mainland China R [E A 3t

Singapore 0

ENEREREEXNERN
RERBHIMELEE -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AR®FT
542,490 784,951

(b) JETENE E
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AE®FT
1,045,530 1,053,975
553 864
1,046,083 1,054,839

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes interests in
joint ventures, prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and deferred tax assets.

LTHIERBEEERUEERFT
EMAER BEFEERGED
EWRD FANRE HthEW
MIERHMEENRIBIEREE
Eo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. HDEEE @
Entity-wide disclosures (Continued) EREBEEZE @
Information about major customers FTEEFEH
Revenue from each of major customers, which amounted to REBMLABRAI0O% TN ENELFEER
10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below: BRI A ST -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBEF T
Trading B25
Customer A XRH 80,989 -
Customer B ZEEZ 151,396 404,215
Customer C EFRA 222,494 245,960
High-Fe mining operation 5 o L S5 0 15 2 75
Customer D BT - 81,133
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA~HthRAR K=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHAT :
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARETT ARMEF T

Revenue from contracts ZEER&SHUA
with customers
Sale of industrial products: $H&E T¥ES :

High-grade iron = on 1 B S TR
concentrates 67,121 12.4 115,280 14.7
Steels ik 454,879 83.9 650,175 82.8
Rendering of facility R MmEER
management services 20,490 3.7 19,496 2.5

542,490 100.0 784,951 100.0
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
oo B 5 R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(a) Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Segments

Types of goods or services
High-grade iron concentrates
Trading of steels

Facility management services

Geographical market
Mainland China

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

pir

Ema R ER
BmiEEE
HEES

R IR BR

Wi TS
hE A

LON:
RE-BEXEBENER
R SRS

HWE2024F 12831 HLEEE
5. WA-HMWAKRKE @
EREEHBA
(a) BfFFUAEH
HZE2024F 128318 LFE
High-Fe
mining Facility
operation Trading management Total
Emil
HIRSEH B5 R EE A%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE%®TR AEB¥TR ARETRT ARETR
67,121 - - 67,121
- 454,879 - 454,879
= - 20,490 20,490
67,121 454,879 20,490 542,490
67,121 454,879 20,490 542,490
67,121 454,879 - 522,000
- - 20,490 20,490
67,121 454,879 20,490 542,490
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wr o B S R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(a)

Segments

Types of goods or services
High-grade iron concentrates
Trading of steels

Facility management services

Geographical market
Mainland China

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

Gk

Bma RE A
Bm iR
RIMERRS

TS
R Pyt

LN 2
RE-REEBENER
FE RS RS8R O R 5

5. WA-HMEARKE @
EREHNWA #)

(a) BFFUAZH (B)
HZE2023F12831BIEEE

High-Fe
mining Facility
operation Trading  management Total
B
BBGEY 85 REEE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT  ARETR ARBTT ARETR
115,280 - - 115,280
- 650,175 - 650,175
- - 19,496 19,496
115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951
115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951
115,280 650,175 - 765,455
- - 19,496 19,496
115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
oo B 5 R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12831HIEEE
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA-HMKARKZE &
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHWA @
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) EWFBAEH (B)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE20245F12831HLLEE
High-
Fe mining Facility
operation Trading management Total
& fi
Segments pax:i] BRIAER B3 R EE EL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AR®TT AR¥TR AR¥ETR
Revenue from contracts with EEEHBA
customers
External customers SABEE 67,121 454,879 20,490 542,490
Intersegment sales DEEHE - - 1,247 1,247
Total revenue WA 4B %8 67,121 454,879 21,737 543,737
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F 12831 HIEEE
High-Fe
mining Facility
operation Trading  management Total
S
Segments E BEGER 85 REEE &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT AREBTT
Revenue from contracts with EEEHBA
customers
External customers SABER 115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951
Intersegment sales NEEHE - - 930 930
Total revenue N 115,280 650,175 20,426 785,881
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wr o B S R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5.
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
(b) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the industrial products and payment is generally due
within 120 days from delivery.

Facility management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Consultancy and management
service contracts are for periods of one year and subject
to renewable on annual basis, and are billed based on
the time incurred.
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HEA

Hg A RWE @)

EREHRA @

(b)

BREE
B EBRBEOBTENERTT
LI

HETXER

RN ITEERBEERBRNE
£ RIA— R AT 120K
PEIH] -

Rt E R
BHEEEERDRHEERBE
BB R EERBSOBI—
FOoRBEEN TRBELR
FFRAEE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN
(Continued)
An analysis of other income and gain is as follows:

Other income H A

Bank interest income SRITH BULA

Government grants B B

Sale of raw materials JR #7488

Guarantee fee ERE

Miscellaneous HAth

Gain 5 &

Write-off of trade and other payables  #fi#H F& (< BR FUR% E A
BT RRIB

Total other income and gain HAURA R W s 42 38

Note:

(a) There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to

these government grants.

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

5. WA-HMEARKE @

HMtWARKRZE AT :
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
Mt 5E AR¥EFT ARB®FT
4 10
(a) 753 264
650 7,173
8,649 8,625
464 1,172
10,520 17,244
1,882 -
12,402 17,244

MisE

(a) B A B % 5 BUT # Bh 8O R 2 R IR 1
BEISERIESC
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wr o B S R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

6. FINANCE COSTS 6.

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Interest on bank and other borrowings  R{TREMEENF S (izE31

(note 31(b))
Interest on mining right payable (note 24) FE{TIRIEERF] S (I5E24)

Interest on lease liabilities HEaEWHAE (FIsE14(c) 31
(notes 14(c), 31(b))

Unwinding of discount on provision BERMIRERD (W5E26)
(note 26)
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Bt FE R A
IR ADIAT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
(b))
3,895 4,314
1,986 2,185
(b))
1,091 1,071
778 753
7,750 8,323




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7.

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax was arrived at after charging

(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Cost of services provided

Cost of sales

Employee benefit expenses
(including Directors’ and chief
executive's remunerations
(note 8)):

Wages and salaries

Welfare and other benefits

Defined contribution fund

— Pension scheme contributions

— Housing fund

Total employee benefit expenses

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
(included in cost of sales)

Depreciation and
amortisation expenses

Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services

Expenses relating to short-term
leases (included in
administrative expenses)

Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Write-off of other receivables

Write-off of property,
plant and equipment

Write-off of trade
and other payables

Notes

M 5E

BEEHEFEEMAE
BRHRFAAE

SHE R A

EERMAX (BREEERER
STHAEHM (f5£8)) :

TEKRHG®
B R E A A 5
REMHES
—ERE R
—FEA TR

EERAMAZBE

ME - BERRBITE

12
EREEERE 14(a)
BLEERH

(Gt ASHE R A) 13

TE R

Z BB =
— B IR
—JFEF RS

BIHAE EARMNMAS Gt A
TR
14(c)
HEYHE BERRENEE

i 8 ELAth PR UL RR IR
WY~ PR R s

i 88 P A BR AR R ELA R RRIA

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

WAl (B8
A EERAT (F518) /FIBTRINB (t
A) FEIEERER :

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥F T ARB®FT
512,031 732,694
16,256 15,723
528,287 748,417
23,164 25,928
2,232 1,929
6,244 5,951
635 648
32,275 34,456
9,063 9,948
2,240 3,527
2,492 2,756
13,795 16,231
1,400 1,400
400 690

144 140

197 =

= 1,150

1,494 314
(1,882) =
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

follows:
Fees Be
Other emoluments: HEN < -
Salaries, allowances and benefits e ZMREYH G
in kind
Defined contribution fund REEFES
— Pension scheme contributions —BIREFEIHR
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EFMESTHRAS MU
kesiHMNARES

REEBHMARZAARAR (T&HHK
PR B EHARAL S A BRI 5383(1)
(@)~ () (O ROENURAT (REEEF
mER) ROVB2MINBEAFEEE A&

STBABRNEHFMOT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETTT
2,147 2,123
271 380
40 40
311 420
2,458 2,543




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes:

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
year were as follows:

Mr. Yu Haizong REREE
Mr. Liu Yi 258554
Mr. Wu Wen SxiE
Mdm. Tang Guogiong™ EEEBZ L0

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

Note:

(1) Mdm. Tang Guogiong has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director, effective 31
December 2024. The pro-rated director’s fees payable to
her amount to less than RMB1,000.

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

EERESITHASHMU
EEEHFNNERES ®

B 5E ©

(a)

BIFRTES
FRENBIFATEENRESN
T

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
150 150

150 150

150 150

450 450

ERTEEMBIIERTESHNEM
B4 (20234 : ) o

M EE

(1 EEBZtTEZTABIE
HITE S B20245F 12831
B4R L BIFE S BB
ZTHEZHEEIONRARKE
1,0007T °
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e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES (continued)

8. EFEKESITHAEEHMNWM
EESHMNNAERES @

Notes: (Continued) MisE @ (42
(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and the chief (b) HITES - ERTESRESTHA
executive a8
Salaries, Pension
allowances and Scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total
e EMR
wE BYE BRASHBER =5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TFT AR®BTT AR®TT AR®BTT
2024 20244
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Hao Xiemin e & 150 139 20 309
Mr. Wang Hu FEELE 150 132 20 302
300 271 40 611
Non-executive director JEHITESE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan EoK RS 1,397 - - 1,397
1,697 271 40 2,008
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oo B 5 R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and the chief

executive (Continued)

2023 20234

Executive directors HITES

Mr. Hao Xiemin il ke
Mr. Wang Hu FREE

Non-executive director JEHITEE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan EoKRE ST

8. EFEKESTHASHMMMU
EEEHFNNERES ®

MisE © (&
(b) BITER - FRTESERREITHA
8 (#)

Salaries, Pension

allowances and Scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total

e B K

e EYFEm  RAREsEIHER =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®BTT ARBFT AR®BTT
150 220 20 390
150 160 20 330
300 380 40 720
1,373 - - 1,373
1,673 380 40 2,093
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid employees during the year include three
directors (2023: three). Details of directors’ remuneration are
set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining two (2023: two) highest paid employee who are
neither directors nor chief executives of the Company are as

follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits e RMAREYN G
in kind

Defined contribution fund REMMES
— Pension scheme contributions —BIRE T B R

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

Nil to HKD1,000,000 0%1,000,000% 7T
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EERESITHASEHE N
EESHMNNAERES @

MisE (2

(9] BN ERES
FARBHFHNNALLEERE=S
(2023F | Z8) EF-EENH
et BEINN EX AN EEHRTHE
(20235 : M%) BIFEBHIEERA
AREITHRABNEREHMESNH

BisEIEUT -
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
680 947
70 86
750 1,033

HIEULTHEANESHINES
CFEEKRFRSTHAR) WHE
LI

Number of employees

BEHA
2024 2023
20244 20234
2 2




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSES)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group was not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the payers
shall pay a 10% withholding tax levied on the income derived
from Mainland China on behalf of non-resident enterprises.
Therefore, the Company is subject to withholding tax rate
of 10% over the guarantee fee of RMB8,649,000 (2023:
RMB8,625,000) during the year ended 31 December 2024 (note
5).

The provision for the PRC CIT is based on the respective PRC CIT
rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in Mainland China
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules
and regulations of Mainland China for the year. In general, all
these subsidiaries are subject to the PRC CIT rate of 25% during
the year ended 31 December 2024, except for subsidiaries in the
PRC which are qualified as Small Low-profit Enterprise and thus
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 20%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations in Singapore,
the Group's subsidiary located in Singapore is liable to Singapore
corporate income tax at a rate of 17% on the assessable profits
generated for the year.

The major components of income tax (credit)/charge are as
follows:

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

FrisiEe. ()
REHEHEREBELHENRNK
B REBEEHE20245 %2023 12
B3HLEFENEBHMBSHEE RE
BR LB EERFAER-

AREBRE E2024F 52023%F12831H
FFEETEESASBEIANEBHIY
FESRRAE A EEHR B B FE R E
o

RIFEPEPEMESR L TRABRLRE
FERCEHNAMEIRE AU A
FTEURBI10% A o AL > KA B
HZE2024F 12831 HIEEEBZI0%H
MEFIERE AR 1ES,649,0007T (2023
F: ANR8,625,0007T) &iiEim (it
5£5) o

TAAECEMESRERNEETLERE
BARFEEREANMBIERSRERN R
HOFMBEEERARTEAMFATNE
AIPEREMERRE-LEME A
ZEFATDEEHE2024F1283181EE
FERER25%PE T EMESRNKER
MoEPEETTRAATG/NMINES
o AMEA20%MEEMREMRK -

BB IR PSRRI R AR > A&
UM F AR ERERNEERN
FEERIRF) 4217 % BIFR @0 7 34 £
EF1SH -

PRISHE (GE%) XHBEEMEME DM
T

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARMETF T

Current tax charge for the year FREARIES W
— Mainland China — B Ay 1,582 2,834
- Singapore — ¥ N (6) 5
— (Over) under provision in prior year —BEFEE (BREEE) BETE (666) 62
Deferred tax (note 17) EIEFR A (MHEE17) (5,412) 2,131
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year FERRIE %) S H4E%E (4,502) 5,032
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Year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 128310 IEFEE
9. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSES) 0.
(Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/charge applicable to (loss)/
profit before tax at the applicable tax rate for the companies
within the Group to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as

follows:
Note
iN=S
(Loss)/Profit before tax el (B518) /)8
Tax at the respective statutory BENEERXGFTENRR
tax rates:
— Mainland China subsidiaries, —FEAMFRE > 25%
at 25%
- the Company and its Hong Kong —AABRKREEZEFAE
subsidiaries, at 16.5% 16.5%
- Singapore subsidiary, at 17% — ¥ FRE 7%
Lower tax rates enacted by local B R PR MR Y BR AR =
authorities
Expenses not deductible for tax FRHMRAR (a)
Income not subject to tax BEREIA
Tax effect of tax losses not FETREBERENRBELE
recognised
Adjustments of previous periods FRENERRR IE [ BR PV B
reflected in current tax B A R
Write-down of deferred tax assets  BSBIEIEIRIEE &
Tax (credit)/charge at the Group's RAEBBRRIAEN
effective tax rate RIE (R T
Note:
(a) Expenses not deductible for tax for the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023 mainly consist of administrative
expenses incurred by offshore companies. These expenses are
not expected to be deductible for tax.
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FRiGIRIESR () @&

RERRAEBETRBNRA (B8
SHENBERREFENRE (BR)
ZHEZERREXGFENNEZHER
LI

2024 2023
20244 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETFTT
(24,591) 14,112

(6,368) 3,091

562 275

15 16
(1,101) (589)

493 704

(98) -

552 1,473

(666) 62

2,109 -

(4,502) 5,032

st

(a) B E2024F %2023F12831HIEE
ENAANRELEIEaEgFAR
EEMTHEX ERIZEHRAT
N o
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11.

12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

DIVIDEND 10. RS2
During meeting of the board held on 27 March 2025, the R2025%3827BRITHNESTGTHE L
directors did not recommend a final dividend for the year ended EEMEZIKCEZE2024F12831H1E
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). FEMNRIARKE (2023F 1 &) o
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. BEREAREEANER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE (518 &BH
COMPANY
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the SREX (BB /BALEREBERA
(loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company, NEEEANENRN (B8 A BEERE
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of F2024F12B31HIEFERBEHTE
2,249,015,410 (2023: 2,249,015,410) in issue during the year BRI T 9862,249,015,4108% (2023
ended 31 December 2024, £ 12,249,015,4108%) st & o
No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings per HREAEERBEEFEE > AABHE
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December TENROAENTEESNARE R
2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices M FHEHE WL RSB E2024F
of the Company’s outstanding share options were higher than F2023F12B31HIEEEZAMNER
the average market prices for the Company’s shares during the BA (F518) /B SEEREMEESR
current and prior years. o
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. ME-BEREE
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure ("cIP”) Total
i HEREE WAZRME KBEH FRER ERIR EE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT INL S AEBTR AEBTT AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR
31 December 2024 20245128310
Cost: A
At 1 January 2024 #2024E1818 43,441 35,080 575 2,660 205,425 43,258 330,439
Additions B - 1,771 - - 1,755 12,568 16,094
Transferred from CIP EETRIR 4,378 1,521 - - - (5.899) =
Disposal HE - (2.457) - - (4,709) - (7.166)
Write-off bk} (3,601) - - - - - (3,601)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 44,218 35,915 575 2,660 202,471 49,927 335,766
Accumulated depreciation and RERAME:
impairment:
At 1 January 2024 120241818 25,784 21,130 381 1,134 70,826 1,488 120,743
Provided for the year (note 7) ERiE (f7) 1,983 1,386 31 415 5,248 = 9,063
Impairment loss HEHE 436 297 1 74 3,181 958 4,947
Disposal HE - (2,166) - - (4,470) - (6,636)
Write-off s (2,107) S - = - - (2,107)
At 31 December 2024 #2024%128318 26,09 20,647 413 1,623 74,785 2,446 126,010
Net carrying amount: REFH:
At 1 January 2024 120241818 17,657 13,950 194 1526 134,599 41,770 209,696
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 18,122 15,268 162 1,037 127,686 47,481 209,756
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024

HWE2024F12831HLEEE
[L) =N =
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. ME-BEREE @
(Continued)
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure ("ciP) Total
¥ BERES WAER EEEE REER TRIR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT NS ARETR ARETT AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR
31 December 2023 20235128318
Cost: BE:
At 1 January 2023 202351818 44,234 35,451 676 1,546 142,332 84,076 308,315
Additions HE 1 302 49 1,319 714 23,405 25,790
Transferred from CIP HERRIR 1,072 - - - 63,151 (64,223) -
Write-off ki (1,866) (673) (150) (205) (772) - (3,666)
At 31 December 2023 2023128318 43,441 35,080 575 2,660 205,425 43,258 330,439
Accumulated depreciation and RHERAE:
impairment:
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1518 25,458 20,207 495 1,168 65,331 1,488 114,147
Provided for the year (note 7) ERfE (1E7) 2,099 1,442 28 151 6,228 - 9,948
Write-off e (1,773) (519) (142) (185) (733) - (3352
At 31 December 2023 R2023E128318 25,784 21,130 381 1,134 70,826 1,488 120,743
Net carrying amount: REPE:
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1518 18,776 15,244 181 378 77,001 82,588 194,168
At 31 December 2023 #2023E128318 17,657 13,950 194 1,526 134,599 41,770 209,696

In accordance with the Group's accounting policies, each asset
or CGU is evaluated annually at 31 December or biannually to
determine whether there are any indications of impairment. If

any such indications of impairment exist, a formal estimate of

the recoverable amount is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

In assessing whether an impairment is required, the carrying
value of each asset or CGU is compared with its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU’s fair
value less costs of disposal and VIU. Management has performed
impairment assessment on all of the carrying amounts of the
Group's property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets. For the purpose of impairment assessment,
the High-Fe Mining CGU (comprising the property, plant and
equipment, the intangible assets and the right-of-use assets of
Aba Mining) and the Shigou Gypsum Mine CGU (comprising
the property, plant and equipment, and the intangible assets)
are treated as separate CGU. The recoverable amounts of High-
Fe Mining CGU and Shigou Gypsum Mine CGU were estimated
based on its VIU determined by discounting the future cash
flows to be generated from the continuing use of these assets.
The VIUs calculation use cash flow projections based on a 5-year
financial budget approved by the management of the Group
as well as factors such as the remaining life of the mines,
production plan of the mines, long term growth rate ranging
from 2% to 2.5%, and pre-tax discount rates ranging between
11.92% and 16.12% (2023: between 13.75% and 16.67%)
depending on the nature of each CGU.

In determining some of the key assumptions, Management
considered external sources of information where appropriate.
Management considers the estimates applied in this impairment
assessment are reasonable. However, such estimates are subject
to significant uncertainties and judgements.

Other key assumptions used in the estimation of VIU are as
follows:

Resources — These represent one of the key factors the
management has considered during the impairment testing,
which comprise resources (measured, indicated and inferred)
estimated, on the basis of appropriate geological evidence and
sampling, with reference to the resources statements prepared
by appropriate competent persons.

12.

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

ME B ER=E @

RGBS BEHRER  REBTLE
BREREENREELSEMNREESRD
WEl&3E e Aol EAIRSELEN
B A T {E R & R A B BB W& Y
ReE BEECHAEEVE -BEXK
RE EBEEEURERESENME
RESRBEETREN G BT HRE
EmAEESRSESEN (BEMH
BEIME BERRE BEEEUK
TREEE REEAERREESEN
(BiEME - BERZBEUARBLEEERE)
WRABUNREELEBEURE -5 5
MEESREELEEMNRABOERER
SEEEMNTKREDSEENEGERE
B GERAMRTETRLESEEMEL
HARRIBERET) Gt -ERBEER
KRAEREBEEMENSFHYHESE
UERESHGER BREESE K
A ERNF2%E2.5% KIRATEEIRE
NFE11.92%FE16.12% (2023F : N F
13.75%%16.67%) (RFEEBEREEE
BUNMEME SRE FARRERE
FEAIGTE

REEBDETERRE BEEEERE
RERERINBERR - EEERA
FRETEPTANMETEBEE 22T &
FEEHS R ERTREE M R I Ef -

HEEREERERNEME2MKKRN
T

BERE-T"EEENRENZKEELERE
NERRAEZEZz — BRESETBEECER
ANIFiRENERERE ENEEM
ERBEAEEMBHNGERE (R
B~ 4R R HE ) o
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A B S TR B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Commodity prices — Forecast commodity prices are based on
management’s estimates and are derived from forward price
curves and long-term views of domestic supply and demand,
building on past experience of the industry and consistent
with external sources. These prices were adjusted to arrive
at appropriate consistent price assumptions for the different
qualities and type of commodities, or, where appropriate,
contracted prices were applied. These prices are reviewed at

least annually.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margin achieved in the recent years for High-Fe Mining CGUs
and Shigou Gypsum Mine CGUs, adjusted for management’s
expectations for possible changes in the production costs and

estimated market prices.

Production volumes — Estimated production volumes are
based on the detailed life of mine plans and take into account
development plans of the mine agreed by management as part

of the long-term planning process.

Discount rate — The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect

specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Capital requirements — The determination of estimated capital
requirements is based on the expertise of both internal and
external technical specialists, after considering, among others,
the overall mine design and planning, mining and processing

technologies, operational efficiency etc, as applicable.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with

external information sources.
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oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. ME - -BERSZSE @
(Continued)
Based on the above-mentioned impairment assessment, the ER EHURES > D E S m L E B
property, plant and equipment allocated to High-Fe Mining SREEXBEMUNYE BERZHH
CGU was determined to be impaired. An impairment loss of EERABTRE -BEREE2024F124
approximately RMB4,947,000 (2023: Nil) against property, plant BHIEFENEaBIME -KRERR
and equipment was recognised in profit or loss during the year BREREAARY4947,0007T (2023
ended 31 December 2024. The Group's management consider F &\ AERNEEERA EXE
the major factors contributing to the impairment were that the BABRENEIERZAS RUBSEIZER
financial performance of High-Fe mining business was adversely N BREZTPETERBFERS Y
affected by the continuous unfavourable industry environment B-LNEAERRSESLEMN T T
in the PRC. For Shigou Gypsum Mine CGU, the recoverable RhE AR 202451283 1B A Bl & 58
amounts are higher than the carrying amounts of the non- BREREEE  FEILREE2024F128
financial assets as at 31 December 2024, and no provision for 3B IEFEANEELRERE (2023
impairment was provided during the year ended 31 December F |-
2024 (2023: Nil).
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. BCEE
Exploration
Mining rights and
rights assets Software Total
RERE MEREREE LGS &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR%TR AR%FTR ARET=®
31 December 2024 2024%F12831H
Cost: 57NN
At 1 January 2024 1220241818 956,776 - 237 957,013
Additions NE - 76 - 76
At 31 December 2024 120245128311 956,776 76 237 957,089
Accumulated amortisation and RS RORE
impairment:
At 1 January 2024 1R2024%F151H 134,842 - 36 134,878
Amortisation provided FAHERES A
during the year (note 7) (Hi5E7) 2,468 - 24 2,492
Impairment loss HEEE 4,152 - - 4,152
At 31 December 2024 R2024%F12831H 141,462 - 60 141,522
Net carrying amount: AREEEE
At 1 January 2024 120241818 821,934 - 201 822,135
At 31 December 2024 20245 12831H 815,314 76 177 815,567
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

31 December 2023 2023%12831H
Cost: 7NN

At 1 January 2023 112023 181H
Additions V=

Transfer B

At 31 December 2023 12023F12831H
Accumulated amortisation and Rt RORE

impairment:
At 1 January 2023

K2023F181H

Amortisation provided FREHRNBHEEE
during the year (note 7) (KF5E7)

At 31 December 2023 $22023%12831H

Net carrying amount: IREREE

At 1 January 2023 12202351818

At 31 December 2023 122023%12831H

13. EWEE @

Exploration

Mining rights and
rights assets Software Total
KER MBREREE g Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFRT ARETRT ARBTR
800,295 65,991 237 866,523
90,490 - - 90,490
65,991 (65,991) - -
956,776 - 237 957,013
132,110 - 12 132,122
2,732 - 24 2,756
134,842 - 36 134,878
668,185 65,991 225 734,401
821,934 - 201 822,135

As at 31 December 2024, the mining rights of Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine with a net carrying amount of
RMB165,606,000 (2023: RMB172,226,000) were pledged to
secure the Group's bank loans (note 25(a)).

The management of the Group considered that there is
indication of impairment on the mining rights allocated to High-
Fe Mining CGU and the impairment assessment of the mining
rights has been performed together with the property, plant
and equipment (as detailed in note 12). Based on the above-
mentioned impairment assessment, an impairment loss of
approximately RMB4,152,000 was recognised into profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises and various
items of plant and machinery used in its operations. During the
reporting period, the Group entered into certain long-term lease
contracts for items of plant and machinery. Leases of office
premises have lease term within 3 years. Leases of plant and
machinery generally have lease term between 1 and 20 years.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

R2024F181H
bE R R
e MsE7)

As at 1 January 2024

Exchange realignment

Depreciation charge
(note 7)

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12831H

As at 1 January 2023 20231818

Additions NE

Exchange realignment bE 2 FE R

Depreciation charge e H (ME7)
(note 7)

As at 31 December 2023 72023%FE12831H

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

14. #HE
SEBFR/EBA
FEEMREBIAZERAEYEUR
FEBER%SFREEITIHAESN R
REBARN REEMKE ~EBEBE]
UETRIAHESGN -MAEMERE
FE A 3E M o BB Kt 23 A B VTR AR
—MRABIE20F c—RME > NERBTA
BHEEEBER DA T AERINA
:': o
(a) RZAREE
FEBEGRAEEENRASER
FREFHWT
Office Plant and
premises machinery Total
EYNELY/E S B Rt 23 AE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT
864 22,144 23,008
(8) = (8)
(302) (1,938) (2,240)
554 20,206 20,760
Office Plant and
premises machinery Total
I NESY/ES o B e 1% 28 ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBEF T ARBTT AREF T
8 23,087 23,095
915 2,518 3,433
7 - 7
(66) (3,461) (3,527)
864 22,144 23,008
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

14. LEASES (Continued) 14.

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January F1B1HNRE S8

New lease (note 31(b)) MAEE (F5E31(b)

Accretion of interest recognised AR ESFIE (FisE6)
during the year (note 6)

Payments INEN

Exchange realignment bE S EE

Carrying amount at 31 December 712833 1BWERE &8

Analysed into: baiie=
Current portion RENE D
Non-current portion JEmENEL D

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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HE @
SEBREAREAN @
(b) HEEE
S ENEES AR E R e
mF
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBF T
23,213 24,738
- 3,433
1,091 1,071
(3,213) (6,036)
(8) 7
21,083 23,213
2,226 2,124
18,857 21,089
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Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) EBERSEEA®
()  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to () MEEREEEENEREUNT

leases are as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT ARB®FT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6) FHE&EMNF] B (s6) 1,091 1,071
Depreciation charge of FEREBEEEMNITESE (HEE14@))
right-of-use assets (note 14(a)) 2,240 3,527
Expense relating to short-term BIRHITEE AR
leases (included in Gt ATTERES) (MFsE7~
administrative expenses) MF5E31(c))
(note 7, note 31(c)) 144 140
Total amount recognised RIS ARER
in profit or loss 3,475 4,738
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) HENRERHBRBRESHF
31(c) to the consolidated financial statements. WRMFEIT(QOIKE -
15. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 15. REEEEN#ER
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥F T
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1THNRE S8 - -
Investments, at cost BE (BA) 2,500 -
Share of net assets E{FEE 1,680 -
Carrying amount at 31 December R12831HERE S8 4,180 =
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Year

ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 128310 IEFEE

15.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 15.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interests in the

RETENRED ®
2024128318 KEBRUTEE

following joint ventures: rEEAER
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Registered interests attributable

Name of joint ventures business share capital to the Company Principal activities

=311 A g NG|

RETERE B REEMES EER TR RAEZEDE FTEEH

Sichuan Shengjiawei Property PRC RMB5,000,000 50% Facility management
Service Co., Ltd.* HE AR & (Note (a)) services
(“Sichuan Shengjiawei") 5,000,0007% 50% R E IR RS

)18 B R RS (MF5E(a))

BRAE (TI0) & ER)

Sichuan Yufengwei Property PRC RMB5,000,000 50% Facility management
Service Co., Ltd.* HE AR & (Note (b)) services
(“Sichuan Yufengwei”) 5,000,0007% 50% BRI E RS

WS F SRS (fF5E(b))

BRAR (M) FE )

* English name is for identification purpose only. * B EFEIERAT

Notes: B 5%

(a) On 7 December 2023, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary (a) R2023F12B7H AR EINEES

of the Company, Sichuan Lingwei, has entered into a capital
contribution agreement with an independent third party (the
"JV partner 1”) to incorporate a joint venture company, namely
Sichuan Shengjiawei, with nil identifiable assets, pursuant to
which the Group and the JV partner 1, an independent third
party, held as to 50% and 50%, respectively. Pursuant to
the capital contribution agreement, each of Sichuan Lingwei
and the JV partner 1 is entitled to appoint 2 out of 4 board
members of Sichuan Shengjiawei and the key strategic financial
and operating decisions in relation to Sichuan Shengjiawei’s
operation require the unanimous consent of all board members.
In the opinion of the Directors, these key decisions are related
to the activities that significantly affect the returns of Sichuan
Shengjiawei. Accordingly, neither Sichuan Lingwei nor the
JV partner 1 has the ability to control Sichuan Shengjiawei
unilaterally and Sichuan Shengjiawei is therefore considered as
jointly controlled by Sichuan Lingwei and the JV partner 1. As
the Group has rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement,
Sichuan Shengjiawei is accounted for as a joint venture of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

On 7 December 2023, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Sichuan Lingwei, has entered into a capital
contribution agreement with an independent third party (the
"JV partner 2") to incorporate a joint venture company, namely
Sichuan Yufengwei, with nil identifiable assets, pursuant to
which the Group and the JV partner 2, an independent third
party, held as to 50% and 50%, respectively. Pursuant to the
capital contribution agreement, each of Sichuan Lingwei and the
JV partner 2 is entitled to appoint 2 out of 4 board members of
Sichuan Yufengwei and the key strategic financial and operating
decisions in relation to Sichuan Yufengwei’s operation require
the unanimous consent of all board members. In the opinion
of the Directors, these key decisions are related to the activities
that significantly affect the returns of Sichuan Yufengwei.
Accordingly, neither the Sichuan Lingwei nor the JV partner 2
has the ability to control Sichuan Yufengwei unilaterally and
Sichuan Yufengwei is therefore considered as jointly controlled
by Sichuan Lingwei and the JV partner 2. As the Group has
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement, Sichuan
Yufengwei is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

15.
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R2023F12B7H A ABINEES
BEF R ERE—2BIE=F
(TEErEBEHZDTL—HEE
e UMM —EaEhEmI
FERH > UEAMNEE BKIL > K
EEEBUE-HEECEBHID
AFFES50%K50% 5 o IRIFHE W
FoOENIFEREEGILRESR
mINERAeEtEBroSaa#
ZE2% MERDEIIFEHERRE
REEMEVBEREERE AL
EEERERAR - EERA X
EHBATHREELEN)IFEHME
RHEE AR AL M)INERAS
EhERMHIHRENBESEmZET
JNFEEE S FEEwEAEZH
NERBEEPEBN L HERES
HRAEEZEEERHFEE B
TINFERARIMERERNGE B
o

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF

199



200

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

15.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Relationship with joint ventures

Sichuan Shengjiawei and Sichuan Yufengwei are engaged in
the provision of facility management services in PRC, which
could allow the Group to leverage the facilities management
expertise of other joint venturers to expand the Group’s facility
management business.

Fair value of investments
Sichuan Shengjiawei and Sichuan Yufengwei are not listed and
there is no quoted market price available for the investments.

Financial information of joint ventures

The table below shows, in aggregate, the carrying amount
and the Group's share of results of joint ventures that are not
individually material and accounted for using the equity method.

Carrying amount of interests HmiRE S8
Group's share of profit and total AEEBGFEARFER
comprehensive income for the year T EW R AEEE

15.
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01| B 2 R PO 1| T B A B A 3R
R G RIRE  ARAEE B R
AECENRHERE LRSS
B0 B IR T o

REAFE
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2024 2023

20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREBTT
4,180 -

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
HZE20244 HZE20234F
128318 IEEE  12A31HILEEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARBTT
1,680 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
oo B 5 R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 16. FA{YFIE- HthEIERIE K

OTHER ASSETS Hth&EE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
M5 AR%TT AREFT
Current portion: BB
Prepayments consisting of: FANRIEEE -
Purchase of raw materials BERME (a) 103,187 91,650
Utilities RAR 167 251
Other prepayments HMFE(RIE 863 296
Other receivables consisting of: HhFEWFRIERLE !
Deductible value-added tax input  FIHIE I ER 887 560
Other receivables HEUWRIE 3,310 3,742
108,414 96,499
Impairment allowance DR Eia (b) (235) (606)
108,179 95,893
Non-current portion: FETBNE S -
Prepayment for the maintenance B ERAFETE(IFNIE
of a road 373 423
108,552 96,316

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

16.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The balance represents prepayment for purchase of steels for
trading business to suppliers, independent third parties in
accordance with the terms of contract.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are as follows:

At beginning of year RER]
Reversal of impairment loss BEEERED
At end of year REF

Where applicable, impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering expected credit losses, which are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to
reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate.

16.
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AR¥TFT AR®ETFT
606 606

(371) -

235 606

EERABRT AEETNEREH
PEBETEREBERBRETRED
o MBRERBRNSD2RAEEN
FESE RS IRAC SR IE I IB R A st e
FEBETRBHEEE URKRER
AR SR RS R B TRR (AnE
) e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

taxation:

17. DEFERRED TAX 17. IEIETRIA
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as EERBEEENRFANEEWT !
follows:
Losses
available for Excess tax
offsetting  depreciation
against over book Provision
taxable value of for Provision for
profits  fixed assets rehabilitation  impairment Others Total
EEEEN
AT 3 REHE
SRR BUHERER
FIEMNER MELE ERREE AERE Hith A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTR ARBTR AE%®TR ARBFR AR®Tx AEETR
At 1 January 2023 12023E181H 2,109 4,415 885 1,039 902 9,350
Deferred tax (charged) FREER (0 NIEL
to profit or loss during & (59)
the year (note 9) - (1,643) (102) (274) (112) (2,131)
Deferred tax assets 12023E12831BR0E
at 31 December 2023 EREEE 2,109 2,772 783 765 790 7,219
At 1 January 2024 1202451818 2,109 2,772 783 765 790 7,219
Deferred tax credited/ FERERZAR/ (N
(charged) to profit or loss  BYIEIEMRIE (Hi:9)
during the year (note 9) (398) 2,084 252 3,449 25 5,412
Deferred tax assets #20245128318ME
at 31 December 2024 EREEE 1,711 4,856 1,035 4,214 815 12,631
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated financial ARG EMBRRETMERERIEE
statements, the following is the analysis of the deferred HE AT -

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®ETT AEB®FT

Deferred tax assets FIERIBE & 13,111 8,705
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIBEE (480) (1,486)
12,631 7,219
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

17.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has tax losses arising from
Mainland China of RMB409,915,000 (2023: RMB408,220,000) that
would expire in one to five years and other deductible temporary
differences of RMB112,153,000 (2023: RMB112,153,000) that
were available for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses and
deductible temporary differences as it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which they can be
utilised.

Deferred tax assets related to the PRC subsidiaries have been
provided at the enacted corporate income tax rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has been effective from
1 January 2008 and applied to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The withholding tax rate for the Group is
10%.

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’'s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future.

17.
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

INVENTORIES 18. &8
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AR¥F T
Raw materials R A7 # 10,848 13,565
Spare parts and consumables BERHREED 5,713 2,765
Finished goods B & 5,266 1,160
Costs to fulfil contracts BiTE A A& 3,190 1,205
25,017 18,695
Less: Write-down of inventories B EEMUR (4,691) -
20,326 18,695
TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. EBWERREER
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AE®FT
Trade receivables & S BR =X 75,494 100,290
Bills receivable et - 19,566
75,494 119,856
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEBHARTPFNESZEKRETEALRIE
credit. During the year, the Group granted credit terms ranging ER-Fr AEEATERF—ENEAR
from one month to four months (2023: one month to four (2023F : —EUES) S AHE - UK
months) to its customers. Trade receivables are non-interest- R ANt B R B iF o

bearing and unsecured.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

19.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 19.
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of each

reporting period, based on the date of revenue recognised, is as

follows:

Within 3 months 3B A
3 to 6 months 3E6EA
6 to 9 months 6ZE9EA

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year REF]
Reversal of impairment losses PEREL S EcE
At end of year REF#

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.
by customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due and are not subject to enforcement activity.

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

FEWER R EE @)
MNEBREHFR > ERERER WA RS

HEAREREE D AT U0 -
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AEREFT
74,779 100,290
705 -
10 -
75,494 100,290

FEBIRTREBIEFHERNEEHMT :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFT AREBTT
= 2,674

= (2,674)

REREEH ~ERNBEFEERES
STHIEREXR UETRED - &
BERDBDERZERBELGEEREANE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

Expected credit loss rate FEHR(E HiE =X
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BRE#2ZE (AR BT 7T)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  TEHA(S FI1E% (AR T 7T)

As at 31 December 2023

Expected credit loss rate FEHR(E B =X
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FRE#EZE (AR BT 7T)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  FAEAE 1%L (AR T 1)

Transfers of financial assets

The Group endorsed bank acceptance bills to its suppliers for
settling trade payables of the same amounts on a full recourse
basis. All bank acceptance bills had a maturity term from one to
six months at the end of the reporting period.

19.

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

FEUWNBR TR R 4 ()
TXEFF R EEERSHAEEER
RMPFTEHEERRBHNER :
20245%F12831H
Current Past due Total
ENHA B HA 45t
75,494 715 75,494
20235 12831H
Current Past due Total
B EA 21 HR 4Est
- N/A 78 N/A 38
100,290 - 100,290

BETHEE

76 [ 12 2 OB B B ) £ FE S 1 5 98
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

19.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
Transferred financial assets that are
derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had not endorsed any
bills receivable to its suppliers. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by banks with
high credit quality in the PRC to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables to these suppliers with a carrying
amount in aggregate of RMB3,595,000 (referred to as the
"Derecognised Bills”). In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills
and the associated trade payables.

The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their
face amounts. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of
the Group's Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
are not significant.

No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year and cumulatively.

Transferred financial assets that are not
derecognised in their entirety

The other bank acceptance bills with a total carrying amount of
RMB19,566,000 endorsed by the Group to its suppliers as at 31
December 2023 to settle trade payables of the same amounts,
were not derecognised. In the opinion of the Directors, the
Group retained substantially all risks and rewards of these bank
acceptance bills, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the
full carrying amounts of these bills receivable and the associated
liabilities.

19.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

20. BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES 20. EARAEE A BASER
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
I ex AR%TT AREFT
Due from related parties: VA Gl Vet eI
Trade receivables P& U BR =R
— Huili Caitong Iron and Titanium  —FIEHHEEHRKERET
Co., Ltd. (“Huili Caitong") ~El (TFEFE) (a) 713 943
— Huili Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd. —ZEBFIHEEBFR AR
(“Xiushuihe Mining”) (TFBACAHEZ ) (b) 815 444
— Yanyuan Xigang Cleaned Coal —BRANEIEBRER
Co., Ltd. (“Yanyuan Xigang") NE) (TERPEHE]) (b) 1,378 71
Non-trade in nature EESMHHE
— Huili Caitong —ZIERE (0) 231 866
- Xiushuihe Mining —F KB () — 22
3,137 2,346
Due to related parties: JETT B 5 7k A
Trade payables P& 1 BR 7R
— Huili Caitong —ZEYE (9) 403 14
— Xiushuihe Mining —FHIKAHEEE (9) 3,393 28
— Yanyuan Xigang — B R 7 il (9) 162 44
Non-trade in nature EESMHEHE
— Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., —mNENEEREBR
Ltd. (“Chuan Wei") A8 (NHED) (d) 1,496 2,050
— Trisonic International — SRR (e) 4,690 467
— Huili Caitong —ZEE (f) 2,286 2,286
12,430 4,889
Analysed into: DA
Current portion mEIE D 3,958 2,603
Non-current portion JERBIL D 8,472 2,286
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

20. BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(@

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

The balance due from Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2024
represented trade receivables from the rendering of facility
management services provided by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024, while the balance as at 31 December
2023 represented trade receivables on the rendering of
consultancy services provided by the Group.

The balance due from Xiushuihe Mining and Yanyuan Xigang
as at 31 December 2024 represented trade receivables from the
rendering of facility management services provided by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Pertain to guarantee fees income arising from the CVT
Guarantees based on 1.25% of the maximum guaranteed
amounts. For further details, please refer to note 32(a).

Chuan Wei is ultimately controlled by the same beneficial
owners of the Company. The balances due to Chuan Wei
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 mainly comprised goods
purchased paid by Chuan Wei on behalf of the Group, which
was interest-free and not repayable within 12 months.

The balance due to Trisonic International as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 mainly represented an interest-free loan granted
by Trisonic International, which was not repayable within 12
months.

The balance due to Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2024
represented goods purchased paid by Huili Caitong on behalf
of the Group, which was interest-free and not repayable within
next 12 months.

The balances due to Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and
Yanyuan Xigang represented the purchase of raw materials by
the Group, which was repayable on demand.

20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 21.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER

Less: pledged time deposits for issue of & : FEEITET ZIRE RN
bills payable BHAER

Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEEY

The Group's cash and bank balances are denominated in RMB at
the end of each reporting period, except for the following:

Cash and bank balances denominated in: LU A EBHENIRS KIET
HKD BT
SGD N T

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

RERREEEBMUREE
RER
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR¥F T
11,906 8,063
(25) (25)
11,881 8,038

FEENRERBITEFRNSKREHR
DANRBSHE T HIRIRRRS

+ 24

AL ER

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TT AE®BFT
769 336

273 275

ARBARITEHRBRAEMER 24T
RIBHEIINEERRG RGEE  EEK
NEEERE AEREEBBERE
ETHEXEBNRTHRARBRZBAH
thE-

RTRERENSHRTERMRFE
BRI R RB - RITEFRBERER
EFRRERERENCHRAEEETREN
iRfTe
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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22.

23.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date or
issuance date, where appropriate, is as follows:

Within 180 days 180K
181 to 365 days 1812 365K
1 to 2 years 1E24F

2 to 3 years 2E34F
Over 3 years HBIB3F

Trade payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within 180 days.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Advances received from customers BREF B
Sale of self-produced high-grade iron

concentrates

The movement of contract liabilities for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 was mainly due to the increase in
advances received from customers in relation to the sale of self-
produced high-grade iron concentrate at the end of the year.

HEBESmUMIEE

22. FE(TER®X

RBREMR AERBBRMRRENER

HEfs 3 W B A (@A) BUERES D AT

T
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AEREFT
22,878 63,649
32,567 1,348
2,663 1,608
1,451 2,149
4,026 2,275
63,585 71,029

AEBNBMERATEE  BERI80

RAMEHE -

23. SH&aE

2024
20244
RMB'000
AR¥TT

22,097

2023
20234
RMB'000
AREFT

28,883

B E2024F K%2023F12831HIEFEW
EHEBEEFTECHNERMBES
EnnEEED NE DR IIEMA

e
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23.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Changes in contract liabilities during the reporting periods are as

follows:

At 1 January

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning
of year

Increase due to cash received, excluding
amounts recognised as revenue
during the year

Decrease due to cash refunded
during the year

At 31 December

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

B1A18

SEAFEVGNEaEN BRI A

23.

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

BB E®
SHBEENREARNSINT

HFANCUWIRE MBI T EER

SR ONE

HAERBREREMRELD

128315

A=
TRENES D

FEREIBD

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled within

the Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as non-current

based on the Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or

services to the customers.

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AEB®FT
28,883 8,216
(4,648) (8,044)
1,905 28,847
(4,043) (136)
22,097 28,883
2,097 8,883
20,000 20,000

BHRAERAEEEREEBRATGEE
NENaRRsEEnERFBRE RS
RBENEENRERESEAIETRS-
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e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Current portion: MBEE

Payables related to: AN TFIIEENEMTRIE!
Construction in progress EETE
Taxes other than income tax FRPTSIRIMNNIRIE
Exploration and evaluation assets  EHERFEHE E
Payroll and welfare payable FE (T 3 & S 1R F]

Consultancy and professional B RBEEREE
services fees

Mining right payable FE AT $R B A

Deposits received Bl E

Accrued government surcharges e BUSHI I &

Accrued interest expenses fESTR B

Other payables Hfh e I8

Non-current portion: FETRENE S -

Mining right payable FE (S $R B4

Other payable Hfh e I8

Accrued interest expenses EsT R B

Note:

(@) The balance of mining right payable as at 31 December

2024 represented the remaining balance of mining right
payable of approximately RMB43,700,000 (equivalents to
a present value of approximately RMB36,260,000) (2023:
RMB49,950,000 (equivalents to a present value of approximately
RMB40,524,000) for resource integration process of mining
rights to the relevant PRC government authority, which the
remaining balance is scheduled to be paid over seven annual
instalments up to 31 December 2031.

24. HMMEMRIERESTIE

2024 2023
20244 20234

Note RMB'000 RMB'000
=S ARETFT ARETFTT
13,832 27,094

1,907 7,958

9,121 8,925

14,529 11,486

1,174 1,192

(a) 4,473 4,264
668 544

4,529 4,529

2 609

13,346 10,105

63,581 76,706

(a) 31,787 36,260
30,680 17,468

639 -

63,106 53,728

126,687 130,434

(a) R2024F 12831 BN ENRIBERLG
BRIEMIRBRE RESZFECERH
FREIB AT BR RV ER T ERIE RS RO A
EE#43,700,0007t (BERREHA
FE1636,260,0007T) (20234 @ AR
49,950,000t ((BERBENARE
40,524,0007T)) > Bk FAEERTERE R
2031 F12A3 M HAS tFHOHAX
ffo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
oo B 5 R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. FFERIRITREMES
BORROWINGS
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B3 5E AR®ETT AEB®FT
Bank loans — Secured RITER—BIEF (a) 69,600 69,600
Bank loans — Unsecured RITEM—EILH (b) 2,800 -
Other borrowings — Unsecured HhEE — E g (c) 19,044 12,994
91,444 82,594
Analysed into: PR =N
Bank loans repayable: JEI T A BRI EEAY
RITE -
Within one year —FR 72,400 69,600
Other borrowings repayable: FER T3 BT 1B A
BEMEE
Within one year —FRN - -
In the second year E_F 19,044 12,994
19,044 12,994
Total bank and other borrowings RITRAEMEERLE 91,444 82,594
Balances classified as DA MEE BN
current liabilities (72,400) (69,600)
Balances classified as DIEAIEREBENGER
non-current liabilities 19,044 12,994
2024 2023
20245 20234
(Effective interest rate)
(B EFZE)
Bank loans RITEMR 3.35%-3.55% 5.00%
Other borrowings HMEE 4.00% 4.00%-5.00%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wr o B S R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 128310 IEFEE

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. STRIEITREMBES @
BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: F5E -
(a) As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank loan of (a) W2024F128A31H AEB AR

RMB69,600,000 (2023: RMB69,600,000) are secured by:

(i) Mining rights of Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine with
a net carrying amount of RMB165,606,000 (2023:
RMB172,226,000) (note 13); and

(i) 100% equity of Aba Mining held by Sichuan Lingyu.

(b) The balance as at 31 December 2024 represented one year (b)
loans granted by financial institutions to Sichuan Lingwei at the
annual interest rate of 3.55%. These loans were unsecured with
repayment terms of one year.

(c) The balance as at 31 December 2024 represented long-term (c)
loans granted by an independent third party to Aba Mining at
the annual interest rates of 4.00% (2023: 4.00% to 5.00%).
These loans were unsecured with repayment terms of two years
(2023: fifteen months to two years).

#69,600,0007C (2023F 1 AR
69,600,0007T) IRTTE R TF]IE
SEGEEEEN

(i) REFHEAARIE
165,606,0007T (20234 :
AR#172,226,0007T) B9%E
F-FRLSEERER (s
13) s &

(ii) T EE PR Pl B AR £ 100%
Bt

12024512831 H VA RIS R S R
WEEEEEEN—FHER F
FIZEAH3.55% ZEEMABIKT
BRHRA—F-

R2024FE 12831 AN RIER— %
BUS=rafBRERENESHE
o ERFEAA.00% (2023£ 1 4.00%
E5.00%) cZEERA/BIRT B
THAME (2023F . +HEAEM
F) o

26. PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION 26. EREE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T ARETF T
At beginning of year REH] 15,303 14,660
Additions NE — 714
Unwinding of discount (note 6) ALIR[EI4 (MP5E6) 778 753
Utilisation during the year FARENH (238) (824)
At end of year RE# 15,843 15,303
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27.

SHARE CAPITAL

Number of ordinary shares

Authorised ordinary shares of HKD 0.1

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of
HKD 0.1

Amounts
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of
HKD 0.1

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

follows:

At 1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
oo B 5 R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

2023
20234

10,000,000,000

2,249,015,410

27. BB7
2024
20244
TiEREE
EE0 BT A EZER 10,000,000,000
E{E0. 1B T BEETRBEEER
2,249,015,410
2024
202445
RMB'000
AR¥FT
+%8
H{E0. 1B TN BEETRBEEER
197,889

2023
20234
RMB'000
ARMF T

197,889

Number of
shares in issue

BRTRHEE

R2024F 1B 1H K2024FE12831H
2,249,015,410

AT B A EEDT

Issued capital
BEITRE
RMB'000
AREF T

197,889
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e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
2010 Option Scheme

On 15 April 2010, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2010 Option Scheme”). Eligible participants of
the 2010 Option Scheme include Directors, chief executives,
substantial shareholders or employees (whether full time or part
time) of any member of the Group and any persons whom the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the development and growth of the Group. The
2010 Option Scheme remained in force for 10 years from its
adoption date, and expired on 14 April 2020, no option may be
granted thereafter. During the Reporting Period, all 9,600,000
outstanding share options granted under the 2010 Share Option
Scheme lapsed on 14 April 2024 and there were no share
options granted, exercised or cancelled. Following the lapse
of these share options, there are no longer outstanding share

options under the 2010 Option Scheme.

2020 Option Scheme

On 16 June 2020, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the "2020 Option Scheme”). Eligible participants of
the 2020 Option Scheme include Directors, chief executives,
substantial shareholders or employees (whether full time or part
time) of any member of the Group and any persons whom the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the development and growth of the Group. The
number of share options available for grant under the scheme
mandate of the 2020 Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024, respectively, is 224,901,541 which
represented 10% of the total number of shares of the Company

in issue on the adoption date of the 2020 Option Scheme.
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28.

A% 17 HA 4 51 2
2010F HATE T2
2010F48 158 » KA BIRM—IBRL 5
HERESHE (T 2010F HAMEET21)) 20104
RTINS ERZ2EATOELAER
EAREABNEE - RESTHAES
TREXEHARREE URES
ZERNERAELABTHEAEEN
BERMIEREHEMRNEMRA L2010
FHET IR BERA R 10ER—
BEEM R2020FE48 140 28 E R >
MRS RHBAE RRESHAR 250
9,600,000/7 1R #E2010FE AT EI T H
s ARITERRDHAREER20245F48
1AB 38> W AR~ (TS SR
R EARE o M2 SRR D HARE R 18 > 1]
R HAREAR 201 0 BRRE 5T &8I 1 R 1T
fifo

2020F HATE T2

120206 5 16H » &/A B R A —IE 1D
HERESHEI (T 2020 HAMEET 1) ©20204F
RTINS ERZEATOELAER
EARERABDNESET RSTHRAEE
EZERFREHIARBRERE UREST
ERNBERAECAFTEHEAERNE
BRIEBREHERMNMEM AL 122024
F1H1HK2024%12831H » 1R4#2020
FHRES M 2R TR ENRD
BB DB A224,901,54110 > HHE R
2020 HAREST R IR H AR A B B 81T
BRAD AR EAY10% ©



28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

2020 Option Scheme (Continued)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
Board, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal
value of shares of the Company; (ii) the average closing price
of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the share options; and (iii) the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange closing price of the Company's
shares on the date of grant of the share options. The offer of
a grant of share options may be accepted upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Directors provided that no option may be exercised more
than 10 years from the date of grant. The 2020 Option Scheme
remained in force for 10 years from its adoption date, and shall
expire on 15 June 2030, unless otherwise cancelled or amended.

As at 31 December 2024, no share options have been granted
to any eligible participants since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2010
Option Scheme during the year:

#2023F12H31H
FREM
—2010FHAtEST &)

As at 31 December 2023
Lapsed during the year
— 2010 Option Scheme

As at 31 December 2024 72024F12831H

Note:

(@) The share options outstanding as at 1 January 2024 represented
share options granted under the 2010 Option Scheme by the
Company on 15 April 2014 at the exercise price of HKD1.00 per
share.

28.

Note

B 5E

(a)

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

B iR HARE ST 21 ()

2020F HAME ST B (@)
RRMEENITEERESSET  HER
BERTHNEERINRSE ()EAFR
HEE ;(NVEABRMDNBERE RN
HEAPENAERZ BNFEHREE ;
R(i)AR R B RGO FERGHAEB RN
ERABTFIRTE - BHROBERENE
HARABRBAZCTEH1BTHRER
RER W - FTIR BRI EMNITER
MESET HHERINENEEAE
TMI0ERBITE BRIFBITHMEHET T
BI20204F HA#E 5T 8 R R 40 B HARE 511048
N—EEW > L 2030468150 3 HA
[E i °

$R20245F12831H » BIR#M2020F EA#E
R BIEAEAEERSE AL
BRHEEARDERE

PERRIE2010F RS 8 i RITERY
AR HAREADT ¢

Weighted
average exercise Number of
price options
HKD per share ‘000
MEFIGTEE HEHE
sREBT F15
1.00 9,600
(1.00) (9,600)

st

(a 72202451 B 1 B # R 1T RIS RARE
B R EIR2014F48 158142010
FHARE T BRITEESR.008 T
B B9 HA A o
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Number of options

28. R HEAREETE @

R2024% %2023 12831 B E R TEHN
BRAD BRI T BB R AT ESRW T ¢

HAtE# B
As at As at
31 December Expired 31 December Exercise
Category of 2023 during 2024 price per
participant 1220235 the period 1220245 share
SHEHER 12H31H AR E W 12H31H BRITEE
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 HKD
F15 T4 F15 HIT
Directors/ 550 (550) - 1.00
executives
of the 275 (275) - 1.00
Company
ok Y N/N| 275 (275) - 1.00
THAE
Employees of 4,250 (4,250) - 1.00
the Group
rEEES 2,125 (2,125) - 1.00
2,125 (2,125) - 1.00
9,600 —

As at 31 December 2024, all the share options had been lapsed
and the corresponding share option reserve of approximately
RMB9,121,000 has been transferred to accumulated losses
accordingly. There were no share options outstanding as at 31
December 2024.

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Exercise period

TR

15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
2014108 15HE2024F4514H
15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015F 48158 E2024F4814H
15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015108 15HE20245F4814H

15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
2014108 15H £2024F4814H
15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015548158 EF2024%F4814H
15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
20155108158 £2024F4814H

R2024%F12831H FRERIDEBENXE
KX BRENRMEEEBOARKE
9,121,000t EEE E RET 518 < 722024
F12831 5 & s R ITE R AR D HA#E o



29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity in the consolidated

financial statements.

(a)

(b)

Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands.
Under the constitutional documents and the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
distributable as dividend on the condition that the
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in
the ordinary course of business at the time the proposed
dividend is to be paid.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
each of the PRC subsidiaries other than Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profits after tax,
as determined in accordance with the PRC Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP"), to the
statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR") until such reserve
reaches 50% of its registered capital.

As Sichuan Lingyu is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise,
according to the Rules for the Implementation of
Foreign-funded Enterprise Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of Sichuan Lingyu, Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and the SRF are non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used
to offset accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up
capital.

29.

&

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

FEERFAEERBEFENRFESER
RESFHRIEEVHRRNGEGRES
FREY -

(a)

(b)

Rz 15 i (B AR
ROEBRNEAZHEHEA
AEEE REARERGR
BEeNEARE EIRGEIKR
B RATEMNERBEE
BBRFNERINBRIARE
EENER T RISHETES
BESDKe

EELREE
BRABEABERTETF AR
ENABERMA SFEFA
B (IU)IE RSN B ke i
BABEAREHRANEENRE
FMENIO%ELAERBR LTRSS
BEEZ N EEEEHAMEAN
50%# 1k e

HRmINERAS—BSEEEER
FOREPRENECEEZEHMA
Al EEB A B ZRMA
m)InEEAE R RE ARG SR
ADEHEI10%NEFBEZEA
B2 BEERZLABEEEZHEM
BARM50%7% ko

BRBBIN FEBBABERE
ERAREHARTBEDIK LR
BE T AR R EE R PR G o 0%
ERBBEABREREEAREH A
ERE RS BRI RERERE
BREZR-

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF

221



222

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e W 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

29. RESERVES (continued)

(o)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the Company's shares
issued in exchange of or consideration paid for
subsidiaries acquired and the aggregate amount of
the nominal value for the paid-up capital of these
subsidiaries attributable to the owners of the Company
for business combinations under common control.

Safety fund surplus reserve

Pursuant to a Notice regarding Safety Production
Expenditure jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance
and the State Administration of Work Safety of the PRC
in February 2012, the Group is required to establish
a safety fund surplus reserve based on the volume of
mineral ore extracted. The safety fund can only be
transferred to retained earnings to offset safety related
expenses as and when they are incurred, including
expenses related to safety protection facilities and
equipment improvement and maintenance as well as
safety production inspection, appraisal, consultation and
training.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to
the share premium account when the related options
are exercised, or be transferred to retained earnings/
accumulated losses when the related options expire. As
at 31 December 2024, all share options were lapsed and
the corresponding share option reserve was transferred
to accumulated losses.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represented the Group’s capital
injection to subsidiaries by way of transfer from retained
profits in 2012.

29.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

WARER

BB RIS 42 B B LS FT UR
BFRagst A EMmET
BYZA A B B 17 T {8 2 i H B4
THEZGHMEFEENERT
BEAANZEFRANBEER
E{ERTRZ ERELE

Z2EEHEH#ME
REFEFEPEBRERZEEE
EEREEEEMN2012E28 4
BHEN—BRENZEEEENE
Mo AEBBEPFEARESMNK
ULZEESHEHRE T2ES
RAERRZE2EEBAZESE
BEBREEERALLHAER
MY GEERTRERREIR
AREEURZEZEERS T
fE B s AR -

AG D HARE Rk

RO REEEERHEE X
TENKRMDEEENATE E—
THMB RSB RKRWNE2.4
BRAURKRMDAERNCTRN G5t
BE oz BR N ER R ET
FRFEEER M HER > N8
R E RSB ERERA
RetE1E 1120245128318 >
FrERM BB RN EEN
ROBREREEEERERSE
8o

BEAE
ARABIEAEER2012658
fEE R B RN T A EH
BOEH o



30.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiary that has material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by
non-controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan

Total comprehensive loss for the year
allocated to non-controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan

Accumulated balances of non-controlling
interests at the reporting date:
Sichuan Haoyuan

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial

information of the above subsidiary.

Other income and gain
Other expenses
Income tax expenses

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net cash flows from operating activities

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
oo B 5 R B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

BAEEXRIFERESNIER
BEFRTHE

5 B AR R A EEF AR
BERHMT

30.

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AR®FT
JEERERTIFR ARV E DL
)&= 49% 49%
PDEEFZEREZNEANZEERE
4EEE
)l Ei= 573 (617)
RIRE B IR E R Rt eR
ma)lE= 294,587 294,014

TERRBPUEFABNEEMHER -

Net cash flows used in investing activities B EZBEENIRES N2 F%E

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IRE RIFESZE BRI F 5B

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®ETT AEB®BFT

EH AU A B W &= 1,617 327
HMpEZ (370) (1,586)
Frigfi sz & (78) -
FALEEBIBELE 1,169 (1,259)
MENE E 766 944
ERBEE 660,057 660,140
REEE (47,818) (61,056)
JEREasE (11,806) =
KEEHFARNIRESREFEE - 296
= (302)
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 31.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023,

the Group had a non-cash decrease to due to
related parties of RMB1,016,000, in respect of
offsetting against due from related parties of
RMB1,016,000.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had a non-cash decrease of bills receivable
and other borrowings of RMB2,496,000
in respect of the payment satisfied by bills
receivable.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had a non-cash increase to other payables
of RMB40,524,000 in respect of addition to
mining rights as included in intangible assets.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from

meRTRERME
(a) EFEIFRERH

)

(i)

(iii)

REE2023F12831H 1k
FEC-AEBEBBANIE
1 FE W R B 75 R IE AR IS
1,016,0007z BY FE 1< A B
FRBIERERVAAR
#1,016,0007T °

REZE2023F12831H1E
FE > AEEBRUEBIK
EREMIHNRIENERE
BREMEEIFRSE D
A NR12,496,0007s °

REE2023F12831H1E
FE CAEEBREAES
ABEEENRERENE
HEMRIBIEREIEMNA
ANE#40,524,0007T ©

(b) REEEBIFAE S EME

financing activities D)
Year ended 31 December 2024 H#F2024F12831HLEEE
Bank and Amounts due
other Interest to related Lease
borrowings payable parties liabilities
RITR P& 1 A
Htfe & FESFE BrA A HEaR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®BTT AE®BTR AE®BTR AR®BTR
At 1 January 2024 #202441818 82,594 609 4,889 23,213
Changes from financing cash FIERESHREEH
flows 8,850 (3.863) 3,669 (3,213)
New lease (note 14(b)) MAEE (MEE14b) - = = =
Interest expense (note 6) FEREZ (sF6) - 3,895 - 1,091
Exchange realignment ERAE - - - (8)
Others Hith - - (86) =
At 31 December 2024 72024%12831H 91,444 641 8,472 21,083
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

(b)

(c)

At 1 January 2023
Changes from financing
cash flows
New lease (note 14(b))
Interest expense (note 6)
Exchange realignment
Payment satisfied by
bills receivable
Payment satisfied by
debt offsetting

At 31 December 2023

A 1 S 05 R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

31. ZRHEEMERMETE @
(b) MEEFFIELEEENE
E M)
BHE2023F 128318 IEFE
Bank and Amounts due
other Interest to related
borrowings payable parties Lease liabilities
RIT K &1
HMEE eI & B 75 FRI8 HEaE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
12023F181H 91,108 954 5,905 24,738
MERERELH
(6,018) (4,659) - (6,036)
S (HEE14(b) - - - 3,433
FERZ (Mz6) - 4,314 - 1,071
tE R R - - - 7
MPEW BB E R TRIE
(2,496) - - -
MNEERHECHRIE
- - (1,016) -
£2023%128318

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities

(note 14(c))

Within financing activities

PSR EE A (s

RREESA

82,594

4(c))

609 4,889 23,213

(C) *ﬂ B’J iﬁ,ﬁ I l'il' o gﬁ
FARERERNBEERER

MMERUIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥F T
144 140
3,213 6,036
3,357 6,176
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32.
(a)

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

Financial guarantees to former
subsidiaries

As disclosed in the Company’s annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, the Company entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with Chengyu Vanadium Titano Technology
Ltd. ("Chengyu Vanadium Titano”) on 29 January
2019 in respect of the disposal of Huili Caitong and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Caitong Group"”) with the consideration of
RMB550,000,000. Upon the completion of the disposal
on 30 July 2019, the Caitong Group (i) has ceased to
be the subsidiaries of the Company; and (ii) has become
subsidiaries of Chengyu Vanadium Titano.

Prior to the disposal of the Caitong Group, the Company
had provided guarantee on the indebtedness of the
Caitong Group owed to certain banks and an asset
management and financial services institution in the
PRC (the "CVT Guarantees”). The indebtedness has not
been repaid and the CVT Guarantees continued as at
31 December 2024. The Company’s obligations under
the CVT Guarantees have been counter-indemnified
by Chengyu Vanadium Titano. Details about the CVT
Guarantees and the counter-indemnity are included
in notes 34(b)(i) and (ii) to the consolidated financial
statements respectively. As at 31 December 2024, the
maximum amount of the CVT Guarantees amounted to
RMB690,000,000 (2023: RMB690,000,000).

The CVT Guarantees are measured at the higher of the
ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less
the cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL
allowance is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls,
which are based on the expected payments to reimburse
certain banks and an asset management and financial
services institution for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from Caitong
Group. The amount initially recognised representing the
fair value at initial recognition of CVT Guarantees was
not significant.

32.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT
(Continued)

(a)

Financial guarantees to former
subsidiaries (Continued)

The credit exposure of CVT Guarantees is classified
as stage 1. During the year, there were no transfers
between stages (2023: Nil).

Further to the above and with reference to the
Company's announcements dated 28 March 2024,
19 June 2024, 19 August 2024, 21 August 2024
and 15 November 2024, (i) China Construction Bank
Corporation, Liangshan Branch (“CCB”) and Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Liangshan
Branch (“ICBC") had each taken legal actions against
Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining, respectively, in
relation to the indebtedness amount, respectively owed
to, by CCB and ICBC (collectively, the “Litigations”); and
Ltd, Sichuan
Branch (“Cinda”) had issued a legal demand letter to

(ii) China Cinda Asset Management Co.,

Huili Caitong in relation to the indebtedness amount
(collectively, the
“Indebtedness Claims”), on which the Company had
previously provided corporate guarantees prior to the
disposal of Caitong Group in 2019, details of which have

"Total Indebtedness Amounts” or the

been disclosed in the Company’s circulars dated 10 June
2019 and 8 June 2022. Under the CVT Guarantees, the
Company shall fulfil its corporate guarantee obligations
in relation to the Total Indebtedness Amounts.

As at the date of this report, the Huili Caitong Parties
are still in discussions with the Financial Institutions,
exploring potential options for settlement and/or debt
restructuring (the “Ongoing Discussions”).
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32.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

(Continued)

(a)

Financial guarantees to former
subsidiaries (Continued)

As such, on 11 February 2025, notwithstanding
the maximum guaranteed amounts under the CVT
Guarantees were RMB690.0 million as at 31 December
2024, the Company has entered into the 2025 Master
Guarantee Agreement with the Borrowers and Chengyu
Vanadium, pursuant to which the Company will continue
to provide the CVT Guarantees based on the maximum
guaranteed amounts estimated to be not more than
RMB930.0 million for the year ending 31 December
2027, while Chengyu Vanadium will continue to provide
the counter-indemnity in favour of the Company and the
Borrowers will continue to pay annual guarantee fees
to the Company, for a term of three years ending on 31
December 2027. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 11 February 2025 and
4 March 2025.

Having considered (i) the total assets of both Huili
Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining (including the indicative
market values of their operating assets) as at 31
December 2024; (ii) the adequacy of the transaction
contemplated under the 2022 Master Guarantee
Agreement and the 2022 Counter Indemnity (which
is to be renewed in the 2025 EGM upon the entry
into the 2025 Master Guarantee Agreement and 2025
Counter Indemnity); including the appraised value of
assets pledged in favour of the Company thereunder
according to the latest independent valuation reports,
which remained substantially higher than the maximum
guaranteed amount under the CVT Guarantees as at
31 December 2024; and (iii) other information currently
available to the Group, the Group does not expect the
above matters to have a material impact on its business
operations and financial position as at the date of the
annual report save for the additional administrative
expenses (including legal and other professional fees) as
may be incurred by the Company.
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32.

33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT
(Continued)

(b)

Financial guarantees to a joint venture

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Sichuan
Shengjiawei secured a two-year working capital loan
of RMB4.9 million at an interest rate of 7.5% per
annum from a financial institution in the PRC (the “JV
Loan”). Sichuan Lingwei and the JV partner 1, have in
accordance with their respective shareholding in Sichuan
Shengjiawei, effectively guaranteed the full repayment of
the JV Loan (including interest and related charges) when
it falls due. The JV Loan is further supported and secured
by a guarantee from a state-backed financing guarantee
company.

The principal amount of the JV Loan, as effectively
guaranteed by Sichuan Lingwei based on its shareholding
in Sichuan Shengjiawei, represents approximately 0.27%
of the Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2024.

Having considered the financial and operating status
of Sichuan Shengjiawei as at 31 December 2024, there
were no contingent liabilities and financial guarantees
being recorded in relation to the abovementioned
guarantee provided by Sichuan Lingwei as at 31
December 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:
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2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFTT
Contracted, but not provided for: B4 BREE
— Acquisition of property, plant and — N BB R B
equipment 12,226 3,062
— Capital injection into joint ventures —maEtETE 2,500 5,000
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34.

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had
the following transactions with related parties during the

year:
Notes
M 5
Revenue generated from the BT RBEIRHEEE
rendering of facility management &R R E £
services: WA - (i)
- to Yanyuan Xigang — B R 7 il
— to Xiushuihe Mining — B AKAIEZE
— to Huili Caitong — BB
Other income generated from MU T AR
providing financial guarantee: BRPTEENEM
WA (ih)
— to Xiushuihe Mining — B AKAIEZE
— to Huili Caitong — BB
Purchase of raw materials: BEEREME
— Huili Caitong —ZEPE
— Xiushuihe Mining — B IKAEZE
- Yanyuan Xigang — B R 7 il
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2024 2023
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RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT
1,737 1,964
9,984 7,427
8,490 9,349
251 250
8,398 8,375
2,886 101
354 25
32 40




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Yanyuan Xigang, Xiushuihe Mining, Huili Caitong
and the Group are ultimately controlled by the same
beneficial owners. The Group has entered into facility
management services contracts for provision of a wide
range of facility management services from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2025, with Yanyuan Xigang,
Xiushuihe Mining and Huili Caitong, respectively.

With respect of the facility management services, the
Group entered into individual separate agreement for
each project in relation to detailed service scopes and
fees with Yanyuan Xigang, Xiushuihe Mining and Huili
Caitong, respectively. The above service fees under the
facility management services contracts arrived after
arm’s length negotiation between the Group and each
of the above related parties, with reference to (i) the
scope of services required; (ii) the types and locations of
the facilities; (iii) the number of labours involved; and
(iv) cost-plus pricing model.

As mentioned in notes 32(a) and 34(b), the Group
provides financial guarantees for Caitong Group prior
to 2019 Disposal and charged a pro-rata guarantee fee
based on the maximum guaranteed amount.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 34.
(b) Other transactions with related parties
(i) Prior to the completion of the disposal of
Caitong Group, the Company provided the CVT
Guarantees in favour of the Caitong Group,

which was with the aggregate maximum
guaranteed amount RMB690,000,000 as at 31
December 2024. The principal terms of the CVT
Guarantees are set out as follows:

Borrower
A

Huili Caitong
2B

Huili Caitong
SIEH@

Xiushuihe Mining
FK AR

Huili Caitong
BIEEE

Lender and
beneficiary of
the guarantee

ERMARERZEA

China Cinda Asset
Management Co., Ltd,
Sichuan Branch
TREEEEETERDBRAR
DR E
Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch
RETERTROBRABIRL
21T
Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch
FETERTROBRAEIRW
21T
China Construction
Bank Corporation,
Liangshan Branch
FRERRIBITRMBRABIRLU
217
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(b) ERAEAHNEMRKS

0]

Guarantor

EERA

the Company
F /N

the Company
KA FE]

the Company
PN/NC|

the Company
/NS

AR HE M BEEA
KRB BEERAR
@ A E A B 8 AR AR
R2024%E12831HK
BEEEREBAARR
690,000,0007T © A7 Bl #8 £k
ERNEZEZWT -

Maximum

guaranteed
amount
REERE
RMB'000
ARHET 7T

200,000

70,000

20,000

400,000

690,000



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Other transactions with related parties

(b)

(c)

(d)

(ii)

Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Trisonic
International are ultimately controlled by the
same beneficial owners. A counter-indemnity
has been entered into between Chengyu
Vanadium Titano and the Company for the
respective period from 30 July 2019 to the date
of the release of the CVT Guarantees. Chengyu
Vanadium Titano’s inventories (mainly comprising
industrial materials) and any other assets
(mainly comprising machinery and equipment)
with the aggregate amount of approximately
RMB925,559,000 have been pledged as security
for such counter-indemnity at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB1,033,661,000).

Outstanding balances with related
parties
Details of the Group's balances with its related parties as

at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note

20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group
Details of Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments,

including compensation of key management personnel,

are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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35.

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Due from related parties

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Bills receivable

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Due to related parties
Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings
Lease liabilities

R KT BN EE

FE U AR R

StATR IR RS R H MBI

MENETREE
& WK e Bk 75 =RO0R
BEHERER
REKRREEEY

BATFEFBNAEZZFAAM
ZEWmIIEHBEE

R B

B A BN EE

FE AT BRR

HA I RRIB R St RUA

P& R B 75 =R0R
SHERITRHEMBEE

HE&RE
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REMNBTHEMIA
EESMTARRSHRYRALEN

T
EMEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥Fx ARBEFT
75,494 100,290
3,075 3,136
3,137 2,346
25 25
11,881 8,038
93,612 113,835
= 19,566
93,612 133,401
ERaE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFx AEREBFT
63,585 71,029
105,722 106,461
12,430 4,889
91,444 82,594
21,083 23,213
294,264 288,186




36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values are as explained below:

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, amounts due from related parties, trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to related parties
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The finance department led by the Group’s executive directors
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The
corporate finance team reports directly to the chief executive
officer and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the
corporate finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the financial controller. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and
bank balances, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets and amounts due from related parties, which arise
directly from its operations. Financial liabilities of the Group
mainly include financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, trade payables, amounts due to related parties and

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Risk management is carried out by the finance department
which is led by the Group's executive directors. The Group's
finance department identifies and evaluates financial risks in
close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The main
risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are liquidity

risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

The Group's financial risk management policy is to ensure that
adequate resources are available to manage the above risks
and to create value for its shareholders. The Directors regularly

review these risks and they are summarised below.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its exposure to a shortage of funds by
considering the maturity of both its financial liabilities and

financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to
maintain adequate cash flows from operations and successfully
renew its interest-bearing bank and other borrowings to meet its

debt obligations as they fall due.
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Year ended 31 December 2024

BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MBRABEEESREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#2)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TR Eh I RS (48)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end RREPER AEEcREBEEREGL
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted KREGIRTAREART T
payments, is as follows:
2024
20245
On Less than 3 3to 12 1t02 2to5 Over 5
demand months months years years years Total

BEX  DI3fER  3E12(8R 1526 2E5E BisE ait
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR AREBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETR AREBT:

Interest-bearing bank and other FREBTREMEE
borrowings - - 73,625 19,672 - - 93,297
Trade payables e 63,585 - - - - - 63,585
Other payables and accruals HiERRIBRE A 38,145 - 6,250 22,149 34,168 12,450 113,162
Lease liabilities HEaR - 301 2,889 2,397 5,376 18,932 29,895
Due to related parties Bk AE 12,430 - - - - - 12,430
114,160 301 82,764 44,218 39,544 31,382 312,369

2023
20235
On  Less than 3 3to 12 Tt02 2t05 Over 5

demand months months years years years Total
RER  LR3ER 3E128A 1525 2E5E B854 E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFRT AREFr ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:

Interest-bearing bank and other HERTREMBEE
borrowings - - 73,080 15,421 - - 88,501
Trade payables eI 71,029 - - - - - 71,029
Other payables and accruals EtEIFIBRENRE 48,469 = 6,250 21,631 20,837 18,700 115,887
Lease liabilities BE&E - 298 2,880 5,494 3,495 18,058 30,225
Due to related parties FEf KA 7B 4,889 = = = = = 4,889
124,387 298 82,210 42,546 24,332 36,758 310,531
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily
to the Group's bank deposits and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are disclosed in

note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk exposure
arising from all of its interest-bearing loans through the use of
fixed rates. In addition, the Group has not used any interest rate

swaps to hedge against interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits are held in major reputable financial
institutions located in Mainland China and Hong Kong, which
management believes are of high credit quality. The credit risk
of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise trade and
bills receivables, other receivables and amounts due from related
parties, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group has no other financial assets which carry significant

exposure to credit risk.

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

37.

HBRREEBRERER
(#)

2= B
AEEEHNHERRTERAEER
AU R BT REMESEM-
BT B ERAT R LA 65 O K R BRI
R AR ERRN 25 RS -

FEBMBEENEEEZE S BEM
FREERNREREF KRR - 1L &
EE I ENBEAARERE PR

A
oo O
2

EERE

FEBEBABONRERREFEY R
EEREREFRNFPEARESEE
R IrE2smEf -gEEHEEZRE
WEEERENEEER -AEEHEM
THREE (BREBUBIRRREE HME
W R A K FE U BR B 5 RIR) RIS B R
HRRZHEFHIRBEMEL  MAAE
HMEsRBREEFNZEIENKRES
H-AERUTEEAMENEEAOHE
RIEEER-



37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group sells most of the products to a small number of
customers. As a result, it faces a high level of concentration of
credit risk. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
a concentration of credit risk as 57% (2023: 86%) and 100%
(2023: 100%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively. The Group manages this risk by offering credit
terms ranged from one month to four months to its customers
for the sale of self-produced products and its trading customers
because market conditions remained weak. The Group
maintains strict control over its outstanding receivables and
senior management regularly reviews the overdue balances. In
addition, the Group's exposure to credit risk is also influenced
by the individual characteristics of each customer and default
risk of the industry in which customers operate. During the
year, the Group generated its revenue mainly from the sale of
iron products and the trading of steels to the steel producers
and distributors that purchase the Group’s products and resell
them to steel producers. In addition, the Group also generated
revenue from the rendering of specialised mining services and
consultancy and management service to other customers. In this
regard, the Group is exposed to the concentration of credit risk
in the steel and iron industries.

37.

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEEE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts

presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

Trade and bills receivables @  [EWER TR Z @
Financial assets included sFATERIE S EfE UK

in prepayments, other FEREMEENSR
receivables and other assets &

- Normal ® —ER®

- Doubtful ® — A 5R

Due from related parties e RARE A =8
Cash and cash equivalents  BRE&RREEEY
Pledged deposits BEHREN

37. BHHERAREEBEREE
(#)
EERME @
RERERFEER
TRETENAERGEERRNEEE
EhEsEERR TEERBRER
(FRIFEMBER P ERBIEEBZMA
FIFEHNIER TER » UKRIR12831H
NEEREDE -2 SEAETHE
EIRE4AREE -
1£20245%12H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A 784
ERE% 2HBHAEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
324 P& ER2 PR ER3 {67 % A5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
UN:LS AEBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
- - - 75,494 75,494
3,075 - - - 3,075
- - 235 - 235
3,137 - - - 3,137
11,881 - - - 11,881
25 - - - 25
18,118 - 235 75,494 93,847
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Year ended 31 December 2024

BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MBRABEEESREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) RBEERRFZEE (B)
As at 31 December 2023 2023 12831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12(8 5 88
EREBX SHBEREREER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PEEL1 P& E72 P53 bR % 4@z
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT AREBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Trade and bills receivables @ FEUAR TR B - - - 119,856 119,856
Financial assets included STABRTIE MR
in prepayments, other FEREMEEN G
receivables and other assets EE
- Normal ® —EE® 3,136 - - - 3,136
- Doubtful © — B REY - - 606 - 606

Due from related parties ek A 2,346 - - - 2,346

Cash and cash equivalents  RERREEEY 8,038 - - - 8,038

Pledged deposits BEREM 25 - - - 25

—Bs - 606 ___T198% 134007

(a) For trade and bill receivables to which the Group applies the (a) A< £ [ FE PR R B RS ML T A R FE IR
simplified approach for impairment, information based on the MEEBEME  ERNEEEENER
provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated MR E M RRWEE 19 EE
financial statements.

(b) The credit quality of the financial assets included in (b) EFABEMRIE - EMEWRZTIERE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered HEENEMEERAR B RE
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no HEREMEENEERR BB
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant RURKIBIGINE  cREENEE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, HBERBRANER) ; BAEMEEN
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be EEERBR AN -

"doubtful”.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cContinued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group's foreign currency exposures arise primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely HKD,
USD and SGD, against the functional currencies of the respective
entities within the Group.

The Group does not enter into any hedging transactions
to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
Management monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0%
change in RMB against HKD, USD and SGD, respectively. The
5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analyses of the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk at the end of each reporting period have
been determined based on the adjustment of translation of
the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of each reporting
period for a 5.0% change in RMB against HKD, USD and SGD,
respectively, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2024
(due to changes in the fair value of cash and cash equivalents
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
denominated in HKD, USD and SGD):

changes in (loss)/profit before tax AT (&518) /FIEHE S

If RMB strengthens against HKD,
USD and SGD

If RMB weakens against HKD,

USD and SGD

T E A

NI T eSS

37.

HARBRET ETkK

HMARBRBT ETK
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BYSMNIE LR o
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#7038 75 tH 395.0% S B A BUBLEE © 5.0%
BRSEIEEEARERA AR
RMBLE A BERBHINEESLS
BE R RB N HAREAREHE
9 5K 1 51 5 LR 0 BB 9 47 2 T B
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TREENATEEE) S !

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T ARETTT
(52) (31)

52 31




37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group does not consider that it has any significant exposure
to the risk of fluctuation in the exchange rates between HKD/
USD/SGD and RMB as a reasonable possible change of 5% in
RMB against HKD/USD/SGD would have no significant financial
impact on the Group's profit or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders or raise new capital from its investors.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing financial risk during the year.

The Group will minimise the capital expenditure and renew
or extend its short-term loans as part of capital management.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by total equity plus net debt. The Group's policy
is to keep the gearing ratio between 20% and 40% over the
long term. Net debt is defined as interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash
equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working capital
purposes. Equity includes equity attributable to the owners of
the Company and non-controlling interest. As at 31 December
2024, the gearing ratio was 9.9% (2023: 9.4%).

37.

oo T 5 R B
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHZE2024F 128318 IEEE

BHERREEERRER
(#)

Sh s LR ()

MR AR R BT E T/ HMIR T
BB RS % TS A EENIE
BEEANEAMBEE RALEDA
HimERE T X HMETRA
RISHEAETHH AR

BEAXERE

FEREAEENTIEZEANARERE
BEEEENENRERREFNERL
DR FEHERZREERSRREE

AEBEBEEAER I EELENK
MELHEZRB -REFTARAEESR
R AEERNEBEMRRIKMTHR
BHMAEREESENER - FRILE
HEEMBTRERNER BRIEFIF

AEBREBERVEART MEENIL
REEHEREFABAREE—E Do Ff
EEMUEESEEREZEEESLR  ZHEEXS
BB FERUERAREBNERE FE-
AEENBKABESLERBERSR
20%E40% 2B o BF FREEAESHST
BIRTREMEGEUREEASE 0K
HeERRSESEY BL A EEREE
ETHAMEENEBE - HIACERES
RARBEB AR RIFER#ED
R2024F12831H  BELLE%E9.9%
(20234 1 9.4%) ©
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Dividend receivable
Due from subsidiaries

Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to subsidiaries

Due to the related parties
Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Total equity

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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REGEEEE

RBEEFRE

BEERE
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38.

ERBHMBRRR

PSR RB MBI RBERD

T
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT
534,825 558,171
534,825 558,171
17,156 17,156
146,459 146,194
218 218
739 308
164,572 163,876
49,223 57,107
6,863 1,774
17,690 16,878
73,776 75,759
90,796 88,117
625,621 646,288
197,889 197,889
427,732 448,399
625,621 646,288
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. FARMNBRBIRAR @
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: st -
The movements of the Company's reserves are as follows: RABRENEBUWT -
Share Share
premium option  Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
RpEER RIS Rtk a3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT ARKTT AREF T
At 1 January 2023 72023FE181H 1,877,488 9,121 (1,447,923) 438,686
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 Ay & [ Ui & 42 48 - - 9,713 9,713
At 31 December 2023 and 7R2023F 128318 &
1 January 2024 2024F181H 1,877,488 9,121 (1,438,210) 448,399
Transfer of share option reserve upon K B9 B fE i BRF 85 9%
the expiry of share options R Rt (a5 - (9,121) 9,121 -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEELELE - - (20,667) (20,667)
At 31 December 2024 #2024F12831H M - M) ﬂ
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share RO EFEESRZEERHEHRITEN
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further BROBAENLATE E—PHRERS
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in MR RNE2. 48R URG BERNM
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount MG K ZAIER N HR A
will either be transferred to the share premium account when THESERERMDGER NEHEREA
the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained BERNIER TEBEERENE
profits should the related options expire.
EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING 39. HREHRESFHE
PERIOD
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial RS BRREMEBOMIEESE I
statements, since 31 December 2024 up to the date of this H2024F 1283 HEKRBEARRE 2 H
report. No significant events affecting the Group have taken bR EE R EAEEANEAREE
place.
APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 40. HELREMFBRR

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board on 27 March 2025.

BEEEN2025F3827HHLERIBRET)
Bl EREK
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Five-Year Financial Summary

TLAR W 54 2

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION MBEERBE
A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests TYHINAERBERBYRFENESE B
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the E-BEAIFERERBZ HEGEE B QMY

published audited financial statements, is set out below. KREZMFRE -
=
Results e}
For the year ended 31 December
HENAMBLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
202445 20235 20224 20214 20205
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARMETFT ARETT ARETT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FECEER
REVENUE [ON 542,490 784,951 725,869 714,760 488,135
Cost of sales HEMA (528,287) (748,417) (700,591) (690,098) (441,548)
Gross profit £7 14,203 36,534 25,278 24,662 46,587
Other income and gain HA A R W s 12,402 17,244 8,371 3,888 3,864
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEZ (2,667) (2,254) (904) (373) (4,572)
Administrative expenses THEX (19,064) (21,783) (21,592) (19,003) (30,515)
Other expenses HEfEx (9,976) (9,980) (4,198) (2,288) (3,212)
Reversal of impairment losses on FEWRTUR BB RLIEE
trade receivables, net - 2,674 4,530 4,130 1,479
Reversal/(provision) of impairment losses on E.ft FEURFR BB B &5 B & 2],/
other receivables (Bt%) 3N - ) - -
Write-down of inventories BEMR (4,691) - - - -
Impairment losses on property, plant and ~ #1% B E k& R ERHE
equipment (4,947) - - _ _
Impairment losses on intangible assets BEVEERERE (4,152) - - - -
Finance costs BERA (7,750) (8,323) (5,965) (5,393) (5,598)
Share of results of joint ventures A EtEEE 1,680 - - - -
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM FECEEBRE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (#518) /FIB (24,591) 14,112 5,518 5,623 8,033
Income tax credit/(expense) FigiiER/ B 4,502 (5,032) (4,480) (4,641) 250
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM  EEEEKER
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (§548) /%78 (20,089) 9,080 1,038 982 8,283
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRILEEER
Loss for the year from BAIKEEBENESE
discontinued operations - - - (4,107) (32,675)
Gain on disposal of HEBRIEREEBNN R
discontinued operations - - - 10,723 -
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ER (8518) /FHB (20,089) 9,080 1,038 7,598 (24,392)
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
(LOSS)/INCOME:

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
that may be reclassified to profit or loss

in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/PROFIT

FOR THE YEAR

(Loss)/Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings
per Share attributable to
ordinary equity holders
of the Company: (RMB cents)
- continuing operations
- discontinued operations

Total

Eth2E 58 K

IRERBEERNEE
BalEMEE 58/
Wi
BHEBNEBEEN

EREH

FR2E (58 FIBLeE

(B8R /FBEEBR
VNS ZUN
FiEkiED

2F (B518) /WamaE
RN
EUNGIEZZ=DN
FERER

RERAABERRRE
REANSRRNELR
B4 (58 /BA
(ARHER)
-REREES
-BRIEGEER

st

Five-Year Financial Summary

AT 5 47

For the year ended 31 December

HENLAMHLEEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 202345 20224 20214 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%ETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(5) 16 31 840 (1,770)
(20,094) 9,096 1,069 8,438 (26,162)
(20,662) 9,697 1,304 8,311 (17,054)
573 (617) (266) (713) (7,338)
(20,089) 9,080 1,038 7,598 (24,392)
(20,667) 9,713 1,335 8,989 (18,489)
573 (617) (266) (551) (7,673)
(20,094) 9,096 1,069 8,438 (26,162)
(0.92) 0.43 0.06 0.04 0.42
- - - 0.33 (1.18)
(0.92) 0.43 0.06 0.37 (0.76)
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LA B 4

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests

BEE -BERIFERER

As at 31 December

®12A318

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

20244 2023F 2022 2021 20205

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETT ARMETFT ARETT ARETFT

Non-current assets ERBEE 1,063,267 1,062,481 961,450 915,436 913,733

Current assets REEE 219,042 244,853 237,140 246,178 311,899

Non-current liabilities FRBER (145,322) (125,400) (35,453) (97,915) (25,352)

Current liabilities nEaE (216,779) (241,632) (231,931) (133,562) (284,828)

Total equity BRAE 920,208 940,302 931,206 930,137 915,452

Non-controlling interests FERER (294,587) (294,014) (294,631) (294,897) (289,201)
Equity attributable to owners of GERRAABEE ANER

the Company 625,621 646,288 636,575 635,240
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Glossary
] B

Unless otherwise specified in this annual report or the context RIFAFRESAEAAXESBFAE TAIT
otherwise requires, the following capitalised terms shall have the FEERAEEB TIIEE

following meanings:

“2019 Counter Indemnity”

F2019% K sRE A5

“2020 AGM”
M2020F REBFANE

“2022 Counter Indemnity”

F202245F K SH1E RS

a moveable asset pledge contract entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company on 30 July 2019, for the provision of counter-indemnity
by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in respect of the
Company'’s contingent liabilities and potential claims under the CVT Guarantees (if
any), and the pledge of the Chengyu Vanadium Titano's inventories (including but
not limited to structural steels, coals etc) as security for such counter indemnity
R AT R K B AR A B 1020197 B30T I NS E BB A FE > WA A B8 a0 3L
ARBAZHEAREADRARBRERTHNHNEEERETFRR WA) 2H#
OB ERE > URERANKNES (BEEFRNERERBIM IEKRE) F5
Z R MERE R HER

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting held on 16 June 2020
1220206 B16 A RITHREBF RS

the counter indemnity agreement entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company on 16 May 2022 for the provision of counter-indemnity
by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in respect of the
Company’'s contingent liabilities and potential claims covered under the 2022
Master Guarantee Agreement (if any), and the pledge of Chengyu Vanadium
Titano's inventories (comprising structural steels and iron ores, or any other assets
approved by the Company) as security for such counter-indemnity
R AT 3K B A A B 220225 B 16 BT L MY R SRE R 58 1 3 > B A B AR AL 35
MERBARHEAREARENR2022FEFEFHZE PHENNEEERETHER
(B REREERSE UERBANKNTFES (BERERMM R EEA S
RABHENEREMEE) (FAZRBERZER

2024 F8&R | PENKHEAIBEFRAF

249



250
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)

“2022 EGM”

M2022F REBAFRI RS &

“2022 Framework Agreements”

F2022FEZ % 15

“2022 Master Guarantee

Agreement”
F20226F R 15
“2023 EGM”
M2023F R RFRIKAE 5

“2023 Framework Agreements”

F2023FEZR 15
“2025 AGM”
M2025FEREBHEFEKRG) 15

the extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 29 June 2022 to approve
the 2022 Master Guarantee Agreement (together with the Existing Guarantee
Annual Cap(s)) and the transactions contemplated thereunder
RABNN202256 8298 it /E2022F TR RGBS CERRBREFE LR ik
IEEETHNR S MBTHRRFINARS

collectively, the facility management services framework agreements entered into
between (i) Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Sichuan Lingwei; and (ii) Yanyuan
Xigang and Sichuan Lingwei, on 21 March 2022, respectively, in relation to the
provision of facility management services by Sichuan Lingwei to the other parties.
Please refer to Company's announcement dated 21 March 2022 for further details
MBS () EIBRIE - FACHIEZE R M) 1DZE R 5 B (i) B IR 78 3 K 19 ) 11)% &
DRIFEERER A E M AR ER SRR M 202243821 H5] U MERHE
EBRBERDZ - E—THBEA2HEARATHER2022F38218MRE

the master guarantee agreement entered into between the Company, Huili
Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Chengyu Vanadium Titano on 16 May 2022 under
which the Company agreed to continue to provide the CVT Guarantees on certain
conditions

KNE) S BIRRE ~ FACHIEZE R AR R 307020225 8 16 H 5T LM F (R ik
BIL > XA B A B SRS TR REPRIESKER

the Shareholders’ extraordinary meeting held on 31 January 2023
122023 F 1 A3 1B ETHR R RS

collectively, the facility management services framework agreements entered into
between (i) Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Sichuan Lingwei; and (ii) Yanyuan
Xigang and Sichuan Lingwei, on 13 December 2022, respectively, in relation to
the provision of facility management services by Sichuan Lingwei to the other
parties. Please refer to Company's announcement dated 13 December 2022 and
circular dated 10 January 2023 for further details

T mERGE (V2R R FACHIEE R )R ; K (i) B8R 7580 82 71 ) 1 & &Y
SRR )R m E A S R RS EARFS M 2022128 13H 5] L MR 1A
BEERBERGZ -E—PFBEF2HALTHAR2022F128 1302 E& K
HEI#2023F 18100 ER

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting to be held on 26 May 2025
R2025F5 826 B BITHRRBERE

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



“2025 Counter Indemnity”

F2025% 5B 1E RE

“2025 Master Guarantee
Agreement”

F2025%F TR

“2025 EGM”

F2025F IREBAFRI A

“Aba Mining”

iopeci N

“Akuang Trading”

P = & 5

"Articles”

THREA

"Board”
EEgE)

"Borrowers"

MZEEMA

Glossary
)

the counter-indemnity agreement entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
and the Company on 11 February 2025 for the provision of counter-indemnity
by Chengyu Vanadium in favour of the Company in respect of the Company’s
contingent liabilities and potential claims covered under the 2025 Master
Guarantee Agreement (if any), and the pledge of inventories (mainly comprising
industrial materials) and any other assets (mainly comprising machinery and
equipment) as approved by the Company as security for such counter-indemnity
R A1 R K B A A Bl 220252 B 11 BT LY RSB (R 38 1 % > B A B A AT A 35
UARBDR/ZmARERBN2025F T HFRHZE THENNEEEREBEEFRR
B BRHRBERS  UREREFES (FEQEITEME) RAQASHENF
P EMEE (T ETIERBREZE) FRZRMERSENER

the renewed master guarantee agreement entered into between the Company,
the Borrowers and Chengyu Vanadium on 11 February 2025 (after trading
hours), pursuant to which the Company agreed to continue to provide the CVT
Guarantees on certain conditions
BATZEERARBANKN2025F28118 (RZEER) 5] UNKEE
BRGE B AR B R R EERE TR R R ESRER

the extraordinary general meeting of the Company, to be convened to consider
and, if thought fit, approve the 2025 Master Guarantee Agreement (together
with the Revised Guarantee Annual Cap(s)) and the transactions contemplated
thereunder

ARBRBHIVREFI ARG BUZBREBEHE2025F T RGH ERK
BT RREE LR RBILRETHNRS

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 27
February 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FHEEEBRAS > —ER2004F2827HERBERINEREERE AEA
BNEEE2EFAE

Huili Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 13 June 2012 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BEMEEZARRE —ER2012F6 8 13BTERBEMIINEREERE] &
KABHNEEEBEFRE

the articles of association of the Company, adopted on 4 September 2009 and as
amended from time to time

RABR2009F 98 4H AL AL R BTN A B =241 A

the board of Directors of the Company

KABDEFRE

Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining
EEMERBKIESE
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“Caitong Group”

MyrmEm)

"CCB”
M7

"CCB-Caitong Indebtedness
Amount”

T —MEaEmEER

"CG Code”

“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”

ME AT 8

"Chuan Wei"
)1 ER )
"Cinda”
ME3E)

“Cinda-Caitong Indebtedness
Amount”

refers to Huili Caitong and its subsidiaries, namely Xiushuihe Mining and
Panzhihua Yixingda Industrial Trading Co., Ltd.*, which engage in sale of self-
produced low-grade iron concentrates within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe
and have been disposed of by the Group on 30 July 2019
FR2019F7A30HBAEELENFIEN BREFTAD (BNFH K AHEEKRBZIE
SEETERREANE) " KEHETFeB =N F53%E55%H B ERRMUERE
IERY 2

China Construction Bank Corporation, Liangshan Branch*

PREERRTROBRATRLUIT

among others, principal indebtedness of RMB276.9 million, accumulated interest
thereof and other applicable charges and costs involved up to the actual date of
settlement as may be adjudicated by the court(s), owing by a former subsidiary
H—RERFASGERN (HPREHE EREE ARE276.988 T - HRF] BN
FAERAEATEEERBEERA LI RNEMBRERRHRA

refers to the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules that is applicable to the Corporate Governance Report for the Reporting
Period, unless otherwise specified

THRAINSCIPMEBEAN RS AN CEE ARENEEE AT ESHIE
BRE BRI

Chengyu Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd.*, formerly known as Weiyuan Steel
Co., Ltd.*, a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC on 3 April
2001 and a connected person of the Company
ORI AR AR (RIBREHBE RA

TR EERLRE L AR ABNBAEALT

3) » — R 2001F483H0 £ R E AL

Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 March 1998 and a connected person of the Company
mINE)NEERBRAE > —BIR1998F3A29BEHFEMIINBREERE
RANBINEEEAL

China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd, Sichuan Branch*
FEEEEEEERNEBERATMIEDRF

the principal indebtedness of RMB141.0 million and accumulated interest thereof
owing by Huili Caitong under loan facilities originally extended by CMB on which
the Company had previously provided a corporate guarantee in September 2014,
prior to the assignment of such indebtedness by CMB to Cinda in 2017 and prior
to the 2019 Disposal
SEMBERBRCHBEBTRENEIMEMEINER LT ARE141.08
BrkHERFE ﬁﬁAzowﬁ?’“mefﬂ% %é‘? MEETEEA > UKR5t2019
FHESIER  AABER2014598 ZEERREABIER
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“close associates”

MEMBE A

"CMB”
HR®ERITI

7 " u "

“Company”, “our”, or “we

NSRS

“Companies Act”

/N1 D

“connected person(s)”
MRAZE A L]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

MERRARER

"CVT Guarantees”

Feh [ 88 SR HE 1R

"

"Director(s)

&%)

“DNRSP”
M) 1E R

“Exploration Results”

MEhEER

Glossary
)

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B EHRAME TR

China Merchant Bank Co., Ltd, Chengdu Branch*
FEBERITRMABRRB LI DT

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008

RESN A ERES R AT — BN 2008F48 288 EMEHBEFMMIINE R
NS

the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands

FHESHEEEENEREE (19615 A3 RERERIESD)

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

A EHRAIPE TR E

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and refers to Trisonic
International, Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang Jin, Shi Yinjun, Yang Xianlu, Wu
Wendong, Zhang Yuangui and Li Hesheng

B EHRBIPE FaRE > WHESAIBIE ~ Kingston Grand~ E¥5 4~ RIEA L
FBEBREE - RXRAEE - REERERTNBRE

guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Caitong Group guaranteeing,
inter alia, the indebtedness owing by any company(ies) in the Caitong Group to
certain banks and an asset management and financial services institution in the
PRC with original maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million, and as at
31 December 2024, RMB690.0 million

ARBUMBERAZEm AFHMNER ER (EPEE WEEERNEAADE
RAEEFRTUR—BEEEERESMRBHEBNEGS RRSERERSAR
#730.08 87T 112024F 12831 BRI B AR690.088 T

director(s) of the Company or any one of them

KABERN—RHABZRESR

Department of Natural Resources of Sichuan Province*
miE BAEIRE

exploration results include data and information generated by mineral exploration
programmes that might be of use to investors but which do not form part of a
declaration of mineral resources or ore reserves

BEEROEMRTFREEN - IHEEEFERET FABEE RENBEGH
BEARSBONBEMNER
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“Financial Institutions”

MRS

“FY2023"
M2023 BEE |

“FY2024"
F2024B8F U |

"Group”
TAEE[E

“High-Fe Mining Operations”
IS (i 08 35 75

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
M BRI P

“Huili Caitong”

MEIBRE)

“Huili Caitong Parties”
MGIEYNBEEH

“ICBC"
FTriRTT]

"|CBC-Caitong Indebtedness
Amount”

THERT-MEEREE)

CCB, ICBC and Cinda, in favour of which the Company entered into the CVT
Guarantees with an original maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million
(the maximum amount guaranteed under the CVT Guarantees as at 31 December
2024 was RMB690.0 million) as security in relation to credit facilities granted to
Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining, respectively

BIT-IHEBRTREE ARABUZFRTEREERSZ A AT UL REIEHSKER
EREEREAARK730.08E T (1R2024F12A31HHEEHERN RS IE
REAARECI.0BED) FARMETERMBRFICIBENEERBEN
iR

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2023, as applicable

HZE2023F 12831 HIEHREE K&,/ H2023E128318 W#EA)

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2024, as applicable
BE2024F 12831 BIEMBEE R Hit20245F128318 (NERA)

the Company and its subsidiaries
KARREFAT

operations of the sale of self-produced high-grade iron concentrates within the
range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe
HETFeB BN F65%E72% M B E S m i EIFERENER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBHMERZAERAE

Huili Caitong Iron and Titanium Co., Ltd.*, established in the PRC on 7 July 1998
and has been a foreign equity joint venture in the PRC since 29 December 2010,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company till 30 July 2019
BETMBARARETRE 11998 F7B7HAHREMIL > H20108E12529H
ERATENIIEEERELE EE2019F783308ALARRBNEEEE
FAE

Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and/or Chengyu Vanadium Titano, as applicable
FIBHEBACTBEER, SRR GRBRBERME)

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Liangshan Branch*
E T ERITRMBRABRUDTT

among others, principal indebtedness of RMB69.7 million, accumulated interest
thereof and other applicable charges and costs involved up to the actual date of
settlement as may be adjudicated by the court(s), owing by a former subsidiary
A—RERFRAEG&XN (HPREHE ERAE ARK.7TBE T -HRFAF B UK
FIROIAEH EEEBREEH A LS RNEMBAE B REAE
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"ICBC-Xiushuihe Indebtedness
Amount”

ITERIT—FB A ERZE 5

“IFRS”
TR PR B 75 3R 25 22 81 5

“Indebtedness Claims” or “Total
Indebtedness Amounts”

BRI EREEREE) 18
“Indicated”

Ty Eic
“Inferred”

- 15

Glossary
)

among others, principal indebtedness of RMB19.0 million, accumulated interest
thereof and other applicable charges and costs involved up to the actual date of
settlement as may be adjudicated by the court(s), owing by a former subsidiary
H—ERFREGERN HPEE EREAEARKEI10.088 T - HEHF B UK
PR EEEERFERR LI RNEMBERER KR

International Financial Reporting Standards, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee
that remain in effect

B BREEN GFNALENEBRR G ERIEESHENEA KEE U
RHEERESHENEZE g ENBRSH ENRETEEZEaRE

collectively the CCB-Caitong Indebtedness Amount, the ICBC-Caitong
Indebtedness Amount, the ICBC-Xiushuihe Indebtedness Amount and the Cinda-
Caitong Indebtedness Amount

BT UBERSE ITERT-VEEREHE THEBET-HKIERTERK
BE-MBERSENRE

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape
and physical characteristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to allow the
application of modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning and
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERTERANE R (NEE) BE-FRAKERFUHOEERMGSHE
Do UBEREREFBENEIIRER SHESNEERE RETERSET
4 A

part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade (or quality) are estimated
on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence
is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and grade (or quality) continuity.
It is based on exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through
appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes

BEERFEHAMNERRL (RES) JRESRENMEZBRNRREENE
Dot BB ELURR (BIFZRE) thE kMl (RES) NEEM -ZHERRE
TETEE R BIT BB B KBTS 3L DUE B R T I E BV RN £R ~ SRR R R =
ERMEE
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“JORC Code (2012 Edition)”

e REEZE TR
(20124 RR) 4

"Kingston Grand”

l'Kingston Grand J

“Listing Rules”
M EmFRA

“Maoling Processing Plant”

[ 25 28 70 358

“Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine”

ME5—F R EE

“"Measured”

TEREA)

“Model Code”

MEESPA

“Net Loss” or “Net Profit”
MEs38 388 o M4n )

¥

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999, 2004 and 2012, that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting

HBEAFMADRASE VENERRIGE RRAMNBYEZE FAAMNE S PIH
HEEZEEN1989F MR E > W 19924 ~ 1996%F ~ 19994 ~ 2004F K 201251857
REMPNREAFADRENESER BEERERTRFENRE R 5
MARERT S NRERE - EE RS

Kingston Grand Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
on 20 February 2007, holder of 40% of the issued share capital of Trisonic
International

Kingston Grand Limited > —RI/A2007F2B20HERBRE LB SFMMR IR
B A S RIER40% N E FITR A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

ERBMPAES EHRA

the ore processing plant located near the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and
operated by Aba Mining
U EE—FRISENRIINIEARER B REELE

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, with a mining
area of 2.7366 sq.km as operated by Aba Mining and integrated under the mining
licence issued by the DNRSP on 6 May 2023

— BRI BR AV B B EL 8 0% > BRI E 1S 42.7366F H A2 > A HIEEL
B WiREEEE)IBIRER2023F5 56 H #HHN MBI BES

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape,
and physical characteristics are estimated with confidence sufficient to allow
the application of modifying factors to support detailed mine planning and final
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERTERAMNE R (XEE) BE-FRAEREBERSUHHOEERGENE
Do UBEREBIIRR FESNARBRRIRETERRRKEITHT
&

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
L HRAIMSRCIPTEN L BT AERETRE S B NEETA

total comprehensive (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company

BERALASHEEANEZE B1R) /7 HR%E
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“Relevant Substantial Shareholders”

AR EZR®R

"Reporting Period”

TR &5

“SFO”

(B 5 R EREEA

"SGX-ST”
T 32 Ffr )

“Share(s)”

2wl

“Shareholder(s)”
TR% R

“Shigou Gypsum Mine”

TEEREE

“Sichuan Haoyuan”

RSy

“Sichuan Lingwei”

T2 L

“Sichuan Lingyu”

o) 112

Glossary
)

Mr. Wang Jin, Mr. Shi Yinjun, Mr. Zhang Yuangui, Mr. Li Hesheng and Mr. Wu
Wendong, are parties acting in concert and some of the substantial Shareholders
EHHRE-RIRBLRE RESKE - FHUBAERRXELLE B—RTHHA
TREDEERE

the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12B31HIEEE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEBIBSNERFRPAERA EEREHEST B mal U E M B

Singapore Exchange and Securities Trading Limited

MIMRBHZZMERAE

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
HKDO.1 each
RABRARNE B SREE0.1BTT

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHFEEA

Shigou gypsum mine located at Hanyuan County, Ya'an City, Sichuan Province,
with a mining area of 0.1228 sqg.km.
UrmEaELmERENGEAER KEEER0.1228F/F R E

Sichuan Haoyuan New Materials Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 18 July 2011 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

M) EEEMMEERAE —BR201M1E7B1SAEFERIIMNERSEETA
B BARRBNFAB BRRBEZEEES %R AE R

Sichuan Lingwei Property Service Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 7 July 2021 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

mINEERNERBERAS] —BR2021F7A7HEFEMINEREEA
8 AR AENEEEEFAT

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 June 2010 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

MINEEHEEEBRBRAT > —ER2010F6A9HEFEMIINBREEA
8 AR AENEEEEFAT
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“Sichuan Shengjiawei”
o)1) 2% {E B
“Sichuan Yufengwei”
)= S &

"SSE"

FEZ2FR)

"SZSE"
TERZZFR )

“Trisonic International”
T B ERR
“Type 331"
M&48331
“Type 333"
M&48333
“Weixi Guangfa”
T4 75 B 3%

“Xinjin Mining”

TETiEE)

“Xiushuihe Mining”

I35 7k Al A 2 |

Sichuan Shengjiawei Property Service Co., Ltd.*, a joint venture established in the
PRC on 15 December 2023, in which the Company indirectly owns 50% equity
interest

MmINEREBDERBARRE ) —ER2023F 128158 EFRBEIBAINEGE D
¥ HAREMBEERS0%RAE ST

Sichuan Yufengwei Property Service Co., Ltd.*, a joint venture established in the
PRC on 19 December 2023, in which the Company indirectly owns 50% equity
interest
MINEFSENERBERRT ) —ER2023F 128198 TR LN G E D
X > BARBEEEES0% R A# D

Shanghai Stock Exchange
LBEERSM

Shenzhen Stock Exchange
wINEE S Z P

Trisonic International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 19 July
2006 and a Controlling Shareholder
SRIERERAT > —BR2006F7B 198 EETBFMMINAE > AERKR

measured intrinsic economic resources (Type 331) as defined in the Classification
for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(BREEER HEDH) MRENRBNNESEERE (E1H331)

inferred intrinsic economic resources (Type 333) as defined in the Classification for
Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(BREEERHEDE) MRENBENNESEERE (E1H333)

Weixi Guangfa Iron Ore Development Company Limited*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 10 June 2005
HTESEEREARAR  —ER2005F6 8 10HEFEMIINERSEAT

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 29 September 2010 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

ERGESEEARAT > —ER2010F9829HEFEAR LN BEREETRE
RARNBINFRE AARRAFBEREAS %R ER

Huili Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 26 June 2007, an indirect subsidiary of the Company which owned
95.0% equity interest through Huili Caitong till 30 July 2019
BREEKAEEARART > —ER2007F6A26HEFEAMKR LN BEREETRE
HE201967A30HALERARRABEBEIEMBHERS.0%RAEZNEZEF A
a
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“Yanyuan Xigang”
MEE R Fa 15
“Yanyuan Xiwei"

e RPa B 5

Glossary
)

Yanyuan Xigang Clean Coal Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in
the PRC
HRAIBIESREEAR —EARRBERINEREETRA

Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining Company Limited*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 7 December 2007
HRRAREERRET AR —BR2007E12B7HEFTERILINERSER
|

ABBREVIATIONS, PLACES, CURRENCIES, UNITS AND OTHERS

Rt thRh - W B R HAth

“Anhydrite”

MRk EE] Eic
"BVI"

=Yy akeg = 3=1 18

“China”, "Mainland China” or
“PRC”

TR 5% T AR B P 3t 5
“Fa"

lFe 15
“gypsum”

55 5
"HKD"

=5 15
“Hong Kong”

&%) 5
“m.”

/NN 18
Kt

Mg | 5
"Ktpa”

Fma, &) 18
"Mt

==y 5

an anhydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSO4
— B KR L B IR 158202 CaS0s

the British Virgin Islands

HERLES

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

PEARKAE RAERME FOESH PERFISHTHERAS

chemical symbol of iron element

BT RRCERT R

a soft hydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSO4 ¢ 2H.0
—EME ZKREEEEY) 58 5CaS0s © 2H:0

the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEREEEE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEBFHTHE

kilometre(s), a metric unit measure of distance
NE EEBERNTEFIEMQ

thousand tonnes

Bl

thousand tonnes per annum

SETMH

million tonnes

BEM
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“N/A"
Nl

“N/M”

B
o
o

“RMB”
TAR)

“SGD"
T N3z 70

“sg.km.”
MERAR)

“TEe"
[TFe

“usb”
=S

“w.e.f.”

M B

*  For identification purpose only

not applicable
TE M

not meaningful. Used to indicate that the current and prior period figures are not
comparable, not meaningful, or if the percentage change exceeds 1,000%
EER AURTAABRETHREAHEFAILLE®RRK

1,000%

the lawful currency of the PRC
FEVEES T

the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore
ronm EMEEE G

square kilometres

FHAE

the symbol for denoting total iron

RTNEHBIFT R

the lawful currency of the United States of America
FHREREEEEST

with effect from
£ HE

* {EHHER)
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